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The Offering in brief 

The Offering:
The Offering comprises a public offer in Sweden and an
offer to certain institutional investors outside Sweden of
Ordinary Shares in Unibet Group Plc, a company incorpo-
rated in England and Wales. The Ordinary Shares are
being offered in the form of Swedish Depositary Receipts
(“SDRs”) by way of an offer to subscribe for 703,700 new
Ordinary Shares issued by the Company and an Offer to
purchase up to an aggregate of 180,000 existing Ordinary
Shares being sold by the Selling Shareholders.

Ordinary Shares:
Ordinary shares of 0.02 British pounds sterling (“GBP”)
each in the capital of Unibet Group Plc.

SDRs:
The Offering and Listing will comprise solely of Swedish
Depositary Receipts, with each SDR representing the
right to receive one Ordinary Share.

Offering Price:
135 Swedish Kronor per SDR

Minimum subscription:
100 SDRs

Application period:
11 – 25 May 2004

Payment:
In cash, at the latest by 2 June 2004 

Listing:
SDRs in Unibet Group Plc will be listed on the O-list of
Stockholmsbörsen. The first day of trading is expected to
be around 8 June 2004. 

Prior to the listing on the O-list, there has been no public
market for the Ordinary Shares or the SDRs.

ISIN code:
SE 0001 192485

Trading symbol on Stockholmsbörsen:
UNIB

Applications should be
submitted to:

Hagströmer & Qviberg Fondkommission AB
New Issues/Unibet
SE-103 71 Stockholm
Sweden

Forthcoming reports:

Interim Report 1 January – 30 June 2004
20 August 2004

Interim Report 1 January – 30 September 2004
2 November 2004

Year End Report 2004
16 February 2005

This document and application form can be
obtained from:

Hagströmer & Qviberg Fondkommission AB
Norrlandsgatan 15 D
SE-103 71 Stockholm
Sweden
www.hagqvi.com

Unibet Group Plc
5th Floor
165 The Broadway
Wimbledon, London SW19 1NE
United Kingdom
Phone from Sweden: 0200-26 10 00

from overseas: +356 2343 16 10
www.unibet.com/prospectus 



IMPORTANT NOTICE

This document does not constitute an invitation to subscribe for
or an offer to sell Ordinary Shares or SDRs to any person in any
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer.

The distribution of this document and the Offering of the
SDRs may, in certain jurisdictions, be restricted by law. No action
has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Company, the
Selling Shareholders or by H&Q that would permit a public
offering of the Ordinary Shares or SDRs, or possession or
distribution of a prospectus or offering memorandum, in any
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than
in Sweden. The Company, the Selling Shareholders and H&Q
require persons into whose possession this document comes to
inform themselves of and observe all such restrictions. Neither
the Company, the Selling Shareholders nor H&Q accepts any
legal responsibility for any violation by any person, whether or not
a prospective purchaser of Ordinary Shares or SDRs, of any such
restrictions.

The SDRs have not been and will not be registered under the
US Securities Act of 1933 and, subject to certain exceptions,
may not be offered or sold within the United States.

This document is only directed at persons who: (i) are
outside the UK; (ii) have professional experience in matters relat-
ing to investments which fall within Article 19(1) of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order
2001 (the “Order”); or (iii) are high net worth entities falling within
Article 49(1) of the Order (all such persons together being
referred to as “Relevant Persons”). This document must not be
acted on or relied on by persons who are not Relevant Persons.
Any investment or investment activity to which this communica-
tion relates is available only to Relevant Persons and will be
engaged in only with Relevant Persons. 

Investing in the SDRs involves risks. See the section
entitled “Risk Factors” for a description of certain risks relating
to an investment in the Company.

This document and the Offering are governed by Swedish
law. Disputes or legal proceedings arising from or occurring in
connection with the Offering shall be resolved by a Swedish
court. 

The Swedish version of this document has been approved by
and registered as a prospectus with the Swedish Financial
Supervisory Authority pursuant to Chapter 2, section 4 of the
Financial Instruments Trading Act (1991:980). However, this does
not imply any guarantee by the Swedish Financial Supervisory
Authority that the factual information in this document is correct
or complete.

This document is a translation of the Swedish original. In the
event of any discrepancy between the original Swedish
document and the English translation, the Swedish original shall
prevail.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document includes various forward-looking statements and
includes assumptions about future market conditions, operations
and results. These include statements regarding the Group’s
intentions, beliefs or current expectations. The words “believe”,
“expect”, “anticipate”, “intend” or “plan” and similar expressions
identify certain of such forward-looking statements. Others can

be identified from the context in which the statements are made.
Actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks
and uncertainties that the Group faces.

The Group cautions you that any such forward-looking state-
ments are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks
and uncertainties. The Group also cautions you that actual results
may differ materially from those made in or suggested by the
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. The
information contained in this document, including, without limita-
tion, the information under “Risk factors”, “Business of Unibet”,
“Regulatory environment” and “Comments on the financial
development” identifies important factors that could cause such
differences. The Group undertakes no obligation publicly to
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise.

MARKET SHARE AND INDUSTRY DATA

This document contains historical market data and industry
forecasts, which have been obtained from industry publications,
market research and publicly available information. The industry
publications state that the historical information they provide has
been obtained from sources, and through methods, believed to
be reliable, but that they do not guarantee the accuracy and
completeness of this information. Similarly, industry forecasts and
market research, while believed to be reliable, have not been
independently verified by Unibet. Neither the Group, the Selling
Shareholders nor H&Q represents that this historical information
is accurate. Industry forecasts are, by their nature, subject to sig-
nificant uncertainty. There can be no assurance that any of the
forecasts will be achieved.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND CURRENCY
INFORMATION

The Company presents its financial statements in GBP.
For convenience only, amounts used in the this document

that are derived from other currencies than GBP have been
translated into GBP at the currency cross rates announced by
Bloomberg Lp. on 31 December 2003.

GBP 1,00 = Swedish Kronor (“SEK”) 12,87 = Euros (“EUR”)
1,42 = United States Dollars (“USD”) 1,78 = Norwegian Kronor
(“NOK”) 11,92 = Danish Kroner (“DKK”) 10,58

PRESENTATION OF SHARE CAPITAL AND RELATED DATA

The issued share capital of the Company at the date of this
document is GBP 111,181.96 consisting of 11,118,196 ordinary
shares of GBP 0.01 each. However, at the time of Listing, the
Company will effect a consolidation of its share capital under
which every two ordinary shares of GBP 0.01 each will be con-
solidated into one ordinary share with a nominal value of GBP
0.02 each.

Other than in the Company's statutory accounts or unless
otherwise stated, in order to aid presentation, all numbers of
ordinary shares, share options and related data such as earnings
per share in this document are stated as if the consolidation of
share capital has already taken place and the nominal value of an
ordinary share in the Company has always been GBP 0.02.
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
Certain definitions

Unless otherwise noted in the text, the following terms
used in this document have the meanings set out below.
Defined terms are indicated by the use of upper case
letters at the start of each word.

“Board” or “Board of Directors” or “Directors”
The board of directors of the Company;

“Company” or “Unibet Group Plc” or “we”
Unibet Group Plc, a company incorporated in England and
Wales with registered number 04049409;

“Custodian Bank”
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), in its capacity
as issuer of the SDRs;

“Group” or “Unibet”
The Company together with its subsidiaries and associ-
ated companies;

“H&Q”
Hagströmer & Qviberg Fondkommission AB, the financial
adviser to the Company and manager of the Offering;

“Listing”
The proposed listing of all of the SDRs in issue on the
O-list of Stockholmsbörsen;

“New Shares”
The up to 703,700 new Ordinary Shares to be offered for
subscription by the Company in the form of SDRs in the
Offering;

“Offer Shares”
The New Shares and the Sale Shares;

“Offering”
The Offering of the New Shares for subscription by the
Company and of the Sale Shares for sale by the Selling
Shareholders, each in the form of SDRs and on the terms
set out in this document;

“Offering Price”
SEK 135 per SDR;

“Ordinary Shares”
The ordinary shares in the capital of the Company which
will have, at Listing, a nominal value of 0.02 GBP each;

“Placing Agreement”
The placing agreement dated 5 May 2004 between the
Company, the Selling Shareholders and H&Q;

“Principal Shareholders”
The Selling Shareholders as well as Staffan Persson
directly and through companies;

“Sale Shares”
The up to 180,000 existing Ordinary Shares to be sold by
the Selling Shareholders in the form of SDRs in the
Offering;

“SDRs” or “Swedish Depository Receipts”
Swedish Depository Receipts issued by the Custodian
Bank, each of which represents the right to one Ordinary
Share and which are governed by and confer the rights
set out in the “General Terms and Conditions for Swedish
Depository Receipts in Unibet Group plc” attached as the
Appendix to this document; 

“SEB”
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), the Custodian
Bank;

“Selling Shareholders”
Anders Ström, Peter Lindell directly and through compa-
nies, Living Capital Ltd and Quesada AB each of whom
has agreed to sell Sale Shares in the Offering.

“Settlement Day”
The last day for payment under the Offering.

“Stockholmsbörsen”
Stockholmsbörsen AB; and 

“VPC”
The electronic account-based securities system operated
by VPC AB.
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Glossary

3G
Third Generation Mobile Telecommunications.
A new generation of wireless systems which provides
high-speed data transmission (144 kbps and higher) and
Internet Protocol (IP) based services in fixed, portable,
and mobile environments.

Bookmaking
The business of accepting bets, e.g. on horseraces, and
paying out winnings to winning betters.

CRM
Customer Relationship Management
A business strategy for dealing with customers. A CRM
system for customer care involves the use of computer
programs, techonology and the internet in order to collect
and use information about existing and future customers.

DDoS, Distributed Denial of Service
Distributed denial of service attacks either try to overload
or to monopolize a resource. If they succeed, the system
no longer works properly or even starves completely.

De Facto Monopoly
A market dominated by one or a limited number of state
regulated operators, where access to that market is
dependent on a licence being granted by the regulator.

Digital TV
A broadcast using digital code which supports interactive
locations.

EBITDA
Profit/loss from operations before amortization and
depreciation of tangible and intangible assets.

ECJ
European Court of Justice.

E-commerce
The conduct of commerce and financial transactions by
electronic means. A way of doing real-time business
transactions via telecommunications networks, when the
customer and the operator are in different geographical
places.

Games of Chance
A game in which the outcome is entirely dependent on
chance and not on any skill of the player.

Games of Skill
A game in which the player’s knowledge and skill may
increase his chances of predicting the outcome.

Java
Java technology is a portfolio of products that are based
on the power of networks and the idea that the same soft-
ware should run on many different kinds of systems and
devices. It is both a programming language and a selec-
tion of specialized platforms. As such, it standardizes the
development and deployment of the kind of secure,
portable, reliable, and scalable applications required by
the networked economy of the internet.

Sports League
A group of sports teams that regularly play against one
another.

Odds Compiler
An individual who calculate the outcome and sets the
odds for sports events.

Rolling Reserve (alternatively hold back)
A portion of the revenue from a merchant's credit card
transactions, held in reserve by the merchant account
provider to cover possible disputed charges, chargeback
fees, and other expenses.

Sports Book
Bets accepted on sporting and other events.
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GAMBLING TERMINOLOGY AND THE CONCEPT OF BETTING

GAMBLING TERMINOLOGY
There are a number of terms used within the gambling
industry that are different to those terms commonly used
when describing other industries. Even within the gam-
bling industry, terms may vary depending on which sector

of the industry is being described, for example, a land
based casino operator might use different terminology
from a lottery operator.

Unibet uses the following key terms to describe its
business.

GAMBLING TERMINOLOGY AND

THE CONCEPT OF BETTING

Term Definition

Turnover Total amount risked by customer ( i.e. gambled, staked or bet by customers) and commission from
payment solutions and winnings from bets placed with other bookmakers.

Turnover includes “recycling”, which refers to amounts that are staked on more than one occasion, for
example a customer’s winnings on race A that he or she then goes on to place on race B. 

Turnover provides a true reflection of the amounts actually risked by customers on events which take
place within the time period referred to. 

For the casino services, turnover equals the difference between i) the amounts transferred to the
casino, “chips” bought, and ii) the total of the amounts transferred out, “chips” cashed in, less iii) the
amounts left in the casino. This is referred to as the “drop” according to industry standard. 

Although some regulators do record the total value of the turnover from casino products and slot
machines in their jurisdiction, many do not and, in the case of off-line casino products, it would be dif-
ficult to keep a track of exactly how many chips are won and lost on every turn of the roulette wheel
or turn of a card, etc.

LESS Cost of Sales Total amount paid out to customers plus payment related costs such as bank/credit card fees and
stakes related to betting placed with other bookmakers.

Please note that in the formal profit and loss accounts Cost of Sales includes Betting Duties but
in calculating Gross Winnings it does not.

EQUALS Gross Winnings Gross Winnings can be defined as the Turnover less Cost of Sales.

For casino products, Gross Winnings represent Turnover less commissions and transaction costs paid
to external partner

Gross Winnings provide a representation of customers’ losses and therefore is a key indicator of the
Group’s performance. 

Although Gross Winnings is not a line item in the formal profit and loss accounts, Unibet consider it
to be the most important measure of the business.

LESS Betting Duties Duties paid to relevant authorities that give a licence.

EQUALS Gross Profit Turnover less Cost of Sales and less Betting Duties.

Gross Profit provides a reflection of what gambling companies receive as net income, from which both
their fixed and semi-variable-operating costs must be met. Industry analyst GBGC believes that Gross
Profit is the gambling industry’s equivalent of the “contribution” in a typical business.



7

GAMBLING TERMINOLOGY AND THE CONCEPT OF BETTING

THE CONCEPT OF BETTING
When tossing a coin, the chance for heads is 50 per cent.
and for tails is 50 per cent. i.e. the total probability is 100
per cent. The odds are calculated as 1/probability, in this
example 1/50 per cent. = 2.00. 

To make money from arranging bets on a coin toss,
the betting operator has to offer odds less than 2.00.

If the operator has set a Gross Winnings margin target
of 10 per cent. on Turnover, the odds to offer to the cus-
tomers are 1.80 on each outcome (0.9 x 2.00). 

Outcome Probability Odds no margin Odds 10% margin Odds 20% margin

Tails 50% 2.00 1.80 1.60

Heads 50% 2.00 1.80 1.60

Customer A bets 100 on Tails

Customer B bets 100 on Heads

The outcome of the toss is Tails

Odds 2.00 1.80 1.60

Customers A wins 200 180 160

Customer B wins 0 0 0

The operator’s Gross Winnings 0 20 40

Turnover 200 200 200

Gross Winnings margin 0 10% 20%

The differences between different margins are apparent
with this example:
If Operator A presents a Gross Winnings margin of 20 per
cent., an average punter betting level stakes at GBP 5 per
bet would on average be able to make 100 bets with an
initial capital of GBP 100.

Operator B, offering a Gross Winnings margin of just
10 per cent. would still achieve the same end result.

However, the punter would have enjoyed twice the
number of bets. With the same initial capital of GBP 100
and staking plan of GBP 5 per bet, he would on average
be able to make 200 bets.

Moreover, the Turnover achieved by Operator B in the
above example is twice as large as that of Operator A,
whilst, Gross Winnings remain identical for both operators.
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The Board of Unibet has resolved to apply for a listing of
the Company’s SDRs on the O-list of Stockholmsbörsen
and to increase the Company’s ownership spread through
an issue of New Shares and the sale by the Selling Share-
holders of Sale Shares, each represented by SDRs. 

On 3 March 2004, the Company’s shareholders
resolved to authorise the Directors to issue up to 3 million
new Ordinary Shares solely for the purpose of the
Offering.

703,700 New Shares are now being offered by the
Company in the form of SDRs. The Selling Shareholders
are offering up to 180,000 Sale Shares for sale in the
Offering.

The Offering will not be underwritten. If the Offering is
undersubscribed, the Company reserves the right to
proceed with the Offering and Listing as long as at least
518,500 New Shares are acquired. Subscription monies
will first be applied to the subscription of New Shares and
Sale Shares will be sold only to the extent that all New
Shares have been fully subscribed.

All Offer Shares will be sold at the Offering Price SEK
135 per SDR.

The Offering of New Shares by the Company will raise
approximately SEK 95 million before issue and Listing
expenses. The Company’s expenses in connection with
the Offering and Listing are estimated to be approxi-
mately SEK 22.5 million1. 

In total, the Offering comprises a maximum of 14.1 per
cent. of the capital and votes in the Company2. 

The Board of Directors of Unibet has applied for
the Company’s SDRs to be quoted on the O-list of
Stockholmsbörsen. Trading in the SDRs is expected to
begin on or about 8 June 2004. The Offering is subject to
the terms and conditions set out on page 18.

On the basis of the factors outlined above, members
of the public and institutional investors are invited to
acquire SDRs in accordance with the terms and condi-
tions contained in this document. This document has been
prepared by the Directors of the Company in connection
with the Offering and the imminent quotation of the
Company’s SDRs on the O-list of Stockholmsbörsen.

INVITATION TO ACQUIRE SDRS IN UNIBET 

INVITATION TO ACQUIRE SDRs IN UNIBET 

5 May 2004
Unibet Group Plc Selling Shareholders

The Board of Directors

1 The relatively high level of expenses are due to the complexity of primary listing a UK company with no UK domestic listing, on a stock exchange in Sweden. This has
never been done before. It has meant that the Company has had to devise ways of allowing existing shareholders to exchange their Ordinary Shares for SDRs to pro-
mote liquidity; to restate its accounts from UK GAAP to IFRS; to change its constitution and procedures so as to enable the Company to operate as nearly as possible
like a Swedish listed company whilst still complying with UK law; and conduct an analysis on the regulatory environment. Advisory fees for the Company include
Accounting of approximately SEK 3.0 million, Legal of approximately SEK 7.2 million, Investment banking of approximately SEK 5.2 million and stamp duty of approx-
imately SEK 1.4 million.

2 If the Offering is fully subscribed, the Selling Shareholders will sell a total of 180,000 SDRs, representing a maximum of 2.9 per cent. of the capital and votes in the
Company. The Selling Shareholders will then own 53.5 per cent. of the share capital and votes in the Company.
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● Unibet is one of the largest on-line gambling
operators in the Nordic market with over 275,000
registered customers worldwide at 31 March 2004.

● Unibet offers a comprehensive range of on-line gam-
bling products, such as sports betting, live betting and
on-line casino products through the Group’s web site
www.unibet.com.

● The customer base spans more than 100 countries.
● Unibet focuses on the Nordic region (which accounts

for around 75 per cent. of the customer base) and a
few European markets, which are dominated by De
Facto monopolies.

● Unibet’s Turnover amounted to GBP 144 million (SEK
1.8 billion) with a profit after tax of GBP 2.9 million
(SEK 37.1 million) for 2003.

GLOBAL ON-LINE GAMBLING
The rapid growth in internet penetration has fuelled
significant growth in on-line gambling. On-line gambling is
now regarded as one of the most important internet
businesses.

UNIBET IN BRIEF 

UNIBET IN BRIEF 

The following summary may not contain all the information that may be important to prospective
investors. Before making an investment decision, prospective investors should carefully read this
entire document, including the section “Risk Factors” and the financial statements included
elsewhere in this document. 

1997

The first
Unibet company
is formed.

Unibet is granted
a licence in the UK
to run a betting
operation. Unibet
established an office
in London and
commenced trading
as a betting operator
taking bets over the
telephone.

An internet web
site in Swedish
and English was
launched. 

Unibet Group Plc.
was incorporated.
Unibet International
was granted a licence
and established an
office in Malta.

The second version
of Unibet’s web site
was launched and
was translated into 
12 languages.
Customers in more
than 50 countries.

Nearly 200,000
registered customers
in more than 80
countries.

Release of
updated web site
and launch of new
products including
live betting and the
on-line casino
products. More
than 256,000
registered
customers in over
100 countries.

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
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CCA/RCG GBGC

Informa Average

GBP bn

Global On-line Gambling
Gross Winnings

Using an average of industry estimates1, the global on-line market size in
terms of Gross Winnings was estimated to GBP 3,2 billion for 2004 and was
forecast to reach GBP 3,9 billion in 2005. This translates into a growth rate
of 22 per cent. between 2004 and 2005.

1 Christiansen Capital Advisors/River City Group February 2004, Informa Media
Group, January 2002, Global Betting and Gaming Consultants, July 2002

History
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Key drivers

The Directors believe that the key drivers for growth of
on-line gambling are a combination of a strong gambling
culture, technological change and providing entertainment
value.

Strong gambling culture

● The existence of De Facto Monopolies which are
dominant in their countries of operation and have
invested heavily in marketing, has created a gambling
culture in those countries.

● These monopolies are driving the development and
launch of new products to capture new customer seg-
ments.

Technological change

● Cross border service delivery at low cost is opening up
markets which were previously protected by state
regulated monopolies or local dominant operators.

● The accessibility of new gambling distribution
methods, such as the internet and mobile phones,
results in new groups of customers. 

● New technology increases entertainment value and
opens up the possibility of developing new services.

Entertainment

● The growth in televised sports and general interest in
sports is increasing the demand for betting.

● Betting as an entertainment form is gaining greater
social acceptance.

● There is increasing global interest in high profile foot-
ball. International gamblers share a passion for the
high profile teams from England, Spain and Italy.

UNIBET IN BRIEF 
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Unibet Active Customers
2001–2003

2001 2002 2003

Sweden 21,975 31,485 34,700

Rest of Nordic 4,150 14,575 24,088

Other 1,566 3,618 5,411

Total 27,691 49,678 64,199

A key element in the business of Unibet is its success in converting regis-
tered customers into active customers on a regular basis. An active
customer is defined as a registered customer who has placed a bet with
Unibet during the last 90 days. Growth in the number of active customers
is a good indication of potential growth in Gross Winnings.
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Unibet Registered Customers
2001–2003

2001 2002 2003

Sweden 43,433 92,020 117,483

Rest of Nordic 6,977 40,515 80,208

Other 7,287 43,736 58,899

Total 57,697 176,271 256,590

The customer base of Unibet has grown significantly during the last three
years. Registered customers means the total number of customers on the
Company’s customer base.
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PRODUCTS
Sports betting

Unibet’s sports betting service offers a comprehensive
range of odds on a variety of international and local sports
events, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Bets are
placed via Unibet’s web site, www.unibet.com.

On any given day, the customer will find odds on
around 500 different events in some 25 different sports.
The most popular events are football, ice hockey and
tennis, which together comprised around 80 per cent. of
the Group’s sports book Gross Winnings in 2003. The live
element is very important when selecting and scheduling
events for the Group’s customers. Part of the excitement
involved in gambling is being able to place a bet on a
particular game or event and then watch that game or
event live on television. Unibet prioritises events that have
high exposure in the media, with events broadcast live on
terrestrial channels being the most attractive

Casino products

Unibet’s on-line casino consists of 17 different products,
including table games such as Roulette, Black Jack,
Caribbean Stud and Baccarat, as well as video poker and
slot machines. 

The look and feel of the casino products are the same
as for the other products offered by Unibet and Unibet
deals with the customers money and provides customer
service in the same way. Casino games are not subject to
the seasonality variations that are connected to sports
betting. The activity on casino games is relatively stable
over the year, helping to smooth out the volatility in Gross
margin and the seasonal effect on turnover of sports
betting.

New products

The Company’s strategy is to be in the forefront of
product development, launching new and entertaining
products on a regular basis with the objectives of retain-
ing existing customers, attracting new customers and
increasing Gross Winnings from those customers. 

Although the Company’s focus will remain in the
sports segment, expanding the product line with games of
chance is an important way to attract new customer seg-
ments. Offering new products, e.g. casino games, adds
value to the existing customer base. Moreover, these
products do not suffer from the same degree of season-
ality as sports events and will contribute to a more steady
level of Gross Winnings.

MARKETS

The priority markets for Unibet are the Nordic countries
together with certain De Facto Monopoly markets in
Europe, mainly Germany and Italy. The main reason for
selecting these markets has been a strong “gambling
culture” in those countries coupled with high internet
penetration. 

As gambling monopolies generally operate with above
average Gross Winnings margins compared to operators
in competitive markets, there is an opportunity for on-line
operators such as Unibet to gain market share in a
monopoly market by offering competitive odds and
products. 

The main competitors to Unibet are De Facto Monop-
olies as well as larger international on-line companies
active in the same markets as Unibet.  

Further deregulation and new channels provided by
the internet, mobile phones and digital TV will drive
continued growth on the European market. 

BUSINESS CONCEPT AND STRATEGY
Unibet’s business concept is to provide reliable on-line
gambling and to build value by delivering entertaining
gambling products and excellent service.

Unibet’s strategy to maintain its position as a leading
player in its priority markets in the Nordic region as well
as expanding its operations into selected jurisdictions
within and outside Europe are to:

● Enter markets historically characterised by De Facto
Monopolies and a strong gambling culture where
there is also high internet penetration;

● Create a strong position by offering better odds and a
higher number of events, especially domestic sports,
on which to bet;

UNIBET IN BRIEF 
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● Provide a wider range of gambling products to exist-
ing and new customers; and

● Favour organic business growth.

The business model to date has proven to be successful
in both obtaining new customers and retaining existing
customers. In the future, Unibet will continue to market
where applicable in its existing markets whilst at the same
time looking for new opportunities for growth. The
Company will also continue to enhance its customer
relationship management programmes to build greater
loyalty and further develop new innovative products.

When and if deregulation takes place, the Company is
poised to implement more aggressive and far-reaching
marketing programmes in order to be able to compete
directly with both the local De Facto Monopolies and also
other on-line companies.

KEY STRENGTHS
Brand name

Unibet believes it has strong brand recognition amongst
on-line gamblers, especially in the Nordic region. The
Group’s reputation as an established on-line gambling
company is valuable to the business, as customers often
take comfort from the fact that they are dealing with a
well established and trusted operator. 

Leading position in the Nordic region

The scale of the Group’s customer base, Turnover and
Gross Winnings is a competitive advantage that allows
Unibet to spread its fixed costs over a larger customer
base and to offer competitive sports odds. In turn this
provides the customer with a more entertaining gambling
experience. Unibet’s position as one of the leading on-line
gambling operators in the Nordic market enables the
Group to have the confidence to invest in new products
and a wider range of events, which are tailored to its
target markets and designed to attract new customers.

Customer Services

The level of customer service provided by the Group is an
important factor in acquiring and retaining customers.
Unibet’s communication centre is open 24 hours a day,
seven days a week. Due to the international nature of
Unibet’s customer base, the centre consists mostly of
foreign language speakers who are able to assist most
customers in their preferred language. 

Cost per transaction

Unibet’s cost per incremental bet is negligible. This allows
the Group to offer competitive odds and promotions,
giving customers a superior gaming experience.

Marketing

Unibet’s database provides an excellent source of
customer information through the tracking of customer’s
gambling activities and habits. The customer data is then
used by the Group to customise its marketing efforts on a
regional, country and individual customer basis. 

IT-infrastructure

As the betting application is business critical, substantial
measures have been taken to handle disruptions. All
servers are duplicated for redundancy; should one server
fail another server takes over automatically. The Company
has also set up a backup site in the UK that will take over
as production site for businesses in Malta and/or London,
without losing any transactions, if a disaster should occur.

UNIBET IN BRIEF 
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UNIBET IN BRIEF 

Turnover from the sports betting business of Unibet has
grown continually over the past three financial years. The
growth in Turnover is largely experienced all across
Unibet’s geographical markets, and the Group has
continued to concentrate on the Nordic region. The losses
made in 2001 were turned around in 2002. This was done
by a combination of maintaining growth, setting odds at
competitive but rewarding margins and thus controlling
Gross Winnings. Overhead costs and marketing costs
were also successfully controlled. The Group benefited
from significant organic growth during 2002 due to the
high growth of the internet in general and internet gam-
bling in particular. During these periods of growth, profit
after tax has also increased, from a negative GBP 1.6 mil-
lion in 2001 to a positive GBP 1.1 million in 2002. The fur-
ther expansion in 2003 has brought the profit after tax to
GBP 2.9 million.

FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES
Gross Winnings growth

Unibet’s Gross Winnings have grown significantly over the
last three years. From GBP 2.8 million in 2001 to GBP 9.5
million in 2002 and GBP 13.0 million in 2003. A long-
term objective is to continue to grow Unibet’s Gross
Winnings at a pace at least in line with the on-line market
growth in the priority markets. This will mainly be achieved
by organic growth.  

Gross Winnings margin on sports betting

Unibet has reported a yearly Gross Margin averaging 7.7
per cent. during the years of 2001 to 2003. The long-term
objective is to continue to have a Gross Winnings Margin
at least in line with the market. 

Gross Winnings’ impact on EBITDA

It is the perception of the Board of Director that Unibet
will continue to run a cost efficient business. It is an objec-
tive that at least 50 per cent. of the increase in Gross
Winnings shall improve EBITDA.

Cash position and indebtedness

At present, the Group does not carry any interest bearing
debt on the balance sheet and has no intention to use any
loan facilities going forward. 
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FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Unibet Turnover by region
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During the period 2001 – 2003, Unibet experienced continued growth in the Swedish market, although the relative importance of 
Sweden to Unibet has diminished as part of a determined strategy to expand in other markets. 
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OTHER FACTS
Unibet is headquartered in London where its UK
operating subsidiary provides gambling operations
directed to customers mainly domiciled in the UK. The UK
operating subsidiary also provides Unibet wide odds com-
pilation, marketing and risk analysis.

Unibet also has subsidiaries in Malta and in Sweden.
The subsidiary in Malta provides on-line gambling services
for the international market, excluding the UK, as well as
administrative and back office services for the Group. The
IT-department, located in the Swedish subsidiary,
manages the development and maintenance of all IT-
infrastructure within the Group.

Unibet’s betting activities are licensed in the UK and
in Malta.

Unibet had 88 employees at the end of March 2004,
of which 28 were based in UK, 36 in Malta and 24 in
other European jurisdictions.

SHARE DATA
For the purposes of this table the figures are presented as
if a two to one (2:1) reverse share split has already taken
place. Thus these numbers will not tally with the statutory
accounts. For more details of the Group’s performance
and financial position as at 31 March 2004 please refer
to the Interim report, January – March 2004, in this
document.

Year ended 31 December 2003

After completion of the Offering
Earnings per share, fully diluted,

after completion of the Offering, GBP1,2 0.461

Earnings per share, fully diluted,

after completion of the Offering, SEK1,2,4 5.93  

Shareholders' equity per share, fully diluted,

after completion of the Offering, GBP2 1.645

Shareholders' equity per share, fully diluted, 

after completion of the Offering, SEK2,4 21.17  

P/E ratio after completion of the Offering1,2,3 22.8

Price/equity ratio after completion of the Offering, %2,3 637.7

Weighted average no. of shares for the period, fully

diluted, after completion of the Offering, thousand 6,636

1  Based on the fully diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the
relevant period.

2  Calculated as if the new issue was implemented at 1 January 2003. The interest
on the new proceeds of GBP 5.6 million (after deduction of listing and issue
expenses of approximately GBP 1.75 million) affects profit after standard tax for
2003 by GBP 0.16 million. An interest rate of 4 per cent. and a tax rate of 30 per
cent. have been assumed. 
The new issue proceeds have been added to shareholders' equity at 31 December
2003. 

3  Based on the initial public offering price of GBP 10.49/SEK 135 per SDR.
4  Translated from GBP as per the rate used throughout the document as disclosed

on page 1.

UNIBET IN BRIEF 
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TERMS, CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS 

THE OFFERING
The Offering comprises a maximum of 883,700 Ordinary
Shares represented by SDRs in Unibet corresponding to
a maximum of 14.1 per cent. of the share capital and
voting rights in Unibet. 

OFFERING PRICE
The Offering Price has been set at SEK 135 per SDR. No
commission will be charged to investors.

APPLICATION PERIOD
Applications to acquire SDRs must be submitted during
the period beginning on 11 May 2004 up to and including
5 p.m. Central European Time (“CET”) on 25 May 2004.
The Directors may extend the application period at their
discretion.

APPLICATION
Applications to acquire SDRs in the Offering shall be
made in trading blocks of 100 SDRs, subject to a
minimum of one block. Applications shall be made on the
official application form and submitted to:

Hagströmer & Qviberg Fondkommission AB
New Issues/Unibet Group Plc
Norrlandsgatan 15 D
SE-103 71 Stockholm
Sweden

This document and application form will be available
at H&Q’s offices, via H&Q’s web site (www.hagqvi.com)
and via Unibet’s web site, (www.unibet.com/prospectus).
Clients of the H&Q Private Banking internet service will
also be able to apply via the internet. Please note that the
application form must be received by H&Q by no later
than 5 p.m. (CET) on 25 May 2004. The application shall
be binding. Only one application per person may be
submitted. Incomplete or inaccurately completed applica-
tion forms may not be processed. No amendments or
additions may be made to the printed text.

ALLOCATION AND NOTICE OF
ALLOCATION
Decisions on the allocation of SDRs shall be made by the
Directors in consultation with H&Q. The requirements of
Stockholmsbörsen that there should be a minimum free
float and broad ownership spread will be taken into
account in determining the basis of allocation. The date on
which applications are submitted shall not be decisive for
the allocation. 

The Offering will not be underwritten. If the Offering is
under subscribed, the Directors may, subject to these
terms and conditions but otherwise in their absolute
discretion, decide to proceed with the Offering, or alterna-
tively to terminate or reduce the size of the Offering and
will, if the size of the Offering is reduced, allocate New
Shares in priority to any Sale Shares. Applications from
H&Q’s clients and Unibet’s business contacts will be given
priority. H&Q’s employees will not be allocated any SDRs.

Persons who have been allocated SDRs will receive a
contract note, around 28 May 2004. Persons who have
not been allocated SDRs will not be notified.

PAYMENT
Payment for the SDRs allocated shall be made in full, in
cash, in accordance with the instructions on the contract
note by no later than 2 June 2004. If payment has not
been made in full within the stipulated period, the SDRs
may be transferred or sold to another applicant, or other-
wise dealt with by the Company. If such sales are made at
a price lower than the Offering Price, the original allottee
of those SDRs will become liable for the difference.

RECEIVING THE SDRs
After payment has been received, a VP -advice will be
distributed, indicating that the paid-up SDRs have been
registered to the buyer’s securities account at VPC (“VP
Account”). This is expected to occur approximately three
days after payment has been received. Buyers whose
holdings are registered with a nominee will be notified in
accordance with the procedures adopted by their
respective nominee. The Company is connected to VPC’s
electronic account-based securities system and therefore
no certificates will be issued for SDRs in paper form.

TERMS, CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS 

No distinction is made in this section between SDRs representing New Shares and those rep-
resenting Sale Shares.
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TERMS, CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS 

RIGHT TO RECEIVE DIVIDENDS
The SDRs confer the right to receive dividends from and
including the financial year ending 31 December 2004. 

Distribution of any dividends to holders of SDRs will
be administered by VPC. The Directors do not expect to
declare any dividend in respect of the financial year end-
ing 31 December 2004.

LISTING ON STOCKHOLMSBÖRSEN
The Company has applied for a listing of the SDRs on the
O-list of Stockholmsbörsen. The proposed trading lot is
100 SDRs. Listing on the O-list of Stockholmsbörsen is
expected to commence on or around 8 June 2004. 

LIQUIDITY GUARANTEE
Unibet has entered into an agreement with H&Q
concerning an undertaking by H&Q to act as liquidity
guarantor in respect of the Company’s SDRs. In short, the
agreement provides that the liquidity guarantor under-
takes, during Stockholmsbörsen’s ordinary trading hours,
on its own behalf to continuously set bid and ask prices
regarding the Company’s SDRs. The purpose with the
agreement is to promote the liquidity in the SDRs and
reduce the difference between bid and ask prices in trad-
ing in Unibet’s SDRs on Stockholmsbörsen. The term of
the agreement shall be for a period of 24 months from the
date of Listing.

LOCK-UP
Each of the Principal Shareholders, each Director and the
CEO (who together represent 66.4 per cent. of the capital
and votes in the Company assuming that the Offering is
fully subscribed) has agreed with H&Q, subject to certain
exceptions, that they will not, directly or indirectly, offer,
allot, issue, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise
dispose ofany SDRs or Ordinary Shares or enter into any
swap or any other arrangement that transfers to another,
in whole or in part, the economic risk of ownership of the
share capital for a period of 365 days from the date of this
document without the prior written consent of H&Q.

The Company has agreed with H&Q that, subject to
certain exceptions, it will not issue, offer, sell, contract to
sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly,
any SDRs, Ordinary Shares or any security exchangeable
for or convertible into SDRs or Ordinary Shares, for a
period of 365 days from the date of this document with-
out the prior written consent of H&Q. 

CONDITIONS FOR THE COMPLETION OF
THE OFFERING
The Offering is conditional on:
● that at least 518,500 New Shares are subscribed for;
● a sufficient free float and spread of ownership being

achieved to enable a listing on the O-list of
Stockholmsbörsen to take place; and

● the Listing being granted by Stockholmsbörsen no
later than 8 June 2004 or such other later date that
the Directors accept.
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TAX CONSIDERATIONS IN SWEDEN 
The following summary of certain tax issues that may
arise as a result of holding SDRs or as a result of
participating in the Offering is based on current
Swedish tax legislation and is intended only as general
information for holders of SDRs, who are resident or
domiciled in Sweden for tax purposes. This description
does not deal comprehensively with all tax conse-
quences that may occur for holders of SDRs, nor does
it cover the specific rules on so-called qualified SDRs in
closely held companies or situations where SDRs are
held by a partnership or are held as current assets in a
business operation. Special tax consequences that are
not described below may also apply for certain cate-
gories of taxpayers, including investment companies,
mutual funds and persons who are not resident or domi-
ciled in Sweden. It is recommended that prospective
applicants for SDRs consult their own tax advisers for
information with respect to the special tax
consequences that may arise as a result of holding
SDRs or the purchase of SDRs by them, including the
applicability and effect of foreign income tax rules,
provisions contained in double taxation treaties and
other rules which may be applicable.

Disposal of SDRs received
Individuals

Individuals and estates of deceased Swedish individuals
who sell their SDRs are subject to capital gains tax. The
current tax rate is 30 per cent. of the gain. The capital
gain or loss is equal to the difference between the sales
proceeds after deduction of sales costs and the
acquisition cost of the SDRs. 

For tax purposes, the acquisition cost is calculated
according to the “average method”. This means that the
costs of acquiring all SDRs of the same type and class are
added together and calculated collectively, with respect to
changes to the holding. For these purposes, SDRs and
shares in Unibet are not considered to be of the same
type and class. Alternatively, the “standard rule”, under
which the acquisition cost is deemed to be the equivalent

of 20 per cent. of the net sales price, may be applied on
the disposal of listed SDRs. 

Capital losses on listed SDRs are fully deductible
against capital gains on SDRs (both listed and non-listed)
during the same fiscal year. Losses may also be offset
against capital gains on other securities that are taxed in
the same manner as shares and SDRs that are listed,
except for shares and SDRs in mutual funds containing
only Swedish receivables (Swedish interest funds). 70 per
cent. of a loss in excess of the above-mentioned gains is
deductible from any other income which is derived from
capital. In the event that a net loss arises, a reduction of
the tax is allowed on income from employment and from
business, as well as the tax on real estate. The tax
reduction amounts to 30 per cent. of any deficit not
exceeding SEK 100,000 and 21 per cent. of any deficit in
excess of SEK 100,000. Deficits may not be carried
forward to a subsequent fiscal year.

Legal entities

Limited liability companies and other legal entities, except
for estates of deceased Swedish individuals, are taxed on
all income as income from business activities at a flat rate
of 28 per cent. See the paragraph above (under “Individ-
uals”) for an indication of how the acquisition cost will be
calculated. 

Capital losses on SDRs incurred by a corporate share-
holder may only be offset against capital gains on SDRs
or other securities that are taxed in the same manner as
SDRs. Such capital losses may also, under certain
circumstances, be deductible against capital gains on
SDRs and other securities that are taxed in the same
manner as SDRs within the same group of companies,
provided the requirements for group contributions (tax
consolidation) are met. Capital losses on SDRs, or other
such securities, which have not been deducted from
capital gains in a particular year, may be carried forward
and offset against similar capital gains in future years
without any limitation in time. 

Capital gains on SDRs in limited liability companies
such as the Company are tax exempt provided that the

TAX CONSIDERATIONS

TAX CONSIDERATIONS

Because the SDRs which are the object of the Offering will be listed in Sweden and will
represent shares of a company incorporated in England and Wales, tax considerations under
both United Kingdom law and Swedish law may be relevant to holders of SDRs regardless of
their country of residence or operation, in addition to tax considerations in their country of
residence or operation.
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SDRs are held for business purposes. As a result, capital
losses on SDRs held for business purposes are not
deductible. Listed SDRs are deemed to be held for
business purposes provided that the holding represents at
least 10 per cent. of the voting rights or if the SDRs are
held for business reasons. However, the listed SDRs must
have been held for business purposes continuously for at
least one year before disposal. If SDRs of the same type
and class have been acquired on different dates, SDRs
acquired subsequently are deemed to have been sold
prior to SDRs that were acquired earlier (“last in first out”).
When applying the “average method” of calculating the
acquisition cost, those SDRs that have been held for one
year and those that have not are treated as being of dif-
ferent classes. 

Taxation of dividends

Dividends on SDRs are taxed at a rate of 30 per cent. for
individuals and at a rate of 28 per cent. for limited liability
companies as ordinary income from business activities.
Special rules apply to certain corporate entities.

Limited liability companies and economic associa-
tions, except for investment companies, may receive divi-
dends free of tax in respect of SDRs held for business
purposes. Listed SDRs are deemed to be held for
business purposes provided that the holding represents at
least 10 per cent. of the voting rights or if the SDRs are
held for business reasons. If the SDRs have not been held
for business purposes continuously for at least one year
the dividends will be taxable in the year when the SDRs
are disposed of. Transitional provisions may apply to lim-
ited liability companies and economic associations with
split financial years. 

Special tax rules apply to distributions in kind, for
example as regards distributions of SDRs in subsidiaries.

Under a tax treaty between Sweden and the UK, a
Swedish resident who receives dividends from Unibet may
under certain circumstances be entitled to a tax credit.
The aggregate of the dividend received and the tax credit
is also taken into account for Swedish tax purposes after
which taxpayers are entitled to set off the amount of the
tax credit against their total income tax liability on the
dividend.

Wealth tax 

SDRs are currently subject to Swedish wealth tax. Such
tax is paid by individuals and estates on wealth exceeding
SEK 1,500,000 (SEK 2,000,000 for those who are jointly
taxed). The tax rate is 1.5 per cent. of a value correspon-

ding to 80 per cent. of the latest listed value at the end of
the fiscal year. 

Inheritance tax and gift tax 

For inheritance and gift tax purposes, SDRs traded on the
O-list of Stockholmsbörsen, are valued at 30 per cent. of
their listed value. 

Tax considerations for holders of SDRs resident
outside of Sweden

Holders of SDRs who are not resident or domiciled in
Sweden for tax purposes will not be liable to Swedish tax
on the disposal of SDRs. 

Foreign legal entities are not usually liable to Swedish
tax on capital gains on SDRs if the gain is not connected
to a permanent establishment in Sweden. If a Swedish
permanent establishment exists, the new rules concerning
tax-exempt dividends, capital gains and non-deductible
capital losses are applicable within certain limitations.

UK TAXATION 
The statements set out below are intended only as a
general guide to certain aspects of current UK tax law
and practice and apply only to certain categories of
holders of SDRs. The summary does not purport to be
a complete analysis or description of all the potential tax
consequences of acquiring or holding SDRs. Prospec-
tive applicants for SDRs are advised to consult their
own tax advisers regarding the consequences under
UK law of the acquisition, ownership and disposal of
SDRs and in relation to possible changes in law. This
summary is based upon current UK law and Inland
Revenue practice, as in effect at the date of this
document and as subject to change at any time, possi-
bly with retroactive effect.

The statements below are not applicable to all cate-
gories of holders of SDRs, and in particular are not
(unless expressly referred to) addressed to: (i) holders
who do not hold their SDRs as capital assets; (ii) hold-
ers who have (or are deemed to have) acquired their
SDRs by virtue of an office or employment; (iii) holders
of SDRs who own (or are deemed to own) 10 per cent.
or more of the voting power of the Company; (iv) certain
categories of holders of SDRs who are subject to
special rules, such as dealers in securities, traders in
securities that elect mark-to-market, broker dealers,
insurance companies and collective investment
schemes as defined in Section 235 of the Financial

TAX CONSIDERATIONS
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Services and Markets Act 2000; (v) holders of SDRs
who own SDRs as part of hedging or conversion trans-
actions; (vi) holders of SDRs who hold their SDRs in
connection with a trade carried on outside the country
of residence of the holder (whether through a perma-
nent establishment or otherwise); and (vii) holders who
are not the absolute beneficial owners of their SDRs.

Taxation of dividends

The Company will not be required to withhold tax at
source when paying a dividend.

Individuals who are resident in the UK for tax
purposes and who receive a dividend from the Company
should generally be entitled to a tax credit in respect of
any such dividend which they may set off against their
total income tax liability on the dividend. The tax credit will
be equal to 10 per cent. of the aggregate of the dividend
received and the tax credit (the “Gross Dividend”) (or one
ninth of the net dividend received). Holders of SDRs who
are resident in the UK for tax purposes will be subject to
tax on the Gross Dividend at rates determined by the
amount of the Gross Dividend and of the holder’s other
income.

Companies holding SDRs which are resident for tax
purposes in the UK will generally not be subject to
corporation tax on dividends received from the Company
and will not be able to claim repayment of tax credits
attaching to such dividends.

Holders of SDRs who are resident outside the UK for
tax purposes will not generally be able to claim repayment
of any part of the tax credit attaching to dividends paid by
the Company, although this will depend on the existence
and terms of any double taxation treaty between the UK
and the country in which the holder of SDRs is resident.

Taxation of capital gains

UK Resident Holders of SDRs

A disposal of SDRs by a holder who is (at any time in the
relevant UK tax year) resident, or, in the case of an
individual, ordinarily resident in the UK for tax purposes
may give rise to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for
the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains,
depending on the holder’s circumstances and subject to
any available exemption or relief.

Non-UK Resident Holders of SDRs

A holder of SDRs who is not resident in the UK for tax
purposes and who carries on a trade in the UK through a
branch or agency or, in the case of a company, a
permanent establishment, may be subject to UK taxation
on chargeable gains on a disposal of SDRs which are
used, held or acquired for the purposes of the trade of the
branch, agency or permanent establishment.

A holder of SDRs who is an individual and who has
ceased to be resident or ordinarily resident for tax
purposes in the UK for a period of less than five years of
assessment and who disposes of SDRs during that period
may also be liable, on his return, to UK taxation of
chargeable gains (subject to any available exemption or
relief). 

UK Inheritance Tax 

SDRs beneficially owned by an individual may (subject to
certain exemptions and reliefs) be subject to UK
inheritance tax on the death of the individual or, in certain
circumstances, if the SDRs are the subject of a gift by
such individuals. As the holders of SDRs may have
enforceable rights against the Company under the
General Terms and Conditions for Swedish Depository
Receipts in the Company, the SDRs may be assets
situated in the UK for the purposes of UK inheritance tax.
Accordingly, inheritance tax may be payable even where
the individual holder of SDRs is not domiciled in the UK
(nor deemed to be domiciled in the UK under certain rules
relating to long residence or previous domicile).

For inheritance tax purposes, a transfer of assets at
less than full market value may be treated as a gift and
particular rules apply to gifts where the donor reserves or
retains some benefit. Inheritance tax is not generally
chargeable on gifts to individuals or certain types of
settlements made more than seven years before the
death of the donor.

Special rules apply to close companies and to trustees
of settlements who hold SDRs, bringing them within the
charge to inheritance tax.

Holders of SDRs should consult an appropriate
professional advisor if they wish to ascertain any potential
liability to UK inheritance tax, and particularly if they make
a gift of any kind or intend to hold any SDRs through trust
arrangements. Holders of SDRs should also seek profes-
sional advice in a situation where there is potential for a
double charge to UK inheritance tax and an equivalent tax
in another country.

TAX CONSIDERATIONS
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Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax (“SDRT”)

Transfer of Ordinary Shares into SDRs
The Custodian Bank will issue SDRs representing the
Offer Shares in the Company with the underlying Ordinary
Shares being registered in the name of a nominee for the
Custodian Bank and the SDRs being registered at VPC.

Stamp duty or SDRT will be payable on the transfer of
Sale Shares and on the issue of New Shares to the
Custodian Bank at the rate of 1.5 per cent. of the value of
the Ordinary Shares at the time of transfer. The person
generally liable to pay the stamp duty or SDRT will be the
Custodian Bank. However, the Custodian Bank will nor-
mally pass this cost on to persons who wish to exchange
Ordinary Shares for SDRs. For the purposes of the Offer-
ing, the Company will pay the stamp duty or SDRT cost
relating to New Shares and the Selling Shareholders will
pay the stamp duty or SDRT cost relating to Sale Shares.

A holder of Ordinary Shares wishing to sell them on
Stockholmsbörsen will need to deposit such shares with
the Custodian Bank and to be issued SDRs representing
such shares.Stamp duty or SDRT will be payable at the
rate of 1.5 per cent. of the value of the Ordinary Shares
when such Ordinary Shares are deposited with the
Custodian Bank in exchange for the issue of SDRs
representing those Ordinary Shares. This stamp duty or
SDRT will generally be accountable by the Custodian
Bank which will then pass this cost to the holder of
Ordinary Shares who deposits such shares with the
Custodian Bank. The Custodian Bank will however not
issue SDRs until the holder of Ordinary Shares has paid
the costs for stamp duty or SDRT to the Custodian Bank.

Stamp duty or SDRT will also be payable on further
issues of Ordinary Shares when converted into SDRs at
the rate of 1.5 per cent. of the value of such Ordinary
Shares on issue.

No stamp duty or SDRT will arise on a transfer of
SDRs within VPC. 

Transfer of SDRs into Ordinary Shares
No SDRT will arise if an SDR holder converts those SDRs
to the underlying Ordinary Shares. A fixed GBP 5.00
stamp duty charge will arise if an instrument of transfer is
used to transfer the legal ownership of the Ordinary
Shares from the Custodian Bank to the holder of the
SDRs. In relation to Ordinary Shares held by a shareholder
in certificated form outside VPC, a transfer or an agree-
ment for transfer will normally trigger a charge to stamp
duty at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the consideration paid
for such transfer.

OTHER TAX RELATED ISSUES
In terms of the taxation of customers’ winnings, it should
be noted that the Group has customers in over 100 coun-
tries, and therefore it is not possible for the Group to give
tax advice in respect of any particular jurisdiction. It is the
customer, not the Group, who has the legal responsibility
to comply with local tax legislation in respect of bets
placed or winnings earned.

In relation to EU Member States, the ability to tax
winnings is now subject to a judgment by the European
Court of Justice in the “Lindman” case (ECJ Case
C-42/02, 13 November 2003). The case related to a
Finnish citizen who won money on a Swedish Lottery
ticket and was assessed to tax in Finland on these
winnings, despite the fact that they were exempt from tax
in Sweden.

The Court ruled that Member States which do not tax
winnings from games of chance organised in their own
country, cannot charge income tax on winnings from
games of chance organised in another Member State.

TAX CONSIDERATIONS
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BACKGROUND AND REASONS FOR THE IPO 

Unibet is one of the largest privately owned gambling
operators in the Nordic market. The Group offers a wide
range of on-line gambling products, including sports
betting and on-line casino products. Unibet has focused
primarily on the Nordic region, which accounts for around
75 per cent. of its customer base. As internet use has
expanded across Europe, the gambling market has expe-
rienced substantial growth. There is evidence that a num-
ber of markets in Europe which have historically been De
Facto monopolies may relax the degree of regulation,
which should provide growth opportunities for the Group.
The Directors believe that Unibet’s strong brand, under-
standing of its primary markets and the strength of its
products means that the Group is well placed to benefit
from market developments. 

Unibet expects to receive net proceeds from the sale
of New Shares of approximately SEK 72.5 million, after
deducting Offering expenses of approximately SEK 22.5
million payable by the Company. These funds will be used
to strengthen the Unibet brand, enhance existing prod-
ucts and to introduce new gambling products in order to
maintain and grow the customer base. Unibet is also
intending to expand its geographic focus in selected
countries, primarily in Europe. 

Unibet believes that the Listing and Offering will pro-
vide the financial resources and public profile which it
requires to support its geographic and product develop-
ment. The listing of the Company on Stockholmsbörsen is
expected to raise market awareness of Unibet and
provide access to the public capital markets. The fact that
the SDRs will be publicly traded on a major European
market will increase the possibilities of future acquisitions
and retaining, attracting and incentivising high quality
personnel. 

Pending use of the net proceeds as described above,
Unibet intends to invest such proceeds in short-term,
investment grade, interest-bearing instruments. Unibet
will not receive any of the proceeds from the sales of Sale
Shares by the Selling Shareholders.

For additional information, the reader is referred to the
information in this document, which has been prepared
by Unibet’s Board of Directors in connection with the
Offering. The Company’s Board of Directors is
responsible for the contents of this document. The
Board of Directors hereby declares that to the best of its
knowledge, the information given in this document
complies with actual circumstances and that nothing of
material importance has been omitted that might affect
the view of Unibet provided by this document.

BACKGROUND AND REASONS FOR THE IPO 

London, United Kingdom 
5 May 2004

Unibet Group Plc 
The Board of Directors
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 

The pace of progress, both for Unibet and the on-line
gambling industry, has been brisk ever since we began
offering gambling services. Forecasts show significant
growth potential for the industry. 

Key to this growth is the expansion of the internet.
People are devoting more of their time and money to
leisure experiences. There is a growing selection of, and
interest in, sporting events beamed into people’s homes
via TV and other media distribution channels. At the same
time, people are being provided with an expanding
number of ways to gamble on these events from the
comfort of their own homes via the internet, telephones or
directly through their TVs.

Unibet aims to build a position as a leading on-line
gambling operator in each of its priority markets. Unibet
has seen substantial growth in recent years, and we are
now established as a leading on-line gambling operator in
the Nordic region. Unibet views Gross Winnings as the
best measure of growth. The Group’s Gross Winnings
have grown from GBP 2.8 million in 2001, to GBP 9.5
million in 2002 and to GBP 13.0 million in 2003. Gross
winnings continued to grow in the first quarter of 2004
and amounted to GBP 5.2 million, compared with GBP
3.7 million the same period last year. By the end of March
2004 Unibet was providing services in 12 languages to
more than 275,000 registered customers in over 100
countries.

Sports betting forms the foundation of our business
operations. We aim to offer high quality services to a wide
customer base. We feature odds on a variety of sports and
cover events in numerous countries. In most of our major
markets, our largest competitors are effectively domestic
monopolies. In these countries we have been able to
attract customers by offering entertaining products, com-
petitive odds and high returns whilst at the same time
maintaining our gross margin. 

In November 2003 we expanded our business to
include an on-line casino featuring games of chance. This
business area already accounted for almost 30 per cent.
of Group Gross Winnings in the first quarter of 2004.

It is part of our strategy to capitalise on opportunities
offered by the global internet platform by offering new
gambling options and functions. At the same time,
advances in technology will open the door to new modes
of distribution. These are expected to include gambling via
mobile phones and, eventually, digital TV. 

In several European countries, De Facto Monopolies
or dominant market players have been operating
unchallenged and have established a strong culture of
gambling. This gambling culture makes people more

receptive to our on-line products. We believe that these
markets will come under increasing pressure to
de-regulate. No guarantee can ever be given about future
changes in law and regulation. However, our strategy has
been and will continue to be that we will work proactively
to ensure that de-regulation happens. In order to speed
up this process, we initiated together with some
colleagues in Europe, EBA – the European Betting Asso-
ciation. The overall objective of the EBA is to ensure a
cross border, competitive market with the same regula-
tions for all betting companies, state or privately run. In
Sweden, we have filed a legal action against the Swedish
State calling for it to end its gambling monopoly in
response to a recent European Court of Justice ruling
which raised questions over the legitimacy of such
monopolies in European Union countries.

Unibet has a strong position in the growing on-line
market. Our Listing will increase our visibility with
investors, particularly in Sweden, and will provide an
assurance of quality and respectability for our customers
across the globe. It will also provide us with the resources
we require to expand our product range and to target new
strategic markets. I look forward to welcoming you as a
shareholder of Unibet.

Pontus Lesse
CEO

MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 
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MARKET OVERVIEW

INTRODUCTION
The global gambling market can be divided into on-line
gambling and off-line gambling. On-line gambling is
primarily carried out over the internet, but also includes
gambling via mobile phones and Digital TV. Off-line
gambling means gambling in a physical location, e.g. a
betting shop or a casino.

Gambling can be divided into Games of Skill (Sports
betting, Horse racing, Poker, etc.) in which the customer
can benefit from having a certain degree of knowledge
and Games of Chance (Roulette, Black Jack, Slot
machines, Lotto, Bingo, etc.). 

Historically, gambling companies have been reluctant
to operate outside their home jurisdictions. However, the
globalisation of the industry, access to the internet and the
desire of governments not to lose potential tax income
may open up a number of new markets to companies able
to operate across borders. Industry consultant GBGC1

notes that at present no operator could claim to be truly
global and sees major opportunities for on-line gambling
companies.

GLOBAL ON-LINE GAMBLING
The rapid growth in internet penetration has fuelled
significant growth in on-line gambling. On-line gambling is
now regarded as one of the most important internet
businesses. However, due to the borderless and global
nature of internet gambling, estimates regarding market
size of the on-line gambling market vary. 

One challenge is determining where an on-line bet is
made. Is it where the domain is registered; the location of
the web server; the residency of the customer; or where
the financial transaction is carried out? As a result of
these difficulties in identifying where bets are made, there
is a large variation in industry estimates. 

Unibet has not been able to obtain official statistics
for all markets included within this document. Therefore, it
has been necessary to use estimates that are based upon
a number of key industry indicators, trends and secondary
information. In estimating the size of the on-line gambling
market, Unibet has used data extracted from sources con-
tained within industry reports, annual reports, on web sites
or supplied via national gaming boards. Estimates have

then been benchmarked against other secondary
research, such as company reports, the financial press or
market intelligence reports. Where several sources state
a range of data, an average is used. There may also be
differences in the way in which different reports define
key indicators such as Gross Winnings.

Using an average of industry estimates2, the global on-
line market size in terms of Gross Winnings was estimated
to GBP 3.2 billion for 2004 and was forecast to reach
GBP 3.9 billion in 2005. This translates into a growth rate
of 22 per cent. between 2004 and 2005.

Sports betting has been the driver of on-line gambling
and accounts for approximately 50 per cent. of Gross
Winnings in the on-line market3. However, other products
such as casinos and lotteries are now expanding into on-
line distribution channels.

MARKET OVERVIEW

1 Global Betting and Gambling Consultants, July 2002.
2 Christiansen Capital Advisors/River City Group February 2004, Informa Media Group, January 2002, Global Betting and Gaming Consultants, July 2002.
3 Christiansen Capital Advisors/River City Group, February 2004.
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MARKET OVERVIEW

Key drivers

The Directors believe that the key drivers for growth of
on-line gambling are a combination of a strong gambling
culture, technological change and providing entertainment
value:

Strong gambling culture

● The existence of De Facto Monopolies which are
dominant in their countries of operation which have
invested heavily in marketing has created a gambling
culture in those countries.

● These monopolies are driving the development and
launch of new products to capture new customer
segments.

Technological change

● Cross border service delivery at low cost is opening up
markets which were previously protected by state
regulated monopolies or local dominant operators.

● The accessibility of new gambling distribution
methods, such as the internet and mobile phones,
results in new groups of customers. 

● New technology increases entertainment value and
opens up the possibility of developing new services.

Entertainment

● The growth in televised sports and general interest in
sports is increasing the demand for betting.

● Betting as an entertainment form is gaining greater
social acceptance.

● There is increasing global interest in high profile foot-
ball. International gamblers share a passion for the
high profile teams from England, Spain and Italy.

UNIBET’S MARKETS
The priority markets for Unibet are the Nordic countries
together with certain monopoly markets in Europe, mainly
Germany and Italy. The main reason for selecting these
markets has been a strong gambling culture in those
countries, created by De Facto Monopolies, coupled with
high internet penetration. Unibet does not focus on the
UK as the market is heavily saturated.

The Nordic region

Each of the Nordic countries has a similar gambling
market, which is dominated by a state De Facto Monopoly.

Market development is largely driven by the De Facto
Monopolies in these countries. However, it is the belief of
the Board that the De Facto Monopolies face increased
competition from international on-line service providers.
There are no official statistics of the size of the Nordic on-
line gambling market, but the Board estimates1 the
market size (based on turnover) to have been approxi-
mately GBP 550-600 million in 2003.

The size of on-line gambling market

Sweden

According to the National Gaming Board, the turnover in
Sweden for the total gambling market was GBP 2.6 billion
in 2001 and GBP 2.8 billion in 20022.

The launch of new products; revamping of services;
and a number of other innovations have characterised the
Swedish market during recent years. State controlled
operators ATG and Svenska Spel have launched new
products and the Government has opened four interna-
tional casinos operated by Svenska Spel.

Both ATG and Svenska Spel have expanded their on-
line services in response to international competition.
Both companies are also launching products aimed at
capturing new customer segments outside the traditional
group of sports fans.

The Directors estimate that the international on-line
gambling operators had a turnover of approximately GBP
100 million during 2002. In addition, ATG and Svenska
Spel had a turnover of GBP 69 million from their on-line
operations in the same year. A report by the Ministry of
Finance3 estimated that ATG’s and Svenska Spel’s
combined market share was 40 per cent. of the Swedish

1 The Board of Directors’ Company’s estimate is based on recalculations of existing data, e.g. industry reports, annual reports from operators and regulatory bodies.
2 Lotteriinspektionen, ”Den svenska spelmarknaden 2002”, Svenska Spel, Annual report 2002, ATG, Annual report 2002.
3 Finansdepartementet, “Den svenska spel och lotterimarknaden”, July 2003.
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MARKET OVERVIEW

on-line market. The total turnover of the on-line market in
Sweden in 2002 was estimated to have been approxi-
mately GBP 170 million1 or approximately 6 per cent. of
the total gambling market. 

Rest of the Nordic region

Norway

The Norwegian gambling market grew from GBP 1.9
billion in 2001 to GBP 2.5 billion in 2002 (in terms of
turnover) and experienced growth of 32 per cent.2 in that
period. The government owned monopoly, Norsk Tipping,
launched its on-line gambling service in 2002 and had
35,000 customers at the end of 20023. 

The turnover of the on-line gambling market in
Norway was estimated at approximately GBP 50 million in
20014 growing to GBP 100 million in 20025. A survey by
the Norwegian National Gaming Board in September
2003 reported that 5 per cent. of Norwegian customers
were gambling on-line.6 The international on-line
operators held approximately 80 per cent. of the
Norwegian on-line market7. 

Denmark

The turnover of the on-line gambling market in Denmark
in 2002 was estimated to be GBP 95 million8 which rep-
resented 6 per cent. of the total GBP 1.5 billion9 gambling
market in Denmark. The Directors estimate that the inter-
national operators held 98 per cent. of the on-line gam-
bling market in 2002. This is due to the late market entry
of Dansk Tipstjeneste10, the state controlled monopoly,
into the on-line gambling market. 

Finland

The turnover of the on-line market in Finland was esti-
mated to be between GBP 70 million11 and GBP 95 mil-
lion, or approximately 6 per cent. of a total market turnover

of GBP 1.3 billion12 in 2002. The on-line gambling service
was launched in 1997. The domestic operators’ on-line
business grew 67 per cent. from 2001 to 200213. The
international on-line gambling operators estimated share
of the on-line gambling market was approximately 40 per
cent.14 in 2002.

Other

Europe

The Directors believe that further deregulation and new
channels provided by the internet, mobile phones and dig-
ital TV will drive continued growth on the European mar-
ket. However, as each country within Europe has devel-
oped its own attitude, preferences and regulatory frame-
work regarding gambling, the region cannot be viewed as
homogenous.

According to GBGC15, the total gambling market in
Europe for 2002 was GBP 121 billion in terms of turnover
and GBP 34 billion in terms of total Gross Winnings. 

Informa Media Group16 estimates Gross Winnings in
the on-line gambling market in Europe to have been GBP
312 million in 2002, which was approximately one per
cent. of the total gambling market.

According to industry reports, the German gambling
market was worth approximately GBP 8.5-9.0 billion17 in
2000 in terms of turnover. In Germany the regional lottery
organisations have recently moved into sports betting and
have recently launched an on-line service, the German
sports pool operator Oddset. 

Italy has a well-developed gambling market with its
lotto and toto games being widely popular. According to a
report by Administrazione Autonoma Dei Monopoli Di
Stato, the turnover of the Italian gambling market was
GBP 11 billion in 200218. The Directors estimate the on-
line market in Italy was GBP 680 million19 during the
same period.

1 The Company’s estimate is based on recalculations of existing data, eg
industry reports, annual reports from operators and regulatory bodies.

2 Lotteritilsynet, “Norsk pengespil 2002”, October 2003.
3 Norsk Tipping, 2002 annual report.
4 Norsk Tipping, 2001 annual report.
5 Norsk Tipping, 2002 annual report, Lotteritilsynet, “Norsk pengespil 2002,

October 2003 
6 Lotteritilsynet, “Norsk pengespil 2002”, October 2003.
7 Norsk Tipping, 2002 annual report, Lotteritilsynet, “Norsk pengespil 2002,

October 2003.
8 The Company’s estimates are based on recalculations of existing data, eg

industry reports, annual reports from operators and regulatory bodies.
9 Dansk Tipstjeneste, 2002 annual report.

10 Dansk Tipstjeneste had an on-line turnover of over GBP 2.2 million in 2002.
11 Helsingin Sanomat, 14 December 2003.

12 Veikkaus, FinToto, RAY, 2002 annual reports.
13 Veikkaus, FinToto, RAY, 2002 annual reports.
14 The Company’s estimates is based on recalculations of existing data, eg

industry reports, annual reports from operators and regulatory bodies.
15 GBGC, “Global gambling comes of age”, July 2002.
16 Informa Media Group, “Electronic gambling”, January 2002.
17 GBGC, “Global gambling comes of age”, Jul 2002; Schema Group, “On-line

gambling in Western Europe”, Oct 2001.
18 Administrazione Autonoma Dei Monopoli Di Stato, “Il comparto dei giochi in

Italia: Situazione Attuale”, Feb 2003.
19 The Director’s estimates are based on recalculations of existing data, eg

industry reports, annual reports from operators and regulatory bodies.
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BUSINESS OF UNIBET

INTRODUCTION
Unibet is an on-line gambling group which had over
275,000 registered customers worldwide at 31 March
2004 and which is one of the largest on-line gambling
operators in the Nordic market.

The internet is the main distribution channel for
Unibet’s products. The Group offers a comprehensive
range of on-line gambling products, such as sports
betting, live betting and on-line casino products through
the Group’s web site www.unibet.com. The customer base
spans more than 100 countries. Unibet focuses on the
Nordic region (which accounts for around 75 per cent. of
the customer base) and a few other De Facto Monopoly
markets in Europe.

On average, Unibet handles over 100,000
transactions every day (including bets, deposits and with-
drawals) and offers more than 500 odds on major inter-
national and local sporting events every day. The majority
of transactions are conducted via the internet, with a small
number of bets being placed over the telephone.

The Group is headquartered in London where its UK
operating subsidiary provides gambling operations
directed to customers mainly domiciled in the UK. The UK
operating subsidiary also provides Group with odds
compilation, marketing and risk analysis. The Group also
has subsidiaries in Malta and in Sweden. The subsidiary in
Malta provides on-line gambling services for the
international market, excluding the UK, as well as admin-
istrative and back office services for the Group. The
IT-department, located in the Swedish subsidiary,
manages the development and maintenance of all IT-
infrastructure within the Group.

CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT
The customer base of Unibet has grown significantly
during the last three years. Registered customers means
the total number of customers on the Company’s
customer base.

A key element in the business of Unibet is its success
in converting registered customers into active customers
on a regular basis. An active customer is defined as a
registered customer who has placed a bet with Unibet
during the last 90 days. Growth in the number of active
customers is a good indication of potential growth in
Gross Winnings.

BUSINESS OF UNIBET

Investing in the SDRs involves risks. See the Section “Risk Factors” for a description of certain
risks related to an investment in the Company.

1997

The first
Unibet company
is formed.

Unibet is granted
a licence in the UK
to run a betting
operation. Unibet
established an office
in London and
commenced trading
as a betting operator
taking bets over the
telephone.

An internet web
site in Swedish
and English was
launched. 

Unibet Group Plc.
was incorporated.
Unibet International
was granted a licence
and established an
office in Malta.

The second version
of Unibet’s web site
was launched and
was translated into 
12 languages.
Customers in more
than 50 countries.

Nearly 200,000
registered customers
in more than 80
countries.

Release of
updated web site
and launch of new
products including
live betting and the
on-line casino
products. More
than 256,000
registered
customers in over
100 countries.
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Sweden 43,433 92,020 117,483

Rest of Nordic 6,977 40,515 80,208

Other 7,287 43,736 58,899

Total 57,697 176,271 256,590
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FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT
Unibet’s Turnover has grown continually over the past
three financial years. The losses made in 2001 were
turned around in 2002. This was done by a combination
of maintaining growth, setting odds at competitive but

rewarding margins and thus controlling Gross Winnings.
Overhead costs and marketing costs were also success-
fully controlled. The Group benefited from significant
organic growth during 2002 due to the high growth of the
Internet in general and Internet gambling in particular.
During these periods of growth, profit after tax has also
increased, from a negative GBP 1.6 million in 2001 to a
positive GBP 1.1 million in 2002. The further expansion in
2003 has brought the profit after tax to GBP 2.9 million
equating to a margin of 2.0 per cent.

GBP million 2001 2002 2003

Sweden 36.7 57.5 66.9

Rest of Nordic 4.5 20.9 35.7

Other 11.5 23.7 40.9

Total 52.7 102.1 143.5

During the period 2001 – 2003, Unibet experienced con-
tinued growth in the Swedish market, although the relative
importance of Sweden to Unibet has diminished as part of
a determined strategy to expand in other markets.

BUSINESS OF UNIBET
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Sweden 21,975 31,485 34,700

Rest of Nordic 4,150 14,575 24,088

Other 1,566 3,618 5,411

Total 27,691 49,678 64,199
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BUSINESS CONCEPT AND STRATEGY
Unibet is a reliable provider operating in the on-line
gambling market, building value by delivering entertaining
gambling products and excellent service.

Unibet’s strategy to maintain its position as a leading
player in its priority markets in the Nordic region as well
as expanding its operations into selected jurisdictions
within and outside Europe are to:
● Enter markets historically characterised by De Facto

Monopolies and a strong gambling culture where
there is also high internet penetration;

● Create a strong position by offering better odds and a
higher number of events, especially domestic sports,
on which to bet;

● Provide a wider range of gambling products to exist-
ing and new customers; and

● Favour organic business growth.

The business model to date has proven to be successful
in both obtaining new customers and retaining existing
customers. In the future, Unibet will continue to market
where applicable in its existing markets whilst at the same
time looking for new opportunities for growth. The com-
pany will also continue to enhance its customer relation-
ship management (“CRM”) programmes to build greater
loyalty and further develop new innovative products.

When and if deregulation takes place, the Company is
poised to implement more aggressive and far reaching
marketing programmes in order to be able to compete
directly with both the local De Facto Monopolies and also
other on-line companies.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
During 2004, Unibet will continue to focus on expanding
its business in its priority markets: Sweden, the rest of the
Nordic region and some selected European countries
such as Italy and Germany. Unibet will look to expand its
core business into new geographical markets. Apart from
the business opportunity itself, local regulations will be a
key factor in deciding when and how to enter a new
market. Hence, geographical expansion will be driven by
opportunities on a country-by-country basis rather than
through a regional approach. 

Unibet will direct its efforts in developing its services
which can be accessed by its customers through a variety
of distribution channels, such as the Internet and digital

TV and which can also be accessed through a variety of
devices, such as personal computers and mobile phones. 

Unibet believes that the increased use and develop-
ment of mobile technology will lead to an opportunity to
increase Gross Winnings derived from that form of distri-
bution. When developing products and services for mobile
platforms, Unibet will focus on 3G or similar future
enhancements and developments for its future mobile
services.

Unibet is monitoring market developments in interac-
tive services via digital TV closely and is ready to take
initiatives in this area once it is commercially viable to do so. 

MARKETING
The growth and future success of Unibet is dependent
upon its ability to acquire new customers and to maintain
an active customer base. Having a strong brand name and
brand awareness in a new and competitive market seg-
ment is important.

Thus, Unibet has focused on the following key areas
in an effort to capitalise on past success and to fuel
growth in the future:
● Build and enhance the brand image and awareness
● Drive customer acquisition
● Build customer loyalty 

Brand strategy

All communications to both prospective and existing cus-
tomers strive to reinforce Unibet’s brand values. All prod-
ucts will be offered under the Unibet brand with the objec-
tive of developing a respected, market-leading brand in
on-line gambling. 

Unibet should be perceived as:

● Entertaining
• Innovative

Gaming is an entertaining leisure activity that
should be fun and inviting. Through new gaming
products, better odds and development of existing
services Unibet will continue to be a leading
provider of gambling entertainment.

• User Friendly
Unibet’s products are technically easy to access
and use and are also appealing to customers in
terms of style and presentation.

BUSINESS OF UNIBET
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● Reliable
• Secure

All IT systems are duplicated to avoid losing any
transactions, e.g. bets and payments, and to try to
ensure that a continuous service is provided.
Communications and payment transactions are
secure and encrypted in line with the best practice
of major credit card organisations. 

• Trusted
Customers can speak to a communcation centre
agent 24 hours a day, which takes away the
anonymity of an internet service. Accounts are avail-
able in eight different currencies and payouts to
customers are made to their personal accounts
within one hour after the end of a sporting event
and immediately on games of chance. Unibet pri-
vacy policy prohibits any re-selling of any personal
information collected.

Customer acquisition

Each of Unibet’s priority markets has a local marketing
manager whose main responsibility is to drive customer
acquisition. This can involve utilising traditional methods of
advertising such as TV, radio, print, etc.. In addition, the
Company will utilise its existing customer base to run
“recruit-a-friend” promotions and targeted on-line
marketing such as banner advertising, search engines and
partnership arrangements with sports portals.

Customer retention

As it is more cost effective to keep a customer rather than
obtain a new one Unibet places considerable importance
on customer retention. The foundation of Unibet’s

retention activities is general appeal, entertainment and
excitement about the product portfolio. Unibet has
developed specific programmes tailored to address
different stages in a customer life cycle, e.g. loyalty and
churn management programmes.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
The Company’s strategy is to be in the forefront of prod-
uct development, launching new and entertaining prod-
ucts on a regular basis with the objectives of retaining
existing customers, attracting new customers and
increasing Gross Winnings from those customers. 

Although the Company’s focus will remain in the
sports segment, expanding the product line with games of
chance is an important route to attract new customer seg-
ments. Offering new products, e.g. casino games, adds
value to the existing customer base. Moreover, products
like casino games do not suffer from the same degree of
seasonality as sports events and their introduction will
contribute to a more steady level of Gross Winnings. 

The Group will look to co-operate with other on-line
operators where practical and efficient with a view to
developing its product offering. However, within its core
business of the sports book and related products, Unibet
will always retain in-house expertise.

KEY STRENGTHS
Odds compilation and risk management

The Gaming department of the Group is divided into two
teams, an analyst (or odds compiling) team and a trading
team. The purpose of this structure is to focus skills and
maximise Gross Winnings. In order to achieve efficient
cooperation between the two teams, risk policies for every
sport and/or league have been created to give a general
framework of what risks the Company is willing to take.

The odds compilers’ task is to assess probabilities and
to set prices (odds) for different outcomes on a wide
range of events. The task for the trading team is to man-
age the overall risk of the sports book. 

Marketing

Unibet’s database provides an excellent source of
customer information through the tracking of client’s
gambling activities and habits. The customer data is then
used by the Group to customise its marketing efforts on a
regional, country and individual customer basis. 

BUSINESS OF UNIBET

Unibet’s Communication Centre in Malta services customers 24 hours a
day, seven days a week.
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Customer Services

The Directors believe that the level of customer service
provided by the Group is an important factor in acquiring
and retaining customers. Unibet’s communication centre
is located in Malta and by the end of March 2004
employed 22 people. One of the key responsibilities of
this team is to man the toll-free call centre provided to
Unibet’s customers. The call centre is open 24 hours a
day, seven days a week. Due to the international nature of
Unibet’s customer base, the centre consists mostly of for-
eign language speakers who are able to assist most cus-
tomers in their preferred language. 

IT-infrastructure

As the betting application is business critical, substantial
measures have been taken to handle disruptions. All
servers are duplicated for redundancy; should one server
fail another server takes over automatically. The Company
has also set up a backup site in the UK that will take over
as production site for Malta and/or London, without losing
any transactions, if a disaster should occur.

Brand name

Unibet believes it has strong brand recognition amongst
on-line gamblers, especially in the Nordic region. Further-
more, the Group’s reputation as an established on-line
gambling company is critical to the business, as
customers often take comfort from the fact that they are
dealing with a well established and trusted operator. The
Directors believe that these factors have been and will
continue to be important in supporting the growth of the
Group’s business. 

Leading position in the Nordic region

The scale of the Group’s customer base, Turnover and
Gross Winnings is a competitive advantage which allows
Unibet to spread its fixed costs over a larger customer
base and to offer competitive sports odds. In turn this pro-
vides the customer with a more entertaining gambling
experience. Unibet’s position as one of the leading on-line
gambling operators in the Nordic region enables the
Group to have the confidence to invest in new products
and a wider range of events which are tailored to its target
markets and designed to attract new customers.

Cost per transaction

Unibet’s cost per incremental bet is negligible. This allows
the Group to offer competitive odds and promotions,
giving customers a superior gaming experience.

PRODUCTS
To use any of the gambling products available with Unibet,
all customers must first open a personal account, submit-
ting their personal details and depositing a minimum
amount of funds (for example GBP 10) with Unibet. In
return the customers receive a user name and a confi-
dential password, which are to be used when placing a bet
or using the other gambling products. 

Customers’ personal Unibet accounts are updated
within one hour of each sporting event, and immediately
on games of chance. Customers who wish to withdraw
some or all of their funds are subject to certain rigorous
checks. Once these are completed the customer will
receive the funds within two to three business days.

Current products
Sports betting

Unibet’s sports betting service offers a comprehensive
range of odds on a variety of international and local sports
events, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Bets are
placed via Unibet’s web site. Telephone bets, which com-
prise less than one per cent. of all bets, are also accepted. 

On any given day, the customer will find odds on
around 500 different events in some 25 different sports.
The most popular events are football, ice hockey and
tennis, which together comprised around 80 per cent. of
the Group’s sports book Gross Winnings in 2003. The live
element is very important when selecting and scheduling
events for the Group’s customers, part of the excitement
involved in gambling is being able to place a bet on a
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particular game or event and then watch that game or
event live on television. Hence, Unibet prioritises events
that have high exposure in the media, with events broad-
cast live on terrestrial channels being the most attractive. 

Non-sports betting

Unibet’s on-line casino consists of 17 different products,
including table games such as Roulette, Black Jack,
Caribbean Stud and Baccarat, as well as video poker and
slot machines. 

Unibet’s partner, Net Entertainment NE AB (“Net
Entertainment”) (a subsidiary of Cherry Företagen AB
which is listed on Stockholmsbörsen) has developed and
is maintaining the casino software. However, the look and
feel of the casino products are the same as for the other
products offered by Unibet and Unibet deals with the
clients’ money and provides customer service in the same
way. Casino games are not subject to the seasonality vari-
ations that are connected to sports betting. The activity on
casino games is relatively stable over the year, helping to
smooth out the volatility in gross margin and the seasonal
effect on turnover of sports betting.

Since compulsive gambling is more common among
casino games than other forms of gambling, Unibet has
introduced personal safety measures for customers. For
example, the customer will be able to set a personal limit
or request to have the account barred from the on-line
casino products for a set period of time.

The on-line casino products were launched in
November 2003. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
There are many business risks involved in operating an
on-line internet gambling company such as Unibet. The
Group takes these risks seriously and has thus developed
rigorous routines for identifying and handling the risks.
Unibet has divided the risks involved into the following
categories:

Market Risk

This is the risk that Unibet may lose money on its business
due to unfavourable outcomes on the events where the
Group offers odds.

The Group has risk policies that control the maximum
risk for every sport/event that is offered. Through
diversification the risk is spread over great number of
events and sports.

The heads of gaming and trading are responsible for
the day-to-day monitoring of Unibets’ market risk. It is also
their responsibility to advice odds compilers and traders
on the risk they should take on in certain events. The
security officer performs random evaluations of the risk
limits stated in each league.

Credit Risk

No customers are allowed credit facilities with Unibet. 
Unibet uses a few, well-recognised companies for

trading purposes to achieve the desired risk profile. Those
companies have credit with Unibet and vice-versa, subject
to specified limits.

Operational Risk

This is the risk that the Group may lose money due to indi-
vidual errors of, for example, the odds compilers.

The Group has internal procedures for monitoring and
detecting human or operational errors. 

Customer specific risk

The risk that the Group is losing money to customers who
are extremely successful is called the customer specific
risk. Unibet has three levels of customer limits. 
● Every event that is priced has a limit on how much a

single customer can win on that event. These limits
differ among different events and it is also possible to
change the limits over time. 

● It is also possible to set a specific limit on combina-
tions of bets. This limit is typically higher than on a
single bet. 

BUSINESS OF UNIBET
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● Every customer has a personal limit, which regulates
the maximum amount that can be placed on a single
bet. The personal limit is normally set to 100 per cent.
of the event limit, but limits can be lowered or raised
on an individual basis.

Employee Risk

Employees are not allowed to bet with Unibet in any way,
whether through their own accounts or through third par-
ties. 

FINANCIAL CONTROL 
The Directors consider that Unibet has strong manage-
ment and financial controls, which allow the business to
be monitored and controlled in a timely and effective man-
ner. The management team receives internal financial
reporting on the business on a daily, weekly and monthly
basis. The Board of Directors receives a report on key
figures and developments every month.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT – 
CLIENT DEPOSITS
All clients wishing to place a bet with Unibet must first
register by opening an account and making a deposit.
Deposits are currently accepted either by credit or debit
card, cash deposit or bank transfer via a local branch or
via the internet. Any amounts received from cash deposits
or bank transfers can be accepted in local currencies and
the customer account with Unibet will be in local currency.
However, the credit or debit card transactions will be in
GBP. 

Bets can be placed immediately once a deposit is
made to the client’s account. Payments back to customers
are only made following rigorous checks. Withdrawal
requests can only be satisfied if certain criteria are met
and confirmation that the deposit is cleared has been
obtained. In addition, several other checks are made to
ensure the fraud risks are minimized.

Payouts to clients are made via bank transfer from one
of Unibet’s network of banks worldwide, in the currency
requested by the client, directly into their nominated bank
account. Several bank accounts are maintained by Unibet
with balances in between pre-determined levels in all of the
main currencies. All surplus cash is then placed on money
market term deposits. Due to the unpredictability of who
will win, when, how much and in which currency they will

require payment, Unibet does not implement any formal
foreign exchange hedging policies.

Firstclear Limited acts as a treasury company for the
Group. The Group holds its customer deposits and other
cash balances with high street banks located within the
EU. Customers’ deposits are not currently held in segre-
gated client accounts as neither UK nor Maltese law
requires this. In the event of an insolvency, these funds
would form part of the assets of the Group, available to all
creditors.

The new Remote Gaming Regulations in Malta will
require customers’ funds to be kept in separate accounts
from April 2005 and it is likely that the UK will introduce a
cash segregation requirement if the legislation currently
under consideration becomes law. It is the view of the
Directors that a requirement to keep customers’ fund in
separate accounts would not have any material impact on
the Group or its cash flow.

FRAUD AND MONEY LAUNDERING
The Group’s business is not subject to the UK Money
Laundering Regulations 2003. However, the Group does
have obligations under the UK Proceeds of Crime Act
2002 to notify transactions which may be related to
criminal activities.

The Group’s business is also not subject to the
Maltese Prevention of Money Laundering Act of 1994. All
customer funds reaching and leaving the Group, do so
through recognised and reputable banks, and internal
procedures are in place to pick up and challenge
suspicious transactions. 

The procedures for opening an account with Unibet
require detailed information to be registered about each
customer. This enables Unibet to ensure that any
payments of winnings made to customers should only be
made to bona fide individuals out of cleared funds and
winnings, thus minimising the possibility of fraud and
money laundering.

Unibet employs a team of security and fraud preven-
tion employees. Alerts are received if deposits are made
over certain amounts, and in many other instances where
fixed parameters are breached. This has helped to reduce
the amount of customer fraud and the number of occa-
sions on which a payment has to be refunded when, for
example, a client’s card has been used by a third party.

BUSINESS OF UNIBET
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IT INFRASTRUCTURE AND SECURITY 
Unibet’s IT department provides technical support,
manages the Group’s IT infrastructure and develops new
products and services. In addition to the in-house
personnel, Unibet has entered into agreements with con-
sultants within relevant areas. The Group relies only on
established software and hardware suppliers such as
SUN, Oracle, F5 Networks and Checkpoint. The Group
also has service agreements with these suppliers. 

Unibet uses sophisticated modern technology.
Unibet’s technical solution is based on Java and Oracle. It
is sufficiently flexible to allow further developments of
both software and hardware. The objective is to enable
scalability in the future and at the same time be able to
handle increased demand during peak periods.

The front and back office software has been
developed in-house by the Group’s IT department. As
market conditions change, this allows updates to be made
quickly to the system. 

Disaster recovery

As the betting application is business critical, substantial
measures have been taken to handle disruptions. All
servers are duplicated for redundancy, should one server
fail another server takes over automatically.

All data held on the network servers is backed up at
regular intervals to tapes and other electronic medium.
The back-up tapes are stored in a locked, fireproof safe.

Although the Group’s IT architecture is designed to meet
high requirements and to handle large volume of transac-
tions, the Directors feel it is important for the Group to be
able to handle a situation of force majeure.

Should there be a major disaster in either the data
centre in Malta or London, the Company has a dedicated
backup site set up in an outsourced data centre in the UK.
The backup site mirrors the database information securely
over the Internet from the production sites in Malta and
London. The replication is done in real-time and all trans-
actions are replicated to the backup site continuously. This
means that the backup site will take over as production
site for Malta and/or London, without losing any
transactions, if a disaster should occur.

In addition, the company uses an outside partner who
performs regular hacking and penetration attempts to
make sure that all systems are constantly up to date to
resist unauthorized attempts to break in.

Security

All access to Unibet’s premises is controlled by key, code
and/or card. An even higher level of access control is
used for server rooms to which only authorised personnel
have access. 

Unibet monitors all systems at all times. All communi-
cations between the different Unibet locations and all
customer transactions are encrypted.

BUSINESS OF UNIBET
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LEGAL AND OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
Legal structure

The current legal structure of the Group is shown in the chart below. All group companies are wholly owned subsidiaries.

Unibet Group Plc
(UK)

Unibet (London) Ltd
(UK)

Firstclear Ltd
(UK)

Unibet (Holding) Ltd
(Malta)

Unibet (International) Ltd
(Malta)

Unibet Software
R&D AB
(Sweden)

Legal entity Domicile Note

Unibet Group Plc UK Holding company and ultimate parent
company.

Unibet (London) Limited UK On-line betting operations mainly directed to
customers domiciled in UK. Incorporates
administration, odds compilation, marketing
and risk analysis for the Group.

Firstclear Limited UK Administration of the Group’s customer
accounts, financing, bank transfers and all
other liquidity management.

Unibet (Holding) Limited Malta Holding company for Unibet (International)
Limited.

Unibet (International) Limited Malta Conducts on-line betting operations for the
international market. 

Unibet Software R&D AB Sweden Conducts development and maintenance of all
IT-infrastructure. Owner of capitalised research
and development in the form of software. 
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Operational structure

The operational structure of the Group is shown in the chart below. 

CEO
Pontus Lesse

Gambling
Kristian Nylén

(18)

Marketing
 Martina Westin

(15)

IT
Mats Sjöstedt

(10)

Finance
Sue Ball

(13)

Business
Development
Anders Ström

(2)

Malta
George Debrincat

(29)

Administration
(2)

Trading
(5)

Odds Compiling
(10)

CRM & Analysis
(8)

Marketing
(6)

IT Projects
(1)

Development
(5)

Support
(3)

Investor Relations
(1)

Legal &
Administration

(2)

Finance
(4)

Treasury
(3)

Security & Fraud  
(2)

Business
Development

(1)

Customer Care
(22)

Gaming
(6)

EMPLOYEES 
During 2003, Unibet’s average number of employees
amounted to 75 persons, of which 75 per cent. were men
and 25 per cent. were women. Of Unibet’s average staff
during 2003, 21 were based in the UK, 35 in Malta and
19 in other European jurisdictions. By the end of March
2004 the number of employees amounted to 88 persons,
of which 73 per cent. were men and 27 per cent. were
women. As of that date 28 were based in the UK, 36 in
Malta and 24 in other European jurisdictions.

The Directors believe that there are no reasons to
assume that the age and education structure of Unibet’s
staff or the personnel turnover in Unibet is not compara-
ble with other gambling operators.

Average no. of employees
2003 2002 2001

UK 21 20 19

Malta 35 35 24

Other 19 9 2

Total 75 64 45
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REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
The Group’s sports betting activities are operated under a
gaming licence in Malta and a bookmaker’s permit in the
UK. The Group’s casino operations are provided under
contract by a third party operating out of Costa Rica.
In addition, the Group’s on-line operations may be subject
to regulations in the countries where its services are
accessed.

Operating Licences

Malta
The Group’s Maltese operating subsidiary, which conducts
most of the Group’s business, holds a licence in Malta. In
2000, Malta introduced legislation governing on-line fixed
odds sports betting. The legislation was based on that in
the UK but acknowledged the increase in on-line
gambling by, amongst other things, introducing mandatory
audits of licensees’ internal controls. The licence does not
restrict the Group from accepting clients resident in juris-
dictions outside Malta. 

The Licence is subject to periodic renewal and the
Directors have no reason to believe that the licence will
not to be renewed in the future. 

At present Malta is in the process of further reinforc-
ing its gaming laws and on 20 April 2004 enacted a new
set of regulations governing remote gaming. Unibet,
which represents a significant part of the industry
established in Malta, had been given the opportunity to
consult with the newly formed Maltese regulatory body for
gaming, named the Lotteries and Gaming Authority, on
the content of the new regulations. The Directors do not
anticipate any difficulties in complying with the new
regulations.

UK
The Group’s UK operating subsidiary holds a UK Book-
maker’s Permit, issued under the Betting, Gaming and
Lotteries Act 1963, by the Licensing Committee of North
Westminster in London.

The Permit is subject to periodic renewal and the
Directors have no reason to believe that it will not to be
renewed in the future. 

Following an extensive review of the legislative frame-
work for gambling in the UK contained in the Budd
Report, draft legislation has been published which, if it
becomes law, would confirm the UK Government’s stated
policy of making the UK a leading jurisdictional base for
the on-line gambling industry.

The legislation would establish a new regulator called
the Gaming Commission and aims to simplify and
liberalise the regulatory and licensing regimes whilst
protecting the interests of vulnerable sections of society.

The Directors do not expect that the new legislation
would create any material issues for the Group.
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General

The gambling industry tends to be highly regulated. Some
governments, such as the UK, Malta, Belgium and Ireland,
are relatively open to the establishment of sports fixed-
odds betting businesses, provided that the relevant entity
is licensed in that jurisdiction.

In other jurisdictions (including the Nordic countries,
Germany and Italy) the provision of gambling services is
restricted by the use of De Facto Monopolies. In other
jurisdictions the provision of gambling services is illegal.

The Group’s services are generally accessible by
customers resident in any jurisdiction (although the Group
does not conduct business with customers resident in the
United States). It is not practical for the Group to take
legal advice in every country where it has, or may have,
customers, particularly as the way in which domestic laws
apply to internet transactions is uncertain and is still
developing in many countries.

There is currently no international regulatory frame-
work which applies to the on-line gambling business.
Given the European and, in particular, Nordic focus of the
Group, the directors pay particular attention to the regula-
tory position and developments in these areas (see “Risk
factors” – ”Regulatory environment” and “Legality of mar-
keting”).

Although the position in Europe remains unclear, there
have been a number of important developments over the
past 18 months. A court in the Netherlands has ruled
against two non-Dutch on-line betting companies, pro-
hibiting them from providing sports fixed-odds bets to
customers in the Netherlands. In March 2003, the Danish
government enacted legislation which provides that bets
cannot be accepted from Danish citizens by a provider
which does not have a Danish licence.

In November 2003, the European Court of Justice
issued a ruling in a gambling related matter know as the
Gambelli Ruling (ECJ Case C-243/01, 6 November
2003). The Gambelli Ruling suggests that the only justifi-
cation for a country to place restrictions on the EU princi-
ple of the freedom to provide services is where funda-
mental national interests such as public health, public
security or public policy require this. 

The Directors consider that the Gambelli Ruling calls
into question the monopoly approach taken by several
European governments and have commenced legal action
against the Swedish State in order to challenge the
legality of Sweden’s current De Facto Monopoly. The
court is being asked to establish the Group’s right to

promote its on-line fixed-odds sports betting service in
Sweden and to award damages to the Group in the event
that the Swedish Government is found to have breached
EU law. The Swedish Government is contesting the claims
in full.

As a result of the Gambelli Ruling, it seems likely that
the extent and nature of permissible Government restric-
tions in the EU will become clearer. If Gambelli does lead
to increased deregulation which the Directors believe is
likely, this could open up new opportunities for the Group.
In the medium term these issues may also be regulated
under the proposed EC Directive on Services in the Inter-
nal Market (although it is too early to predict the implica-
tions of such a Directive for the Group).

DATA PROTECTION
The Group’s ability to collect, use and process personal
data of customers, advertisers and employees is
constrained by European Union, UK and Maltese legisla-
tion. Any breaches of such legislation may be detrimental
to the value the Group places on such data and may
restrict any subsequent processing or use of that data. 

At the European Union level, the Data Protection
Directive (EC Directive 95/46/EC) and the Electronic
Communications Privacy Directive (EC Directive
2002/58/EC) set out the underlying requirements for
processing personal data within the European Union,
including any transfers of such data that may be made to
other Member States or to countries outside the
European Union. In the UK, personal data are data
relating to living individuals who can be identified from
those data or from those data and other information
available to the person processing the data. In Malta
personal data are any information relating to an identified
or identifiable natural persons. Persons whose personal
data are processed in the European Union have several
rights, including the right of access to and rectification of
their personal data, the right of recourse in the event of
unlawful processing of personal data and a number of
rights in respect of the use of their personal data for direct
marketing.

The United Kingdom, Data Protection Act 1998 and
the Maltese Data Protection Act 2001 (together, the
“Data Protection Acts”) affect the activities of every Group
company. The Data Protection Acts provide that personal
data must be: (i) processed fairly and lawfully, either with
the freely given, specific and informed consent of the data
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subject or as may otherwise be sanctioned by the
legislation; (ii) obtained only for specified and lawful pur-
poses and not further processed for any purposes incom-
patible with those purposes; (iii) adequate, relevant and
not excessive in relation to those purposes; (iv) accurate
and, if necessary, up-to-date; (v) not kept longer than is
necessary for those purposes; (vi) processed in accor-
dance with the data subject’s rights; (vii) protected against
accidental loss or destruction or unlawful forms of pro-
cessing by appropriate security measures having regard
to the sensitivity of the data concerned and the special
risks involved in the processing of such data; and (viii) not
transferred to countries without an adequate level of data
protection.

The Data Protection Acts impact on the Group’s
activities to the extent that information is deemed to be
personal data. It applies to such data insofar as it is
processed and stored on servers located within the United
Kingdom and Malta and deals with data relating to identi-
fiable living individuals. The Group collects and processes
data concerning individuals, for example by obtaining the
credit card details and registration details of individuals
who wish to use the Group’s web site. The Group also
processes personal data for the purposes of direct mar-
keting to individuals, including individuals whose accounts
have not been active after a set period of time. 

In order for the Group to collect and process data
fairly and lawfully, it must satisfy a relevant condition legit-
imising the processing of the data ( consent of the data
subject) and ensure that individuals who submit data
receive fair processing information listing what is happen-
ing to the personal data. The Group must also comply with
the requirements relating to a data subject’s rights of
access to and rectification of personal information the
Group holds and, if the requisite consent from the data
subject has not been secured, or was originally secured
and subsequently withdrawn, the Group must take steps
to prevent the use of such data for the purposes of direct
marketing.

In respects of personal data transfers, the Data Pro-
tection Acts must be complied with both in the case of (i)
data transfers from one Group company to another (ie
intra-Group transfers) and (ii) data transfers made by any
Group company to organisations or individuals outside the
Group. If any such transfers involve the transfer of per-
sonal data to a country or territory outside the European
Union (i.e. to a third country), the Data Protection Acts

also requires that the recipient country or territory ensures
an “adequate level” of protection for the rights and free-
doms of data subjects or otherwise that an exemption
applies. In this context, the European Commission has
determined that certain model contractual clauses can be
entered into between data exporters and data importers
to ensure an adequate level of protection when data is
transferred overseas. 

The Group has in place a data protection policy and
will continue to evaluate potential improvements or
changes to its practices and policies regarding data pro-
tection. To the extent that the Group makes or is required
to make further changes to its compliance procedures,
the Group may be required to incur additional costs, which
may be significant.

If the Data Protection Acts are breached, the Group
may be subject to a regulatory enforcement action. Failure
to comply with an enforcement order or to co-operate with
the Information Commissioner in the United Kingdom;
(or to comply with a decision taken by the Data Protection
Commissioner in Malta) in this regard is a criminal
offence. A breach may also create civil liability and render
the violator liable to pay compensation if an individual
suffers damage or, in certain circumstances, distress as a
result of such breach. In the event of any such action, any
subsequent use of such data may be restricted and its
value diminished.

The recent Privacy and Electronic Communications
(EC Directive) Regulations 2003 in the United Kingdom
(the “PEC Regulations”) and the Processing of Personal
Data (Telecommunications Sector) Regulations 2003 in
Malta (“Legal Notice 16/2003”) which implement the
Electronic Communications Privacy Directive (EC Direc-
tive 2002/58/EC) came into force on 11 December
2003 and 15 July 2003 respectively. The main impact of
the PEC Regulations and Legal Notice 16/2003 on the
Group is the restriction in the use of direct marketing
e-mails and the impact on the use of “cookies”.

These PEC Regulations and Legal Notice 16/2003
prohibit the sending of unsolicited e-mails to individual
subscribers unless they have given prior consent to
receive the communication. The active “opt-in” require-
ment (whereby the individual actively requests to be
included in a marketing list), is relaxed for existing cus-
tomers, provided that certain conditions are satisfied.
Customers may be sent direct marketing e-mails on an
opt-out basis if: (i) their contact details were obtained in



44

BUSINESS OF UNIBET

the course of the sale of negotiations for the sale of a
product or service; (ii) the sender is marketing products or
services which are similar to the products or services
originally purchased by the customer; and (iii) the cus-
tomer has a simple means to contact the sender and
refuse any future marketing.

The PEC Regulations and Legal Notice 16/2003 also
seek to address the confidentiality issues related to
cookies by providing that cookies cannot be placed on
a customer’s computer unless the customers are: (i) pro-
vided with clear and comprehensive information about the
purpose of storing such information; and (ii) are given the

opportunity to refuse the storage and further processing
of the information. The opportunity to refuse must be
given before the cookie is placed. 

To the extent that the Group is required to make
further changes to its compliance procedures, in the light
of this new legislation, the Group may incur substantial
costs. The Group may also be prevented from using per-
sonal data for the purposes of direct marketing in the
event that the initial collection is deemed to be in breach
of the Data Protection Acts, the PEC Regulations or the
Legal Notice 16/2003.



45

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

OVERVIEW
Unibet targets countries, which have strong gambling
monopolies. A monopoly driven market has educated
people on how to bet and thus created a “gambling
culture”.

As gambling monopolies generally operate with above
average gross margins compared to operators in
competitive markets, there is an opportunity for on-line
operators to gain market share in a monopoly market by
offering competitive odds and products. 

As competition in a monopoly market is limited, State
controlled gambling companies are often slow to respond
to changes in the business environment. Material changes
in their offerings may also need to be approved by the
Government, further restricting their ability to react to
market changes.

MAIN COMPETITORS
Government monopolies

The main competitor in each target market is the State
monopoly.

Turnover 2002
Country Operator GBPm

Denmark Dansk Tipstjeneste 724

Finland FinToto 108

RAY 426

Veikkaus 768

Norway Norsk Tipping 750

RiksToto 208

Sweden ATG 791

Svenska Spel 1,417

Italy Monopoli di Stato 11,001

Germany Deutscher Lotto- und 

Toto block 5,972

Note: German figures from 2001

Source: Company reports

On-line competitors

About 250 to 300 licensed providers currently offer their
products on approximately 1,800 betting, casino and
lottery web sites1. The main competitors to Unibet are
larger international on-line companies active on the same
markets as Unibet. 

Competitor Brief description

BETandWIN BETandWIN (BETandWIN.com Interactive

Entertainment AG) was founded in December

1997 and is based in Austria. The company has

been listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange since

2000 and holds betting licenses in Gibraltar and

Germany. The company’s main markets are con-

tinental and south-east Europe. BETandWIN

offers sports betting, on-line casino products

and poker.

Betfair Betfair, which is the trading name for The Sport-

ing Exchange Ltd, is the worlds largest betting

exchange. The company was founded in the UK

1999 and is serving primarily the UK market.

Centrebet Centrebet Pty Ltd was founded in Australia in

1992 and has offered on-line sports betting

since 1996. In November 2003 Centrebet was

acquired by the SportOdds Group. SportOdds is

Australia's largest, privately owned sports

betting company. SportOdds has licences in

Australia and the UK. The company’s main

markets are Australia, Asia and the Nordic

region.

Expekt Expekt.com Ltd is a privately owned company

founded in UK in 1999. Today Expekt.com holds

a betting license in the UK, Austria and Malta.

The company’s main markets are the Nordic

region, south-east Europe and Asia. The com-

pany offers sports betting, on-line casino prod-

ucts and poker.

Ladbrokes Ladbrokes Ltd is a UK based subsidiary to

Hilton Group Plc, which is an US based hotel

chain company listed on the New York Stock

Exchange. Ladbrokes is one of the world’s

largest gambling companies. The company’s

main markets are the UK, Ireland and the Far

East. Ladbrokes offers sports betting, on-line

casino products and poker.

Sportingbet Sportingbet.com (UK) Plc was founded in 1998

in the UK, where the company holds a licence.

In May 2000, the company acquired the busi-

ness and assets of BetMaker, an on-line sports

betting business serving the US market from a

base in Costa Rica. Sportingbet was listed on

the Alternative Investment Market of the

London Stock Exchange in January 2001. The

company’s main markets are the US and

Europe. Sportingbet offers sports betting, on-

line casino products and poker.

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

1  Source: River City Group, 2003
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The main objective of the Board of Directors is to focus to
accomplish Unibet’s business concept and strategy and
generate increased shareholders value by an active
process of corporate governance. In doing so, the Board
of Directors recognises that this process must include a
long-term perspective where the interests of other
constituents i.e. society, customers, sport organizations
etc, must also be considered. This is important especially
in an immature, international industry characterised by
great political interest, high growth and market conditions
which are yet to be established.

The Board of Directors is committed to follow the
rules and regulations of “Noteringsavtalet” and the rules
issued by Näringslivets Börskommitté. The Board of
Directors is also aware of the developments within corpo-
rate governance in the UK and the US. 

THE COMPOSITION OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Unibet is growing rapidly in a fast changing market which
will lead to the need of different competences at different
times, a process that should be seen as a natural step in
the development of Unibet.

The Board of Directors consists of six members, of
which four are independent. One is an employee. The
CEO and CFO attend a majority of the Board of Directors
meetings.

The nomination committee consists of the Chairman
together with the largest shareholders.

COMPENSATION AND D&O INSURANCE
The general meeting establishes the principles and the
maximum amount of the Directors’ Fees. The Chairman
of the Board will devote approximately 20 per cent. of
normal working time to Unibet. Employees cannot get any
director fees.

A Director can, during a short period of time supply
consultancy services, but only if this is more cost-effective
and better than any external alternative. Any such consul-
tancy fee will be disclosed in the annual report. None of
the Directors holds stock options issued by the Company.
A Directors and Officers insurance covering the risk of
personal liability for their services to the Company has
been taken out by Unibet. Cover is in place for an indem-
nity level of GBP 1 million.

CEO AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EVALUATION 
The CEO is evaluated once a year, both in quantitative-
and qualitative terms. A variable compensation, maximised
to 30 per cent. of the CEO’s fixed salary is tied to this
evaluation.

During 2004 the Board of Directors also intends to
implement an annual performance evaluation of the Board
of Directors. 

THE WORKING PROCEDURES 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
A written, annually reviewed, set of rules, timetables and
procedures regulates the work of the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors has also adopted a written
instruction for the CEO.

Considering the entrepreneurial challenges Unibet is
facing, the Board of Directors work has and will be
intense with a large number of meetings and contacts,
both formal and informal. At least once a year the Board
of Directors will review the strategy and visit the Group’s
different office locations. Sometimes the Board of
Directors meets without the management.

The Board of Directors has also discussed its working
procedures in case of a major crisis.

During 2003 an audit committee and a compensation
committee were established. Both are working with
written instructions and report to the Board of Directors
on a regular basis.

The audit committee monitors the integrity of the
financial statements of the Group, the independent audi-
tors qualifications and independence, the performance of
its independent auditors and the compliance by the Group
with legal and regulatory requirements. 

The audit committee is comprised solely of independ-
ent Directors and is chaired by Johan Lindgren who has
the relevant accounting and financial management
expertise.

The compensation committee is responsible for issues
relating to Directors’ and officers’ compensation, including
the review and overview of all compensation plans,
policies and programs of the Group. Peter Lindell chairs
the committee. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES AND CURRENCY EXPOSURE POLICY 

In accordance with Swedish practice, the Board of
Directors of Unibet has decided upon certain financial
objectives. However, actual results may differ materially
from those targeted by the Board of Directors, both in
the long-term and in any particular year. Accordingly,
these objectives are qualified in the sections entitled
”Risk Factors” and” Forward-looking Statements”.

FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES
Sports betting

Gross Winnings growth

Unibet’s Gross Winnings have grown significantly over the
last three years. From GBP 2.8 million in 2001 to GBP 9.5
million in 2002 and GBP 13.0 million in 2003. A long-
term objective for the Board of Directors is to continue to
grow Unibet’s Gross Winnings at a pace at least in line
with the on-line market growth in the priority markets. This
will mainly be achieved by organic growth. 

Gross Winnings Margin 

Unibet has reported a yearly Gross Winnings margin aver-
aging 7.7 per cent. during the years of 2001 to 2003. The
Board of Directors’ long-term objective is to continue to
have a Gross Winnings margin at least in line with the
market. 

Gross Winnings’ impact on EBITDA

It is the perception of the Board of Directors that Unibet
will continue to run a cost efficient business. Thus, it is an
objective that at least 50 per cent. of the increase in
Gross Winnings shall improve EBITDA.

Non sports betting

On products other than sports betting, at present only on-
line casino, Turnover is recorded as the money placed by
punters less money paid back. Gross Winnings are
recorded as revenues less any transaction cost.

The Group launched the on-line casino in November
2003. The Board of Directors consider it to be to early to
state any financial objectives for non sports betting prod-
ucts in respect of growth of Turnover or Gross Winnings
at this stage. 

Cash position and indebtedness

At present, the Group does not carry any interest bearing
debt on the balance sheet and has no intention to use any
loan facilities going forward. 

The Group will use the new funds raised in the Offer-
ing for general expansion purposes, which may include
developing its business in new European markets, devel-
oping new product offerings and platforms (in particular in
the area of mobile gaming) and improving the quality of
the systems on which the business depends. 

Although no acquisitions are currently being consid-
ered, the Group will continue to evaluate acquisition or co-
operation opportunities if the Directors believe that these
could be value enhancing.

The Group has a number of demands on its cash
resources. One possibility is that there may be particular
regulatory requirements to hold, in full, funds covering
customer balances held separately from the Group’s
creditors. Another possibility is the need to provide cash
security to maintain on-going credit card facilities. 

DIVIDEND POLICY
It is the intention of the Board of Directors that the
Company will pay a dividend of approximately 50 per cent.
of the Group’s net income after tax to the shareholders,
provided that other financial objectives are met and an
appropriate capital structure is maintained. The SDRs
presented in the Offering will be entitled to dividends for
the financial year ended 31 December 2004. However, it
is the belief of the Board of Directors that no dividends
will be paid for the financial year ended 31 December
2004.

CURRENCY EXPOSURE AND POLICY
The exchange rates between GBP and other currencies,
mainly SEK, in recent years have fluctuated and may in
the future fluctuate significantly. These fluctuations, par-
ticularly in respect of GBP/SEK, may, in the future, have
a material affect on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position and may significantly affect the compa-
rability of its results between financial periods. The extent

FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES AND 

CURRENCY EXPOSURE POLICY 
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FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES AND CURRENCY EXPOSURE POLICY 

of this risk has to be considered in the following context.
Unibet trades in many different currencies, but primary
inflows are received in GBP, whilst outflows comprise
mainly SEK, NOK, DKK and EUR. The majority of the
cash inflows of Unibet are currently in GBP. During 2003
the GBP inflow totalled GBP 24 million. The outflow of
SEK equated to some GBP 9 million over the year.

The outflows are less predictable than the inflows.
The currency required for the outflow depends on where
the winning customer resides. The amount of the outflow
depends on the size of the customers winnings. The
timing of the outflow depends on which events the
customers win on. Clearly all these factors make predict-

ing the precise exposure problematical. At present the
currency outflows required are converted into the specific
currencies as and when the need arises. Unibet currently
adopts a template for conversion of GBP receipts
(inflows) into the predicted currencies (outflows) required.
At the same time, Unibet is negotiating multi-currency
credit card facilities, which will also help to reduce this
exposure. 

The movement in GBP/SEK exchange rate rates was
31 December 2002 14.172 SEK: 1 GBP and 31 Decem-
ber 2003 12.871 SEK: 1 GBP. This comprises the major-
ity of Unibet’s currency exposure, for which the loss
across all currencies for 2003 was GBP 160,256. 



51

RISK FACTORS 

Before deciding whether or not to invest in the Com-
pany, prospective investors should carefully consider the
risks described below, together with all other informa-
tion contained in this document. If any of the following
risks occur, Unibet’s business and financial perform-
ance could be materially adversely affected. The follow-
ing risk factors are considered by the Directors to be the
most relevant to a potential investment in the Company.
They have not been presented in any order of priority
and are not intended to be comprehensive.

LIMITED OPERATING HISTORY
The first Unibet company was formed in 1997 and the first
version of the www.unibet.com web site was launched in
1999. The operating history of the Group offers limited
data upon which an evaluation of the Group and its long-
term prospects can be based. The Group has been profit-
able in the years ended 31 December 2002 and 2003.
However, prior to those years the Group (or its predeces-
sor) has reported losses every year from its incorporation. 

MALTESE VAT
Following changes in the VAT regime in Malta from 1 May
2004, on the occasion of its accession to the EU, certain
costs which are incurred by the Group in the UK and
recharged to Malta under transfer pricing arrangements
will bear irrecoverable Maltese VAT at 18 per cent. Had
these VAT provisions applied in 2003, the cost for the
Group would have increased by approximately GBP 1.2
million. Any Maltese VAT payments made by the Group
will be deductible for Maltese corporation tax. The Direc-
tors have taken steps which they believe will materially
reduce the impact of this VAT cost in the short term and
are examining ways of mitigating its longer term impact.
The Directors believe that the materiality of this VAT cost
to the Group will diminish over time.

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
General

Approach of governments

The gambling industry is highly regulated. In general
terms, the approach taken by governments tends to be
either to prohibit gambling, to restrict it using De Facto
Monopolies or to permit it in a licensed environment, so
that it can be regulated and taxed. The internet is a
relatively new phenomenon and the laws of many jurisdic-

tions have not yet been adapted to suit the particular cir-
cumstances of the internet. There is a lack of clarity as to
where internet transactions take place and who has juris-
diction over them. Even where the laws of a jurisdiction
are stated to be relevant it may be that the courts in that
jurisdiction are unable to enforce applicable laws against
persons who have no assets in the relevant jurisdiction.
There is therefore a high level of uncertainty as to the
application in many jurisdictions of laws particular to
Unibet’s business.

The laws in many jurisdictions relating to the internet
generally and, in particular, gambling by means of the
internet, are under review and may change in the future. It
is possible that in countries where internet penetration
has been slower, increased use of the internet by resi-
dents of those countries in the future may prompt the
relevant authorities to review their legislation.

In the Netherlands, a court has ruled against two non-
Dutch on-line betting companies and has prohibited them
from providing sports fixed-odds bets to customers in the
Netherlands. The Danish government has recently
enacted legislation which provides that bets cannot be
accepted from Danish citizens by anyone without a
Danish gambling licence. 

In contrast to these protectionist moves in some
European countries, the UK is pursuing a policy of liberali-
sation combined with closer regulation of the standards of
operators. Following an extensive Government review, pro-
posals have been made that would allow properly licensed
UK operators to accept bets from locations outside the UK.
Draft legislation has now been published which, if it
becomes law, would confirm the UK Government’s stated
policy of encouraging the UK to become a leading jurisdic-
tional base for the remote gambling industry.

Litigation

During 2003 the European Court of Justice issued a
ruling in a gaming related matter known as the Gambelli
ruling. In its judgment, the ECJ expressed the view that
the only justification for a country to place restrictions on
the European Union principle of the freedom to provide
services is where fundamental national interests such as
public health, public security or public policy require this.

The Directors consider that this judgment calls into
question the monopoly approach taken by several Euro-
pean governments and have commenced legal action
against the Swedish State in order to test this view.

The Directors cannot predict the outcome of the
action at this early stage. The action is being opposed by

RISK FACTORS 
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the Swedish Government. Success for the Group could
lead to the opening up of more markets in Europe over
time (although this could in turn also lead to increased
competition and downward pressure on profit margins). If
the Group loses the action, the Directors do not believe
that this would have a material effect on Unibet’s current
business. However, it could have a material adverse
impact on Unibet’s ability to grow its business in Sweden
and on its general growth prospects in those European
Union countries with monopolies in place.

The Group’s business model is materially dependent
on continuing to challenge the boundaries of monopoly
restrictions in key jurisdictions, particularly in Sweden and
the other Nordic countries. Prospective investors should
read “Legality of Marketing” below and must be aware
that the Group’s business could be materially adversely
affected by any change in law in any of Unibet’s main
jurisdictions of operation or by adverse rulings on existing
law or regulations being issued in those jurisdictions by
the relevant courts or regulatory bodies.

The Group’s business could also be adversely
affected by any future increases in the burden of regula-
tion in the jurisdictions where it holds its licenses. 

Other jurisdictions

Investors should be aware that the Directors have not
taken legal advice or made investigations in relation to the
position with regard to the Group’s activities in jurisdic-
tions where it does not have material customer numbers.
It is possible that, subject to the courts in the relevant
countries being able to establish jurisdiction, the Group’s
activities may constitute criminal or other offences in such
jurisdictions, exposing the Company, other Group compa-
nies, their Boards of Directors and/or others to sanctions,
the nature and magnitude of which the Directors are
unaware.

The Directors cannot predict when (or if) the regula-
tory regime in any jurisdiction may change, what changes
(if any) will be made and what effect (if any) such changes
will have on the Group’s activities. Investors should be
aware that such changes could have a significant adverse
effect on the Group’s business and financial position.

LEGALITY OF MARKETING
Unibet is dependent on various marketing channels in
order to retain and attract new active customers. Since
the Group operates in many countries where effective

state monopolies have historically been the only gaming
operators, the Group has often been at the forefront in
testing the legality of promoting its services.

To date, Unibet has used a wide range of media chan-
nels in the Nordic countries including television, print
media, commercial radio, banner advertising and sponsor-
ship. In preparation for the Listing the Directors have been
advised that the placing of advertising in London with TV3
and Kanal 5 for broadcast from the UK to Sweden does
not breach Swedish law. 

However, the Group has, in the past, advertised its
services by sponsoring Swedish sports teams and by
using Swedish based print and broadcast media. Since
the decision of the European Court of Justice in the
“Gambelli” case (see above), a number of the Group’s
competitors have commenced extensive marketing using
the Swedish media and parts of the Swedish media have
shown a willingness to accept such advertising. 

The Group’s business would be materially adversely
affected if its competitors were conducting widespread
domestic marketing in Sweden and the Group did not do
the same. Accordingly, the Group continues to market its
services in Sweden through a range of media including
Swedish newspapers and television channels which are
broadcast from within Sweden in addition to marketing via
TV3 and Kanal 5. The Group also sponsors activities with
respect to sports teams in Sweden.

The promotion via the Swedish media of on-line
gambling services which are not licensed in Sweden
constitutes a criminal offence under Swedish law as it
stands today. Since the “Gambelli” case, the Directors are
only aware of four actions which have been brought by
the Lotteriinspektionen alleging a breach of this criminal
law. The four actions are against Swedish newspapers
which published promotional material. Although Unibet is
one of the gambling companies which placed advertise-
ments in each of the four newspapers, no action has been
taken against the Group. 

The Directors have been advised by Professor Wahl of
Stockholm University that, in the event of a criminal
prosecution against the Group or any Director, officer or
employee of the Group, the Gambelli case would mean
that the person being prosecuted should, on balance,
have a strong likelihood of being able to establish a
successful defence to any accusation of wrongdoing.

This opinion does not cover certain marketing activi-
ties of the Group that took place before Malta became a
Member State of the EU on 1 May 2004. The “Gambelli”
case is only likely to be relevant in relation to disputes
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between citizens of, or companies incorporated in, EU
Member States and the Member State. However, given
that Malta is now a Member State and that a defence
based on “Gambelli” should be available for all current and
future marketing, the Directors believe that the risk of
prosecutions being commenced in the future in relation to
pre 1 May 2004 marketing activities has been reduced.
Investors should, however, be aware that such risk cannot
be wholly discounted and that the Gambelli-case may not
be available as a defence in relation to pre 1 May 2004
activities.

The Directors consider that, for so long as the Group’s
competitors continue to be able to promote their services
in Sweden, and for so long as the Swedish media feels
able to accept and publish such marketing, the Group will
also need to market itself through the domestic Swedish
media. In connection with the Listing, the Directors have
sought advice from Professor Wahl of Stockholm Univer-
sity who, as stated above, has expressed the view that,
after 1 May 2004 in the event of any criminal prosecution
against the Swedish media companies involved or any
Director, officer or employee of the Group in relation to its
Swedish marketing conducted after that date, the Gam-
belli case would mean that the person being prosecuted
should, on balance, be able to establish a successful
defence to any accusation of wrongdoing.

The Directors also intend to continue to pursue their
legal action against the Swedish State with the intention
of forcing a change in current Swedish law that would
remove any question about the legality of such marketing.
No assurance can be given however as to how long it may
take to resolve the Group’s action against the Swedish
State or to establish whether Gambelli provides a defence
to any criminal prosecution which may be launched in the
future.

The Directors will continue to explore the limits of the
Group’s ability to operate and promote its services in
Sweden and other key jurisdictions, as is evidenced by its
current legal challenge to the Swedish State. 

Prospective investors should be aware that this policy
may involve the Group in litigation in the future, the
outcome of which cannot be known. Such litigation could
be criminal or civil in nature and could involve the Group
in fines and/or the payment of damages and/or result in
Directors, officers or employees being fined and/or
imprisoned. Even if the Group is successful, extensive
litigation would be expensive and could distract manage-
ment from the running of the business.

There can be no assurance that media channels and
means of advertising used now or in the past will continue
to be available to the Group in the future. Such loss of
media channels could materially harm Unibet’s ability to
attract and retain customers and have a material adverse
impact on Unibet’s financial performance. Legal action
could have an adverse effect on the price of the SDRs
which may, in turn, to the extent that holders of SDRs are
also customers, damage the Group’s reputation and
adversely affect customer loyalty.

The Group’s only employee in Finland has been noti-
fied that he is subject to investigation by the Finnish
police in relation to a possible breach of Finland’s laws on
the running of lotteries and promotion of gaming. No
charges have been brought at this stage. The potential
breach involves the placement of Unibet advertisements
and other marketing in Finland and, if proven, could carry
criminal sanctions. The Directors believe that similar
investigations are being conducted into a number of other
gaming companies doing business in Finland.

It is too early to determine whether, as a result of their
investigations, the Finnish authorities will take any legal
action against this employee or attempt to take wider
action against the Group. The Finnish Supreme Court is
currently considering an appeal in relation to a different
gaming company, where the charges against that com-
pany were dismissed in the Court of Appeal which will
decide whether the Gambelli case requires the current
restrictions on the provision and promotion of gambling
services in Finland to be relaxed. The Group has no mate-
rial assets in Finland.

In addition, the Danish Prosecution Service is investi-
gating a consultant who provides services to Unibet in an
attempt to establish whether his activities have violated
Danish laws preventing the provision or promotion of
gambling services to Danish residents. The Prosecutor’s
Office has charged the consultant, but the case has been
suspended while the Prosecutor’s Office considers the
effect of the Gambelli case. The Prosecutor’s Office has
claimed that a fine should be imposed on the consultant.
So far as the Directors are aware no Group Company is
under investigation in Denmark and no action has been
taken against any Group Company. The Group has no
material assets in Denmark.

The Directors believe that the validity of the laws in
Finland and Denmark have been called into question by
the ruling in the Gambelli case and that, in the event of
any actions against the Group or its employees or agents,
Gambelli would provide a defence. However, such
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defence may not be available in respect of the offences
under investigation to the extent that they took place prior
to Malta becoming an EU Member State on 1 May 2004. 

In the event that further action is taken either in Fin-
land or Denmark, this could, if successful, result in fines
for any guilty party and, in Finland, could result in the con-
fiscation of historic profits made by the Group in Finland.
These profits are not material in proportion to the Group’s
overall profitability. Such actions could also adversely
affect the Group’s reputation and/or prevent the Group
from marketing and/or operating in these jurisdictions.
This would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
results and operations.

DEPENDENCE ON REGULATORY
LICENCES
The Group’s betting activities are licensed in both the UK
and Malta. The Board of Directors believe the Group has
good relationship with the relevant regulatory authorities
and foresees no reason why the Group will not receive
renewal of such licenses in the future. However, there can
be no guarantee that any renewal of these licenses will
not be on terms which are less favourable to the Group. If
these licenses were terminated, not renewed or renewed
on less favourable terms, the Board of Directors would
consider seeking licences in different jurisdictions. There
can be no guarantee that the Group would be able to
obtain licenses in other jurisdictions or that any such
licenses could be obtained on similar terms for the Group. 

The Group’s Maltese licence has been renewed on a
monthly basis pending the introduction of new remote
gaming regulations (the “Regulations”) in Malta. The Reg-
ulations became law on 20 April 2004. The Group had
consulted with the Maltese authorities during the drafting
of these Regulations and the Directors have no reason to
believe that the adoption of the Regulations would
adversely impact the Group’s business or operations. The
Group will now seek a longer term licence under the new
Regulations and the Directors expect this to be granted
shortly.

The Regulations also mean that the provider of the
Group’s casino services must base servers for those serv-
ices in Malta. There is a transitional period of six months
following the introduction of the Regulations during which
the provider of these services is expected to be able to
meet any Maltese regulatory requirements. Alternatively,
the Directors believe that a new provider of casino
services could be put in place in a matter of a few weeks.

However, failure to put in place arrangements which
enable casino services to be offered in a manner compat-
ible with the Group’s Maltese licence within the permitted
timeframe could endanger the continuation of that licence
and/or require the Group to discontinue its casino
services. 

DEPENDENCE ON OTHERS FOR
CASINO SERVICES
The Group’s casino services are made available under
arrangements with Net Entertainment NE AB. The Group
is therefore dependent on its contractual partner to
ensure that it has the necessary resources and is comply-
ing with the necessary local regulatory requirements, both
in Costa Rica and elsewhere, for the provision of such
services to its customers. In the event that this contract is
terminated or that casino services cease to be provided
for any reason, Unibet’s business could be materially
adversely affected. However, the Directors believe that an
alternative provider could be put in place in a matter of a
few weeks.

KEY EXECUTIVES AND PERSONNEL
The business of the Group is dependent on the expertise
and continued service of certain key executives and
specialists. The Group’s ability to expand its operations
will also depend on its ability to attract and retain suffi-
cient qualified personnel, particularly within areas such as
business development, risk management and odds
compilation. There is a general shortage of highly skilled
personnel within these fields and this may create an
increase in wages in the sector during the years to come. 

DEPENDENCE ON PAYMENT
PROCESSING SYSTEMS
The Group’s ability to accept credit and debit card bets
placed by customers is dependent on its agreement with
Royal Bank of Scotland. This agreement enables the
Group to access Streamline, Royal Bank of Scotland’s
global payment processing system. If these arrangements
were terminated, not renewed, or renewed on less
favourable terms, the Directors would seek to enter into
alternative arrangements with another provider or
providers to achieve similar coverage. There can be no
guarantee that this would be possible. Even a short
disruption to this service would have a material adverse
impact on Unibet’s business and financial performance.
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The Group’s customers mainly use credit and debit
cards to transfer funds to their accounts with Unibet.
During 2002, certain US-based card issuing institutions
decided to limit the use of their credit cards for internet
gambling transactions. The Group does not currently
register customers who are resident in the US and thus is
not affected by these credit card limitations. However, in
the event that some or all of the major card schemes or
card issuing companies decide not to accept payment
transactions for betting or internet gambling operations in
some or all of the countries where Unibet has customers,
the Group’s financial performance would be materially
adversely affected.

The Group’s arrangements with Royal Bank of
Scotland do not currently involve the Group providing any
cash collateral as security in the event of a Group mem-
ber becoming insolvent. Royal Bank of Scotland or any
alternative service provider may require security in the
future which could have an adverse effect on the Group’s
working capital position.

Although credit card issuing institutions do not
currently insist on the Group providing a retention of cash
to protect the card issuers against credit risk (a so-called
rolling reserve), there can be no assurance that this may
not occur in the future and this could also have a negative
impact on the Group’s working capital position. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK
The exchange rates between GBP and other currencies
have fluctuated in recent years and may in the future
fluctuate significantly. These fluctuations, particularly in
respect of GBP/SEK, may, in the future, have a material
affect on the Group’s results, operations and financial
position and may significantly affect the comparability of
its results between financial periods. 

The extent of this risk has to be considered in the
following context. Unibet trades in many different
currencies, but primary inflows are received in GBP, whilst
outflows comprise mainly SEK, NOK, DKK and EUR.
During 2003 the GBP inflow totalled GBP 24 million. The
outflow of SEK equated to some GBP 9 million over the
year.

The outflows from Unibet are less predictable than the
inflows. The currency required for the outflow depends on
where the winning customer resides. The amount of the
outflow depends on the size of the customers’ winnings
and the timing of the outflow depends on which events
the customers win on. Clearly, these factors make pre-

dicting the precise exposure problematical. At present the
currency outflows required are converted into the specific
currencies as and when the need arises. Unibet currently
adopts a template for conversion of GBP receipts
(inflows) into the predicted currencies (outflows) required.
At the same time, Unibet is negotiating multi-currency
credit card facilities, which will also help to reduce this
exposure.

SEASONALITY
The major part of the Group’s business, i.e. the sports
betting business, depends on the seasons for key sports,
such as the major football leagues in Europe, major golf
and tennis tournaments as well as ice hockey leagues in
the Nordic countries and US. The seasonality of these
events results in fluctuations in the Group’s quarterly
performance. 

RELIABILITY OF MARKET STATISTICS
Many of the market statistics quoted in this document and
relied upon by the Directors in reaching their own
estimates of the size and growth potential of the global
and local gambling and on-line gambling markets may not
be wholly reliable. Although the Directors have sought to
use reputable and reliable sources and to use more than
one source wherever possible, verifiable, public informa-
tion about the nature and extent of gambling is not always
available and much of what is published relates to finan-
cial periods that ended two or more years ago. Whilst the
Directors have exercised care in the selection and use of
such data, prospective investors should be aware that it is
unverified and may not present an accurate picture of the
markets it describes or their growth potential.

DEPENDENCE ON THE INTERNET
The internet continues to experience substantial growth
both in terms of the number of users and the quantity of
data it supports. The rate at which internet use will
increase will depend on a number of factors, including the
speed at which technological improvements can reduce
the cost of access; enhance the ease and speed of use,
increase the capacity and reliability of the infrastructure
and increase the level of consumer and business confi-
dence in the security and reliability of internet based
transactions. As the Group’s major distribution channel is
the internet, disturbances on the internet such as viruses,
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attacks by computer hackers or a general decrease in
speed of internet connections due to capacity problems
may have material adverse affect on the Group’s business,
particularly if such disturbances occur often and continue
over time.

Any publicised security problems affecting 
e-commerce companies could inhibit the growth of
internet-based commerce and cause Unibet’s existing
customers to stop using its services. The secure trans-
mission of confidential information over the internet, and
the security of Unibet’s systems in general, are essential
in maintaining consumer and supplier confidence in its
services. The Group relies on licensed encryption and
authentication technology to secure transmission of
confidential information, including credit card numbers.

There have been instances where unidentified third
parties have individually or collectively taken action to
deliberately disrupt the operations of major commercial
web sites similar to the Group’s. Together with a number
of other on-line gambling companies, Unibet has recently
experienced disruption of its web site by unidentified
parties using DDoS attacks. These have slowed customer
access to the web site for periods of a few days. The
Group is actively taking measures to reduce the risks from
such attacks. However, if similar action were taken
against Unibet’s web site in the future this may limit the
Group’s ability to operate its web site and damage the
systems which the Group uses to operate its business.
This could have a negative impact on Unibet’s reputation
and turnover. A party that is able to circumvent the
Group’s security systems could steal proprietary informa-
tion. Security breaches could also expose the Group to a
risk of loss or litigation and possible liability. In the event
of a security breach, the extent to which the Group may
be able to claim against its firewall provider for any losses
suffered by it arising out of a failure of its firewall is lim-
ited and may be insufficient to repair the Group’s com-
puter systems or recover its losses.

SYSTEMS FAILURES AND BREACHES 
OF SECURITY 
The Group’s operations are highly dependent on technol-
ogy and information systems. The Group’s IT-infrastruc-
ture and thus its operations are vulnerable to damage or
interruption from events which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as natural disasters, telecommunications
failure or external data network failure. In the event of
such disasters or failures, the Group’s business continuity

procedures would take effect. These include a back-up
web site in the UK which mirrors the database information
securely over the internet from the production web sites
in Malta and London. The back-up web site may, after a
couple of hours, takes over as the production site for
Malta and/or London, without the loss of any transactions. 

A description of the IT infrastructure, IT security and
back-up procedures is set out in section Business of
Unibet of this document.

DATA PROTECTION
The Group’s business involves the acquisition and use of
personal data of customers, advertisers and employees.
The Group also utilise “cookies”, which contain personal
data in order to:

● Direct the customer to the correct language page of
the web site and therefore avoid the need for the
customer to manually select the appropriate language
each time the web site is accessed;

● Ensure that when a customer is logged into the site,
there is a secure and encrypted dialogue with that
customer and no one else; and

● Handle bonus payments within marketing campaigns.

The processing and use of such data and cookies is
constrained by legislation in the European Union the UK
and Malta. Recent developments in law and regulation in
these areas have imposed additional compliance costs
and new restrictions on the Group’s ability to use personal
data and cookies. There can be no assurance that the
burden of these costs and restrictions will not increase
over time. A fuller description of the developments in
relation to data protection is set out in the section
“Business of Unibet”.

REGULATION OF THE INTERNET 
Failure to comply with relevant internet and e-commerce
legislation or regulation may leave the Group open to civil
and criminal sanctions. E-commerce is new and rapidly
changing, and regulation relating to the internet and
e-commerce is evolving. Currently, there are few laws or
regulations directly applicable to the internet or e-com-
merce. Due to the increasing popularity of the internet, it
is possible that such laws and regulations may be enacted
to cover issues such as customer privacy; pricing; taxation;
content; copyright; distribution; antitrust and the quality of
products and services. Additionally, the rapid growth of



57

RISK FACTORS

e-commerce may trigger the development of tougher
consumer protection laws. The adoption of additional laws
or regulations relating to the internet could reduce the
rate of growth of e-commerce and could harm the Group’s
business both directly and indirectly.

Due to the global nature of the internet, it is possible
that, although the servers and infrastructure used to
provide the Group’s services are based in Malta and the
UK and transmission by Unibet of the content over the
internet originates only from Malta and the UK, the
governments of other countries might attempt to regulate
the content of Unibet’s web site or transmissions using
the Group’s services or might attempt to prosecute Unibet
for violations of that country’s laws. Any legislation or
regulation prescribing the content of Unibet’s web site or
transmission, the application of laws or regulations from
jurisdictions whose laws do not currently apply to the
Group’s business, or the application to the internet and
other on-line services of laws and regulations which do
not currently apply to them, could make it difficult for
Unibet to operate its business. 

COMPETITION
The Group faces competition from a variety of gambling
companies, both national monopolies with a dominant
market share of overall gambling in their domestic market,
as well as local and international on-line gambling
companies. The pace of competition is increasing and
de-regulation of local monopolies would be likely to
increase both the number of competitors and the
pressure on margins leading to factors such as quality and
product offering becoming more important. There can be
no assurance that competition in the future will not have
a material adverse affect on the Group’s margins and
customer numbers. The Group’s continued investment in
its systems and new product releases may not result in
improved operating profits for the Group as they might be
matched or bettered by competitors.

LACK OF PRIOR PUBLIC MARKET 
FOR THE ORDINARY SHARES
Prior to the Offering, there was no public market for the
Ordinary Shares. Once the Ordinary Shares as
represented by SDRs have been approved for listing on

the O-list of Stockholmsbörsen, there can be no
assurances regarding the future development of a market
for the SDRs, the ability of holders of the SDRs to sell
their SDRs or the price of any such sale. There is no
current intention to create a public market for Ordinary
Shares, which are not in the form of SDRs.

SHARE PRICE VOLATILITY AND
LIQUIDITY
The trading price of the SDRs may be volatile and subject
to wide fluctuations. The SDR price may fluctuate as a
result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside
the Company’s control. These factors may include:

● Period-to-period variations in operating results;
● Changes in sales or profit estimates by the Group;
● Whether the strong relationship between major sport-

ing events and increased betting activity continues in
the future;

● Developments in the regulatory environment within
those markets that the Group considers to be its
priority markets or which may become priority markets
in the future;

● Speculation about Unibet in the press or in the invest-
ment community; or

● General market conditions.

ADDITIONAL CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
TO FUND OPERATIONS AND FINANCE
GROWTH
The Board of Directors believe that, based on the Group’s
current financial position, strategies and objectives,
expected growth and the estimated net proceeds from the
Offering, there will be sufficient capital available to fund
the Group’s operations for the foreseeable future.
However, if the Group’s working capital needs exceed
current expectations or if growth opportunities arise,
either through strategic acquisitions or organic growth,
the Group may need to raise additional capital from equity
or debt sources. Further equity financing may be dilutive
to existing shareholders or result in the issuance of
securities, which in one or more ways will rank ahead of
the SDRs.
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The parent company of the Group is a UK registered com-
pany and as such the consolidated Group financial state-
ments have historically been prepared in accordance with
UK law and accounting standards (UK GAAP). As a con-
sequence of Unibet applying for a listing in Sweden the
financial statements as presented in this document have
been restated according to International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS). In 2005 all public companies within
the EU will have to adopt IFRS in their financial reporting,
and therefore Unibet has elected to restate its historical
financial statements from its inception in August 2000
according to IFRS. The main reason for this is to be able
to present figures for the period 2001 to 2003 that can
be more accurately compared with the financial reporting
in the future. Reconciliations between the IFRS financial
in this document to the Group’s original UK GAAP
financial statements can be found in the section entitled
“Financial Statements IFRS”. The IFRS conversion adjust-
ments have been audited by the Group’s external auditors.

IFRS differ in certain respects from accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in Sweden (Swedish GAAP). For
a discussion of certain key differences between IFRS and
Swedish GAAP, see the section entitled “Summary of key
differences between IFRS and Swedish GAAP”.

Unibet will, on a quarterly basis, issue interim reports
in the format stipulated by IFRS (IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting). IAS 34 is similar to the equivalent Swedish
Standard (RR 20). In addition, Unibet will fulfil all other
standard reporting requirements outlined in the listing
agreement with Stockholmsbörsen. Unibet will also issue
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS on
an annual basis.

However, due to UK regulations, Unibet is obliged to
file statutory financial statements in accordance with UK
GAAP up until 2005. The shareholders of Unibet will
therefore have to adopt these statutory financial state-
ments at the Annual General Meeting. Unibet will there-
fore, up until 2005, provide its shareholders with two sets
of financial statements. In addition, reconciliations
between UK GAAP and IFRS will be provided.

Financial reporting according to IFRS will be provided
in the English and Swedish languages.

The consolidated financial statements and key
figures presented in this document are based on the
audited statutory financial statements for the two years
ended 31 December 2003 and 2002, and the 17 months
ended 31 December 2001. The 17-month audited statu-
tory financial statements have been split to reflect the
results from the 5 months to 31 December 2000 and the
year ended 31 December 2001. This has been done to
facilitate better comparability of the Group’s results on an
annual basis. Unibet was established (in its current legal
form) in August 2000. Any financial information referred
to before that day refers to the predecessor of Unibet,
now known as Unibet (London) Limited. This is why finan-
cial statements have not been presented for the past five
years as commonly accepted for prospectuses in relation
to a listing on Stockholmsbörsen.

The consolidated financial statements and other
financial information should be read in conjunction with
the section entitled “Comments to the financial develop-
ment”.
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT ACCORDING TO IFRS
Year ended 31 December

2003 2002 2001 
Currency: GBP ’000 (Pro forma)

Revenue 143,542 102 134 52,655 

Cost of sales1 (131,554) (93,131) (50,073)

Gross profit 11,988 9,003 2,582 

Other operating income – –  9 

Administrative expenses (8,214) (7,814) (4,119)

Profit/(Loss) from operations 3,774 1,189 (1,528)

Finance costs (25) (100) (28)

Income from investments 113 43 37 

Profit/(Loss) before tax 3,862 1,132 (1,519)

Income tax expense (982) (56) (55)

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX 2,880 1,076 (1,574)

1 Cost of sales per the Group’s statutory accounts as above includes Betting Duties. Refer to the gambling terminology and the concept of betting in the section –
“Gambling Terminology” in this document for further explanation. 
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SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET ACCORDING TO IFRS
31 December

Currency: GBP ’000 2003 2002 2001

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible 834 842 977 

Intangible 657 444 320 

Other 9 –  –  

1,500 1,286 1,297 
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,555 4,917 2,263 

Other 330 251 178 

8,885 5,168 2,441 

TOTAL ASSETS 10,385 6,454 3,738 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 111 111 105 

Other reserves 2,963 3,185 2,188 

Accumulated profits 1,762 (1,118) (2,195)

4,836 2,178 98 
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans –  –  1,000 

Other 872 131 90 

872 131 1,090 
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans –  1,000 –  

Other 4,677 3,145 2,550 

4,677 4,145 2,550 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 10,385 6,454 3,738 
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Year ended 31 December

2003 2002 2001
Currency: GBP ’000 (Pro forma)

Net cash from operating activities 5,909 2,252 490

Net cash used in investing activities (981) (571) (948)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (1,228) 1,000 1,659 

Net increase in cash 3,700 2,681 1,201

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,917 2,263 1,050 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (62)  (27) 12

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 8,555 4,917 2,263 

KEY FIGURES ACCORDING TO IFRS
Year ended 31 December

2003 2002 2001
(Pro forma)

Total capital, GBP ’000 10,385 6,454 3,738 

Capital employed, GBP ’000 4,836 3,178 1,098 

Return on total capital, % 44.8 23.3 neg.

Return on capital employed, % 94.2 55.6 neg.

Return on equity, % 82.1 94.6 neg.

Gross profit margin, % 8.4 8.8 4.9 

Operating margin, % 2.6 1.2 (2.9)

Profit after tax margin, % 2.0 1.1 (3.0)

Acid test ratio, x 1.9 1.2 1.0 

Equity/assets ratio, % 46.6 33.7 2.6 

Debt/equity ratio, x 0.0 0.5 10.2 

Proportion of risk-bearing capital, % 55.0 35.8 5.0 

Interest cover, x 155.5 12.3 (53.3)

Working capital as a proportion of revenue, % (3.0) (2.8) (4.5)

Rate of capital turnover, x 17.0 20.0 16.2 

Investments, GBP ’000 1,135 614 985 

Average no. of employees 75 64 45 1

Value added per average employee, GBP ’000 84 45 (8)

Salary and remuneration excluding social security costs, GBP ’000 2,302 1,508 1,067 

1 Taken from the UK GAAP statutory financial statements for the 17 months to 31 December 2001. Comparable data in accordance with the definitions on page 64 for the
12 months ended 31 December 2001 is not available. The figure for the 12-month period is not significantly different to the figure shown above.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW



63

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

SHARE DATA
For the purposes of this table the figures are presented as
if a two to one (2:1) reverse share split has already taken
place. Thus these numbers will not tally with the statutory
accounts. Furthermore, in order to compare the most
recent movements in share data, the figures for the first

quarter of 2004 and their comparatives have been shown
below. For more details of the Group’s performance and
financial position as at 31 March 2004 please refer to the
Interim report, January – March 2004, in this document.

Year ended 31 December January–March

2003 2002 2001 2004 2003
(Pro forma)

Before completion of the Offering
Earnings per share, fully diluted, GBP1 0.489 0.205 (0.288) 0.357 0.199

Earnings per share, fully diluted, SEK1,4 6.29 2.64 (3.70) 4.59 2.56 

Shareholders' equity per share, fully diluted, GBP6 0.840 0.363 0.017 1.187 0.558

Shareholders' equity per share, fully diluted, SEK6,4 10.81 4.67 0.22 15.28 7.18 

Dividend per share, fully diluted, GBP1 – – – – – 

Dividend per share, fully diluted, SEK1,4 – – – – – 

Weighted average no. of shares for 

the period, thousand 5,559 5,266 5,237 5,559 5,559

Weighted average no. of shares for 

the period, fully diluted, thousand5 5,932 5,715 5,438 5,757 6,004

Number of shares at period end, thousand 5,559 5,559 5,237 5,559 5,559

Number of shares at period end, fully diluted, thousand6 5,757 6,008 5,679 5,801 6,040

After completion of the Offering
Earnings per share, fully diluted, after completion 

of the Offering, GBP1,2 0.461

Earnings per share, fully diluted, after completion 

of the Offering, SEK1,2,4 5.93  

Shareholders' equity per share, fully diluted, after 

completion of the Offering, GBP2 1.645

Shareholders' equity per share, fully diluted, 

after completion of the Offering, SEK2,4 21.17  

P/E ratio after completion of the Offering1,2,3 22.8

Price/equity ratio after completion of the Offering, %2,3 637.7

Weighted average no. of shares for the period, fully diluted, 

after completion of the Offering, thousand 6,636

1  Based on the fully diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the relevant period.
2  Calculated as if the new issue was implemented at 1 January 2003. The interest on the new proceeds of GBP 5.6 million (after deduction of listing and issue expenses of

approximately GBP 1.75 million) affects profit after standard tax for 2003 by GBP 0.16 million. An interest rate of 4 per cent. and a tax rate of 30 per cent. have been assumed. 
The new issue proceeds have been added to shareholders' equity at 31 December 2003. 

3  Based on the initial public offering price of GBP 10.49/SEK 135 per SDR.
4  Translated from GBP as per the rate used throughout the document as disclosed on page 1.
5  The number of shares on a diluted base are historically adjusted pro rata for the impact of the re-negotiation of the share option scheme.
6  Represents the diluted number of shares at year end taking into account any securites with a potentential dilutive effect held at the specific period end.
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DEFINITIONS 
The majority of the definitions below are based on calculations
made using the Group’s statutory profit and loss account and
balance sheet as shown on pages 103 and 104 and therefore the
same terminology contained therein has been used for ease of
reference.

Acid test ratio
Current assets divided by current liabilities.

Average no. of employees
Average number of employees based on headcounts at the month
end.

Capital employed
Total assets less non-interest-bearing liabilities.

Debt/equity ratio
Interest-bearing liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity.

Dividend per share
Dividends paid divided by the fully diluted weighted average number
of Ordinary Shares for the period.

Earnings per share, fully diluted, before completion 
of the Offering
Profit/(loss) after tax adjusted for any effects of dilutive potential
Ordinary Shares divided by the fully diluted weighted average number
of Ordinary Shares for the period.

Earnings per share, fully diluted, after completion 
of the Offering
Calculated assuming that all share options have been exercised. An
estimated return of 4 per cent. of the subscription proceeds less 30
per cent. tax has been posted to net earnings, whereupon the
adjusted earnings has been divided by the average number of
Ordinary Shares.

Equity/assets ratio
Shareholders’ equity as a percentage of total assets.

Gross profit margin
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue.

Interest cover
Profit/(loss) from operations plus income from investments divided by
finance losts.

Investments
Total tangible and intangible capital expenditure.

No. of active customers
Number of active customers is defined as total registered customers
who have placed a bet with Unibet during the last 90 days.

No. of registered customers
Number of registered customers means the total number of cus-
tomers on Unibet’s customer base.

Operating margin
Profit/(loss) from operations as a percentage of revenue.

P/E ratio after completion of the Offering
Price/Earnings ratio; calculated as average price per share in the
Offering in relation to fully diluted earnings per share after completion
of the Offering. 

Price/equity ratio after completion of the Offering
Average price per share in the Offering in relation to fully diluted
shareholders’ equity per share after completion of the Offering. [this
will need reviewing after the calculation is confirmed with H&Q, and
should relate to the calculation and footnotes in the share data table 

Profit after tax margin
Profit/(loss) after tax as a percentage of revenue.

Proportion of risk-bearing capital
Shareholders’ equity plus deferred tax liability as a percentage of total
assets.

Rate of capital turnover
Revenue divided by average total assets.

Return on capital employed
Profit/(loss) from operations as a percentage of average capital
employed.

Return on equity
Profit/(loss) after tax as a percentage of average shareholders’
equity.

Return on total capital
Profit/(loss) from operations as a percentage of average total assets.

Salary and remuneration excluding social security costs
All salaries and other form of remuneration payable to employees and
company officers excluding any related social security costs.

Shareholders’ equity
Total assets less total liabilities; also commonly referred to as total
equity or equity.

Shareholders’ equity per share, fully diluted, before completion of
the Offering
Shareholders’ equity divided by the fully diluted number of Ordinary
Shares at the year end.

Shareholders’ equity per share, fully diluted, after completion of the
Offering
Shareholders’ equity after the Offering divided by the fully diluted
number of Ordinary Shares after completion of the Offering out-
standing at the year end. 

Total capital 
Total capital is equal to total assets or balance sheet total.

Value added per average employee
Profit/(loss) from operations plus salaries and related costs divided
by the average number of employees. Salaries and related costs are
calculated as all salaries and other form of remuneration payable to
employees and company officers plus any related social security
costs.

Weighted average no. of shares
Calculated as the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares out-
standing during the year, and shown as if a two to one (2:1) reverse
share split has already taken place and been applied to all periods.

Weighted average no. of shares, fully diluted
Calculated as the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares
outstanding and potentially outstanding (i.e. including the effects of
exercising all share options and converting all convertible loan notes)
during the year, and shown as if a two to one (2:1) reverse share split
has already taken place and been applied to all periods.

Weighted average no. of shares, fully diluted, after completion of the
Offering
Calculated as the fully diluted weighted average number of Ordinary
Shares during the period, shown as if a two to one (2:1) reverse share
split has already taken place and been applied to all periods and
based on the Offering being fully subscribed.

Working capital as a proportion of revenue 
Current assets less cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-
bearing current liabilities as a percentage of revenue.
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INTRODUCTION
Turnover from the core sports betting business of Unibet
has grown continually over the past three financial years.
The growth in Turnover is largely experienced all across
Unibet’s geographical markets, and the Group has contin-
ued to concentrate on the Nordic region. The losses made
in 2001 were turned around in 2002. This was done by a
combination of maintaining growth, setting odds at
competitive but rewarding margins and thus controlling
Gross Winnings. Overhead costs and marketing costs

were also successfully controlled. The Group benefited
from significant organic growth during 2002 due to the
high growth of the internet in general and internet gam-
bling in particular. During these periods of growth, profit
after tax has also increased, from a negative GBP 1.6 mil-
lion in 2001 to a positive GBP 1.1 million in 2002. The
further expansion in 2003 has brought the profit after tax
to GBP 2.9 million, equating to a profit after tax margin of
2.0 per cent..

COMMENTS TO 

THE FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Trading overview
2003 % of revenue 2002 % of revenue 2001 % of revenue

Currency: GBP ’000 (Pro forma)

Turnover 143,542 100.0 102,134 100.0 52,655 100.0 

Gross Winnings 13,004 9.1 9,484 9.3 2,847 5.4 

Gross profit 11,988 8.4 9,003 8.8 2,582 4.9 

Profit/(loss) from operations 3,774 2.6 1,189 1.2 (1,528) (2.9)

Profit/(loss) after tax 2,880 2.0 1,076 1.1 (1,574) (3.0)

TURNOVER
Unibet’s Turnover is derived from two main sources of
on-line gambling: sports betting, where customers are
offered odds on predicting the results of a wide variety of
sporting events, and non-sports betting. Sports betting
Turnover represents the total amount of bets placed by
customers on events that have taken place during the
year. This does not equate to cash inflows from customers
placing bets, as Turnover includes monies that are
recycled several times when new bets are placed from
customers’ winnings or unused deposits. Non-sports

betting Turnover relates to Turnover earned from the
Group’s recently launched casino products. The non-
sports betting Turnover is accounted for in accordance
with industry practice as the ‘net’ of transfers in and out of
the casino, i.e. the winnings of the casino as opposed to
total bets placed.

Unibet discloses Turnover and other key financial data
by their business and geographical segments as shown
below. Note that non-sports betting did not commence
until November 2003.

Turnover per segment
2003 2003 2003 2002 2001

Sports Non-sports (Pro forma)
Currency: GBP ’000 betting betting Total Total Total

Sweden 66,193 760 66,953 57,497 36,720 

Rest of Nordic 35,392 313 35,705 20,965 4,494 

Other 40,751 133 40,884 23,672 11,441 

Total 142,336 1,206 143,542 102,134 52,655 

The business segment is based on business activities
being divided into sports betting and non-sports betting
as described above, while the geographical analysis is
based on the country in which the customer resides.
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2001

The impact from countries outside Sweden started to
show, especially from the other Nordic countries. The
significant growth of the on-line gambling market coupled
with it being the first year of radio and TV advertising for
the Group resulted in a large number of new customers.

2002

The dominant event during the year was the football World
Cup in the month of June, which was one of the most
important events for the industry in general. The month of
June was an all time high for Unibet. The Turnover in
2002 was GBP 49.5 million higher than in 2001, which
equated to an increase of 94.0 per cent..

2003

Early stage growth continued in the comparatively lesser-
penetrated geographical segments. Introduction of a
CRM system resulted in targeted marketing campaigns to
existing customers increasing the from that segment. The
Turnover in 2003 was GBP 41.4 million higher than in
2002, which equated to an increase of 40.5 per cent..

SEASONALITY
Turnover follows a seasonal pattern largely in relation to
the European football seasons. Customer’s betting on
football is one of Unibet’s main sources of income. The
concentration of activity in Sweden and the other Nordic
countries also means that summer months are generally
quieter. Other variations in sales over the years occur
because certain events are not staged every year, such as
the football World Cup (see June 2002 below). It is
anticipated that the growth of the non-sports betting seg-
ment will help reduce the effects of seasonality in the
future.

GROSS WINNINGS
Gross Winnings represent the net receipt of bets and pay-
outs for each period presented. The Gross Winnings are
shown per business and geographical segments as
described above. The business segments are sports
betting and non-sports betting. For the non-sports betting
segment, Gross Winnings equate to the net of transfers in
and out of the casino less any commission and transac-
tion costs payable. Gross Winnings are not presented as
a separate line item in Unibet’s statutory format profit and
loss accounts. Instead, the Group presents Gross Profit,
which is essentially calculated by deducting Betting
Duties from Gross Winnings. This is discussed in more
detail later in this section.

Given the inherent nature of the business, where the
odds compilation and trading have a direct impact on the
ability to maintain calculated average margins, Gross
Winnings Margin can be volatile. This is common within
the gambling industry. Regardless of implemented control
systems the Group employs on a day-to-day, event-to-
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event, month-to-month basis, low or negative Gross
Winnings Margins will always be an inherent risk due to
the inexact science of setting betting odds and the possi-
bility of unpredictable sporting results. However, the
rolling twelve month Gross Winnings Margin has
remained between 6.8 per cent. and 9.7 per cent. from
January 2002 to December 2003. 

2001

During this year Unibet experienced two months with neg-
ative Gross Winnings as a result of a dependency on
Swedish customers all placing bets on the same events
early in the year, along with unfavourable outcomes of
certain events. Gross Winnings of GBP 2.8 million were
recorded for the year, which equated to 5.3 per cent. of
Turnover.

2002

Organic growth, many favourable results in the football
World Cup and a better spread of the risk over several
geographical markets resulted in Gross Winnings of GBP
9.5 million, which equated to 9.3 per cent. of Turnover.

2003

Continued organic growth, together with a restructuring of
the gaming department into odds compilation and traders
resulted in a strong performance from sports betting in
general. In combination with the launch of the casino in
Q4, the Group achieved Gross Winnings of GBP 13.0 mil-
lion, which equated to 9.1 per cent. of Turnover.

Gross Profit

The Group’s statutory format profit and loss account
shows revenue less Cost of Sales equalling Gross Profit.
As mentioned above, Gross Profit essentially equates to
Gross Winnings less Betting Duties. Cost of Sales per the
statutory financial statements therefore broadly repre-
sents payouts to customers plus Betting Duties, whereas
elsewhere in this document Cost of Sales does not
include Betting Duties. Refer to the section – “Gambling
Terminology” in this document.

Betting Duties

Betting Duties are payable in the Group’s two trading
locations: UK and Malta. The betting duty in the UK is
currently 15 per cent. on Gross Winnings. The Turnover in
Malta is subject to 0.5 per cent. betting duty payable on a
monthly basis. 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Administrative expenses include all indirect costs of
running the business and are a combination of activity
related costs and fixed costs. The above demonstrates
that despite the significant growth, the Group has been
able to control costs, with administrative costs falling from
7.8 per cent. of Turnover to 5.7 per cent. from 2001 to
2003.

Marketing increased noticeably from 2001 to 2002,
which is in line with the Group’s expansion. The subse-
quent reduction in 2003 is largely a result of a more cost

Gross Winnings by segment
2003 2003 2003 2002 2001

Sports Non-sports (Pro forma)
Currency: GBP ’000 betting betting Total Total Total

Sweden 7,315 684 7,999 6,795 2,386 

Rest of Nordic 3,170 282 3,452 1,953 187 

Other 1,433 120 1,553 736 274 

Total 11,918 1,086 13,004 9,484 2,847 

Administrative expenses
Currency: GBP ’000 2003 % of revenue 2002 % of revenue 2001 % of revenue

(Pro forma)

Marketing 2,666 1.9 3,154 3.1 767 1.5 

Salaries and related costs 2,528 1.8 1,665 1.6 1,169 2.2 

Other 3,020 2.1 2,995 2.9 2,183 4.1 

Total 8,214 5.7 7,814 7.7 4,119 7.8 
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effective mix of different types of marketing media, as well
as a discontinued focus on the UK market following a
change in strategy.

It should be noted that marketing and certain over-
heads such as salary and recruitment costs of new
employees are, to a large extent, discretionary and as
such are good safety valves for the Group's cash position
and EBIT levels.

The increase in salaries and related costs is largely
due to additional staffing levels in all areas (IT, gaming,
marketing, event scheduling, call centre, finance/adminis-
tration and management) and increased average salaries
following the strengthening of the management team
through the recruitment of additional executives. During
the period 2001 to 2003 the year-end average number of
employees increased from 45 to 75.

Other administrative expenses mainly consist of con-
sulting costs, cost of premises, communication related
costs and depreciation and are largely semi-fixed in
nature. The increase in 2002 from 2001 of approximately
GBP 0.8 million is largely an effect of increased hardware
and software capacity to cope with new volumes of
business, and other general overheads associated with a
growing business. In 2003, these costs have remained
largely constant due to their semi-fixed nature.

Following changes in the VAT regime in Malta from 1
May 2004, on the occasion of its accession to the EU,
certain costs which are incurred by the Group in the UK
and recharged to Malta under transfer pricing arrange-
ments will bear irrecoverable Maltese VAT at 18 per cent.
Had these VAT provisions applied in 2003, the cost for
the Group would have increased by approximately GBP
1.2 million. Any Maltese VAT payments made by the Group
will be deductible for Maltese corporation tax. The Direc-
tors have taken steps which they believe will materially
reduce the impact of this VAT cost in the short term and
are examining ways of mitigating its longer term impact.
The Directors believe that the materiality of this VAT cost
to the Group will diminish over time.

FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME FROM
INVESTMENTS
The finance costs relate to the interest payable on a loan
that was issued in September 2001 and repaid early in
March 2003. Income from investments relates to interest
received on bank balances. 

TAXES
Prior to 2003, Unibet experienced effective tax rates as
low as 5 per cent.. These apparently low tax rates resulted
from previous years’ losses, which for tax purposes have
been carried forward and utilised where possible as profits
crystallised. Losses carried forward were not fully capi-
talised as deferred tax assets prior to utilisation, as the level
of future profits could not be estimated at the time the
losses were made. The majority of trading losses have
however been utilised as at 31 December 2003, apart from
GBP 0.6 million in relation to the Group’s UK trading sub-
sidiary. It is not expected that the Group will be able to fully
utilise these losses in the near future. The effective tax rate
for the Group going forward is expected to approach 30
per cent., the current UK corporation tax rate, based on the
assumption that the majority of lowly-taxed profits in Malta
are required to be repatriated back to the UK.

BALANCE SHEET
Unibet’s balance sheet reflects both the Group’s growth in
profitability and its ability to manage working capital. The
growing cash position shown below is largely a result of
these two factors. As is common in the bookmaking
industry, the Group employs a strategy of ensuring
customer deposits are received before bets can be placed
and therefore both customer balances and cash held have
increased with the growth in Turnover. These two line
items, along with reserves, are the largest items on the
balance sheet.

31 December

Currency: GBP ’000 2003 2002 2001

Non-current assets 1,500 1,286 1,297 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,555 4,917 2,263 

Other 330 251 178 

Total assets 10,385 6,454 3,738 

Capital and reserves 4,836 2,178 98 

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans – – 1,000 

Other 872 131 90 

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans –  1,000 – 

Other 4,677 3,145 2,550 

Total equity and liabilities 10,385 6,454 3,738 
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A sizeable proportion of the Group’s fixed assets
relates to software development costs, which have been
capitalised in accordance with IFRS. Other fixed assets
include computer hardware and fixtures at the two sites in
Malta and the UK. Over the three years ended 2003,
capital expenditure has averaged GBP 0.9 million , which
is in excess of the average depreciation and amortisation
for the period of approximately GBP 0.7 million. The
elevated capital expenditure in 2001 is largely the result
of investment in computer equipment and office fit-outs in
the UK and Malta. In 2003, the Group’s investment in
software development increased, as well as renewal of
computer hardware. Furthermore, a new CRM system was
purchased and implemented. Analysis of the Group’s cap-
ital expenditure is shown below.

31 December

Currency: GBP ’000 2003 2002 2001

Tangible
Plant and machinery 26 0 29 

Fixtures and fittings 3 6 147 

Office equipment 553 283 508 

Intangible
Development costs 553 325 301 

1,135 614 985 

The nature of the business means that Unibet has no
trade receivables. The non-cash current assets on the
balance sheet therefore relate only to other receivables,
prepayments and taxation.

The largest numbers on the liabilities side are trade
and other payables. These mainly comprise the customer
balances, but also include trade payables and other
payables such as accrued expenses, accrued payroll and
deferred revenue. The comparatively larger 2003 year-
end balance is the result of various items such as
increased customer balances, additional accruals, a com-
mission accrual related to the new casino service and an
increase in deferred revenue following the expansion of
operations. Refer to the working capital section below for
an analysis of trade and other payables.

An interest-bearing loan of GBP 1.0 million was
issued in September 2001 and repaid early in March
2003. Unibet has no outstanding bank loans and currently
has no plans to finance the business with debt.

WORKING CAPITAL
The working capital cash flows show how Unibet’s
strategy of ensuring customer deposits are received
before bets can be placed has contributed to the liquid
assets on the balance sheet. This has helped to provide
the business with operating cash flows in excess of oper-
ating profits. The increases in cash funds through working
capital financing can be seen below.

31 December
2003 2002 2001

Currency: GBP ’000 (Pro forma)

Trade and other receivables 330 242 178 

Trade and other payables

Customer balances (2,775) (2,151) (1,729)

Trade payables (444) (307) (230)

Other payables (1,224) (676) (574)

(4,443) (3,134) (2,533)

Tax liabilities (234) (2) (17)

Net working capital excl. cash (4,347) (2,894) (2,372)

Net movement in working capital 1,453 522 

The positive working capital cash financing of the
operations is largely an effect of the current business
model whereby the customers have to open up a cus-
tomer account and deposit funds with Unibet before
being able to bet, and betting in excess of the balance on
an account is not allowed. Customers are however enti-
tled to close their accounts at any time and therefore all
customer balances are repayable on demand.

CASH FLOW 
Unibet held GBP 8.6 million of liquid funds at 31 Decem-
ber 2003, largely resulting from profits being made in
2002 and 2003 as well as cash-generating working
capital policies. The Group has invested in fixed assets
over the three-year period, averaging GBP 0.9 million
annually as previously mentioned. This expenditure is in
line with the expansion of the business. The interest-
bearing loan was repaid in advance of maturity in March
2003 following periods of favourable cash generation.
A detailed cash flow statement is included in the financial
statements section of this document.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Initially the business was funded by equity share capital,
followed by a loan of GBP 1.0 million, which was issued in
September 2001. As is evident from the financial state-
ments section of this document, in addition to the loan,
GBP 0.7 million was raised in 2001 through a share issue.
An additional GBP 1.0 million was raised through a further
share issue in 2002.

The equity position has been consolidated through the
profitability of the business over the past two years, as
funds have been retained in the business to facilitate the
positive liquidity position, a balanced capital structure and
to fund future growth to a limited extent. Unibet’s equity
asset ratio has developed from 2.6 per cent. in 2001 to a
position in excess of 40 per cent. in 2003. 

HYPOTHETICAL EFFECTS OF CHANGES
IN CERTAIN FACTORS AFFECTING
RESULTS
Unibet’s performance is affected by a number of factors,
including those discussed in this section and in the Sec-
tion entitled “Risk Factors”. The table below presents the
hypothetical effects on Unibet’s EBIT for the year ended
31 December 2003 of assumed changes in certain of

these factors. This presentation is hypothetical and should
not be viewed as indicating that these factors are more or
less likely to change or, if such changes occur, their likely
magnitude. Actual changes, and their effects, may be
more significant. In addition, this presentation assumes
direct effects only. It is likely that actual changes in any
given line item would have an effect on other line items as
well, and measures taken by Unibet and others as a result
of changed conditions with respect to any line item would
also have an impact on other line items. This sensitivity
analysis should therefore be interpreted with caution, and
potential investors should not place undue reliance on
these hypothetical changes in Unibet’s 2003 EBIT when
considering Unibet’s future financial performance.

Factor Percentage change EBIT impact

Turnover +/– 1 per cent. +/– 120,575 GBP 

Gross winnings +/– 1 per cent. +/– 130,040 GBP 

Administrative expenses +/– 1 per cent. +/– 82,140 GBP

Unibet’s performance may also be affected by
currency movements. For a description of the Company’s
currency exposure and policy, see section “Financial
objectives and currency exposure policy” in this document.
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The following is a summary of key differences as at
31 December 2003 between IFRS and Swedish GAAP.
The financial information included in this document is pre-
pared and presented in accordance with IFRS. Significant
differences exist between IFRS and Swedish GAAP,
which might have an affect on the financial information
herein. The Group has made no attempt to quantify the
impact of those differences.

Potential investors should consult their own profes-
sional advisors for an understanding of the differences
between IFRS and Swedish GAAP and how these differ-
ences might affect the financial information herein.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS requires that all financial assets and liabilities,
including all derivatives and certain embedded derivatives,
should be recognised on the balance sheet. Financial
instruments should be measured at cost, which is the fair
value of the consideration given or received to acquire the
financial asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, all finan-
cial assets should be re-measured to fair value, except for
the following, which should be carried at amortised cost or
subject to a test for impairment:

● loans and receivables originated by the Company and
not held-for-trading (amortised cost);

● held-to-maturity investments (amortised cost); and
● available for sale and held-for-trading investments

whose fair value cannot be reliably measured (cost).

Financial assets and liabilities including derivatives that
are designated as hedging instruments are subject to
special hedge accounting rules.

Swedish GAAP does not allow fair value accounting
of financial assets and derivative instruments and provides
limited guidance on hedge accounting covering only
hedging of foreign equity investments and foreign cur-
rency receivables, payables and loans using forward
exchange contracts and currency swap contracts.
Swedish GAAP does not provide any specific defini-
tion/classification of financial instruments.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
A pension plan is normally defined as either a defined
contribution plan or a defined benefit plan. The account-
ing treatment regarding defined contribution plans is sim-
ilar when comparing IFRS to Swedish GAAP. Under IFRS,
the use of an actuarial method for determining defined

benefit pension plan costs is required. IFRS prescribes
one actuarial method, the Projected Unit Credit Method.
Under defined benefit plans therefore the amount recog-
nised in the balance sheet should be the present value of
the defined benefit obligation resulting (the present value
of expected future payments required to settle the obliga-
tion resulting from employee service in the current and
prior periods). This amount, reduced by the fair value of
any plan assets at the balance sheet date, is then adjusted
for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecog-
nised past service costs. IFRS prescribes extensive guid-
ance on how to determine these items.

Swedish GAAP requires principally recording the
present value of pension commitments as a liability.
Swedish GAAP does not address the actuarial method to
be used. For Swedish pension plans, a calculation is per-
formed based on rules issued by the Financial Supervisory
Authority, and for non-Swedish plans, local rules are
accepted. Pension liabilities recorded under Swedish
GAAP do not take into account projected future salary
increases and discount rates are generally lower for
Swedish GAAP than allowable for IFRS. Swedish GAAP
does not address concepts such as current service costs,
past service costs, actuarial gains and losses, etc. A new
Swedish accounting standard, RR 29 Employee Benefits
is effective as from 1 January 2004. RR 29 is in all key
respects in line with IAS 19. 

EMPLOYEE STOCK COMPENSATION
There are currently no specific requirements under IFRS
and Swedish GAAP (except for synthetic options) for
recognising and measuring employee stock compensa-
tion, although specific disclosure rules apply. Regarding
measurement of synthetic options the Swedish Urgent
Issues Task Force has issued a statement. Pursuant to
this statement a company must recognise an expense
equal to the difference between the fair value of the
synthetic option and the price paid by the employee.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT OF
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are, according to the benchmark
treatment under IFRS, measured at historical cost less
accumulated amortisation/impairment. However, the
alternative treatment allows a subsequent revaluation to
fair value. The fair value revaluation must be based upon
prices in an active market.

SUMMARY OF KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN

IFRS AND SWEDISH GAAP
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According to Swedish GAAP intangible assets always
must be recognised at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation/impairment. Fair value is not allowed.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The benchmark treatment under IFRS states that prop-
erty, plant and equipment should be measured to histori-
cal cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
However, the alternative treatment allows a subsequent
revaluation to fair value normally using market value to
determine fair value. The increase resulting from a fair
value revaluation must be credited directly to equity.

Swedish GAAP is similar to the IFRS benchmark
treatment. The Annual Accounts Act allows but does not
require a write up, if an individual tangible fixed asset has
a fair value higher than book value (the fair value must be
considered both permanent and significantly higher than
book value). The revaluation recognised must be used to
increase the registered share capital on the basis of a
stock dividend or a new share issue or to be credited to a
revaluation reserve within restricted equity.

Proposed new IFRS standards

IASB has issued several Exposure Drafts (ED) of which
some most likely will be effective on January 1, 2005. The
two exposure drafts of most importance for Unibet are
briefly described below: These two exposure drafts were
authorised as of April 2004.

Share-based payments

In November 2002, the IASB published ED 2 Share-
based payments. The ED would require all entities to
recognize the cost of all share-based payment transac-
tions based on their fair value at grant date. This includes
grants of share options to employees. 

Business combinations and certain intangible
assets

The IASB has proposed major revisions to its standards
on accounting for business combinations and intangible
assets. The most significant proposed changes are to
prohibit the use of the pooling of interest method of
accounting for a business combination and to require
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives to be
tested annually for impairment but not amortised. As a
consequence, the ED requires a more detailed allocation
of surplus values, i.e. identification of other intangible
assets in a business combination than goodwill. 
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SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL
The issued share capital of the Company prior to the
Offering is 11,118,196 Ordinary Shares of par value GBP
0.01 each. All Ordinary Shares carry equal voting rights
and rights to share in the assets and profits of the Group. 

RESOLUTION REGARDING 
THE OFFERING
At an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company on
5 March 2004, the shareholders passed the following
resolutions:

Ordinary Resolution:
1. That, conditional upon the contracts to deliver SDRs to

retail and institutional investors in accordance with the
terms of the Offering becoming binding and uncondi-
tional, every two Ordinary Shares of GBP 0.01 each in
the capital of the Company (both issued and unissued)
be consolidated into one ordinary share of GBP 0.02
in order to establish a suitable SDR price prior to the
Offering;

Special Resolutions:
2. That, conditional upon the contracts to deliver SDRs to

retail and institutional investors in accordance with the
terms of the Offering becoming binding and uncondi-
tional:

(a) the Directors be granted, with immediate effect,
authority for the purpose of section 80 Companies
Act 1985 (“CA 1985”) to allot new ordinary shares
pursuant to section 80 CA 1985 up to a maximum
nominal amount of GBP 60,000 (being 3 million
shares of GBP 0.02 each), solely for the purpose
of issuing new shares to be sold in the form of
SDRs in the Offering, such authority (unless previ-
ously revoked, varied or renewed) to expire on the
earlier of the closing of the Offering or 31 Decem-
ber 2004, and to be in substitution for any and all
authorities previously conferred on the Directors
for the purpose of section 80 CA 1985;

(b) in addition to the authority granted in (a) above, the
Directors be granted, with immediate effect,
authority for the purpose of section 80 CA 1985 to
allot new Ordinary Shares pursuant to section 80
CA 1985 up to a maximum nominal amount of
GBP 5,560 (being 277,955 shares of GBP 0.02
each), solely for the purpose of issuing shares to
holders of options under the Unibet Group Plc
Approved Executive Share Option Scheme and the
Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme
(together, the “Option Schemes”), such authority
(unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) to
be valid for five years from the date of the passing
of this Resolution;

(c) the Directors be empowered, pursuant to section
95 CA 1985, to allot equity securities for cash pur-
suant to the authorities referred to in sub-para-
graphs (a) and (b) above as if section 89(1) CA
1985 did not apply to such allotment, such power
to expire (i) on 31 December 2004 in respect of
the authority in sub-paragraph (a) above and (ii) on
a date five years from the date of the passing of
this Resolution in respect of the authority in sub-
paragraph (b) above; and

(d) the regulations contained in the document pro-
duced to the meeting and for the purposes of iden-
tification signed by the Chairman be and are
hereby adopted as the Articles of Association of
the Company (the “New Articles”) in substitution
for, and to the entire exclusion of, the existing Arti-
cles of Association.

SHAREHOLDER AGREEMENTS
Peter Lindell and Staffan Persson have each issued 3,750
call options through their companies to Drothem AB, con-
trolled by Johan Lindgren. The call options give the holder
the right to buy 7,500 Ordinary Shares at a price of GBP
4.04 between 1 August 2003 and 30 July 2006. The
option is conditional upon Johan Lindgren remaining a
Director of the Board of Directors of the Company during
2004. 

To the Board of Directors’s knowledge, there are no
other shareholders’ agreements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND 

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
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SHARE CAPITAL HISTORY
The share capital of the Company has developed as follows:

New Change in no. Total no. of Par value Increase in
issue of ordinary ordinary per share share capital Share capital

Transaction Year price shares shares (GBP) (GBP) (GBP)

Company incorporated 2000 – 2 2 0.01 – 0.02

Share-for-share exchange 2000 – 10,204,200 10,204,202 0.01 102,042 102,042.02

Directed issue1 2001 2.45 268,994 10,473,196 0.01 2,689.94 104,731.96

Rights issue 2002 1.55 645,000 11,118,196 0.01 6,450 111,181.96

Reversed split 1:2 2004 – –5,559,098 5,559,098 0.02 – 111,181.96

Pending new issue 2004 10.49 703,700 6,262,798 0.02 14,074 125,255.96

1 The issue was directed to 15 people and/or institutions. Quesada AB acquired 142,857 shares or approximately 53.1 per cent. of the issued shares.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE BEFORE AND AFTER THE OFFERING
The ownership structure of the Company prior to the Offering is shown in the table below. In addition, the ownership
structure is shown in the corresponding manner following completion of the Offering.

Ownership structure Ownership structure 

before the Offering 1 after the Offering 2

Number of Share of Sale shares New shares Number of Share of
ordinary capital for sale in issued in ordinary capital

Shareholders shares and votes the Offering Offering shares and votes

Anders Ström 2,128,839 38,3% 100,000 2,028,839 32.4%

Staffan Persson directly and through companies 759,936 13.7% – – 759,936 12.1%

Peter Lindell directly and through companies 615,816 11.1% 15,000 – 600,816 9.6%

Living Capital Ltd/Jersey Ltd 462,356 8.3% 30,000 – 432,356 6.9%

Quesada AB 325,331 5.9% 35,000 – 290,331 4.6%

Fonden Tanglin 300,000 5.4% – – 300,000 4.8%

Amcek Ltd 88,950 1.6% – – 88,950 1.4%

Christer Engman 88,200 1.6% – – 88,200 1.4%

Others (approx. 100) 789,670 14.2% – – 789,670 12.6%

New shareholders – – – 703,700 883,700 14.1%

Total 5,559,098 100.0% 180,000 703,700 6,262,798 100.0%

1 As of 15 April 2004.

2 Assuming the Offering is fully subscribed.

DESCRIPTION OF MAIN OWNERS
Anders Ström
See section Board of Directors, page 78.

Staffan Persson
Swedish citizen. Born 1956.
Staffan Persson is senior partner at ITP Investment
Group, a Swedish/Dutch investment company with broad
competence within the media and IT-sectors with regard
to both privately owned companies and exchange-listed
companies in Sweden and abroad. 

Significant board assignments include NeoNet AB
(publ), Optovent AB (publ), Ark Travel AB (publ) and
Kentor AB.

Peter Lindell
See section Board of Directors, page 78.

Living Capital Ltd/Jersey Ltd
Living Capital Ltd and Living Capital Jersey Ltd are two
Venture Capital companies based in the UK and Jersey.
The companies are focused on active investments in
media, entertainment and branding primarily in the UK
and US. The Living Capital group was founded in 1999 by
Andreas Versteegh.
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OPTIONS 
In the UK, options may be granted under two types of
option schemes: those schemes which have certain tax
advantages and also those schemes which do not attract
such advantages. Otherwise, both schemes are substan-
tially the same. Like lots of other companies in the UK,
Unibet has both types of schemes.

The Company operates a share option scheme for
senior executives which has not been approved by the
Inland Revenue (the Unapproved Scheme) and also a
share option scheme for senior executives which has
been approved by the Inland Revenue (the Approved
Scheme), under which the participants may acquire
Ordinary Shares. Under an approved scheme, there will be
no income tax liability on exercise if options are exercised
at least three years following the date of grant. In order to
be granted approval by the Inland Revenue, the option
scheme must fulfill certain conditions and contain certain
restrictions. For example, a participant may not be granted
options under the Approved Scheme over more than GBP
30,000 worth of Ordinary Shares (valued at the date of
grant). The approval of the Inland Revenue is not obliga-
tory but there is no beneficial tax treatment of options
granted under a scheme which has not been approved by
the Inland Revenue. The purpose of the Unapproved
Scheme is to allow the grant of further options in excess
of what is permitted under the Approved Scheme, a com-
mon practice for English companies. The principal terms
of the Unapproved Scheme are set out below:

The Unapproved Scheme 

Responsibility for operation

The Unapproved Scheme is operated by the Directors
(or a duly authorised committee of the Board). It is
intended that the operation of the Unapproved Scheme in
respect of executive directors of the Company will be
supervised by the remuneration committee appointed by
the Board which consists mainly of non-executive direc-
tors of the Company. 

Eligibility

Employees and executive directors of the Company and
any companies under the Company’s control are eligible to
participate in the Unapproved Scheme. Non-executive
directors of these companies are not eligible to participate.

Grant of options

Options may be granted at the discretion of the Directors
(or the Remuneration Committee in the case of executive
directors of the Company) to selected employees,
normally within 42 days of the announcement of the Com-
pany’s results for any period. Options may be granted over
Ordinary Shares. Options are not pensionable or transfer-
able. 

Option price

The option price must not be less than the market value
of the Ordinary Shares or SDRs. For this purpose, market
value means the weighted average of the market quota-
tions on the 10 trading days immediately prior to the date
of grant.

Individual limits

The maximum number of Ordinary Shares or SDRs which
may be granted under option to individual participants will
be decided by the Directors. For option grants made after
Listing, it is intended to apply the following policy. At any
given time, the number of Ordinary Shares or SDRs under
subsisting options will not exceed the following:

● in the case of subsisting options held by the chief
executive officer of the Company, 2.75 per cent. of the
ordinary share capital of the Company;

● in the case of subsisting options held by the executive
management (including the chief executive officer) of
the Company and other participating companies, 3.75
per cent. of the ordinary share capital of the Company;

● in the case of subsisting options held by the executive
management (including the chief executive officer) of
the Company and other participating companies, and
all other employees, 5 per cent. of the ordinary share
capital of the Company.

Scheme limit

At any time, not more than 5 per cent. of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company may be issued or
be issuable under the Unapproved Scheme and all other
employees’ share schemes operated by the Company.
This limit does not include options which have lapsed or
been surrendered.
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Exercise of options

Options will normally be exercisable in accordance with a
vesting schedule set at the date of grant and will expire
not later than the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. It
is intended to grant options on the basis that they will
become exercisable on the third anniversary of grant, for
a period of one year, and expire on the fourth anniversary
of grant. Exercise of options may only take place within
prescribed exercise windows during the one year exercise
period. The rules of the Unapproved Scheme allow the
Directors to grant options on the basis that they will only
be exercisable to the extent that a performance condition
has been satisfied. 

Options may however, be exercised early in certain
circumstances. These include, for example, an employee
leaving because of ill health, retirement, redundancy or
death. On cessation of employment for other reasons,
options will normally lapse.

Change of control, merger or other reorganisations

Options may generally be exercised early on a takeover,
scheme of arrangement, merger or other corporate
re-organisation. Alternatively, participants may be allowed
or, in certain cases, required to exchange their options for
options over shares in the acquiring company.

Issue of shares

Any Ordinary Shares issued on the exercise of options will
rank equally with shares of the same class in issue on the
date of allotment except in respect of rights arising by
reference to a prior record date.

Variation in share capital

If there is a consolidation or reduction in the share capital
of the Company, options may be adjusted as the Directors
consider appropriate in order to ensure that the number of
Ordinary Shares or SDRs comprised in an option and the
option price equal the same proportion of the share
capital as against the same option price as was the case
before the variation took place.

Terms of existing options

Certain options granted under the Unapproved Scheme
prior to Listing have been modified. As a result, some of
the terms of these options may differ to the description
set out above.

Options granted

As at the date of this document and conditional upon the
Listing, the Company granted 197,475 options divided into
167,553 options under the Unapproved Scheme and
29,922 options under the Approved Scheme. Each option
confers the right to acquire (including by subscribing) for
one Ordinary Share in Unibet.

Unapproved Scheme
Option No. of Exercise price 
program options Exercise period per option, GBP

1 159,975 1–15 May 2005 4.02

2 7,578 1–15 May 2006 4.02

Total 167,553

Approved Scheme
Option No. of Exercise price 
program options Exercise period per option, GBP

3 5,000 1–15 Nov. 2004 5.48

4 2,500 1–15 Nov. 2004 7.06

5 1,000 1–15 May 2005 5.48

6 21,422 1–15 May 2006 4.02

Total 29,922

Dilution effects

Provided options programs 1–6 are fully exercised, the
share capital of the Company will increase by a total max-
imum of GBP 3,949.5 by the issue of a total maximum of
197,475 Ordinary Shares, corresponding to 3.1 per cent. of
the capital and votes in the Company, provided that the
Offering is fully subscribed.

UNDERTAKING AND DECLARATION OF
INTENT BY THE PRINCIPAL SHARE-
HOLDERS, THE DIRECTORS AND CEO
The Principal shareholders, all the Directors and the CEO
have undertaken not to divest Ordinary Shares repre-
sented by SDRs in Unibet, during a period of 365 days
calculated from the date of this document, without the
prior written consent from H&Q.

In addition, the main owners Anders Ström, Staffan
Persson, Peter Lindell and Living Capital Ltd/Jersey Ltd
have declared their intention to remain as long-term
owners of Unibet.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITORS 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mats Sundström
Swedish citizen. Born 1955. Board member and Chairman
since 2003. 
MSc from the Stockholm School of Economics, Sweden.
Other significant board assignments: NeoNet AB; iBizkit
AB. 
Previous engagements include: Com Hem AB;
DoubleClick Scandinavia AB; Sponsorservice AB; Comviq
AB; TV3; TV1000; OTW AB; Enlight International AB. 
Holding in the Company: 10,750 Ordinary Shares directly
and through company.

Peter Boggs
US citizen. Born 1948. Board member since 2001. 
BA in American Studies from Washington College, Mary-
land USA.
Marketing consultant, since 2002.
Other significant board assignments: Barretstown Fund
Gang Camp Ltd., Ireland. 
Previous engagements include: 1975–1981: President &
COO of NDMS Inc. a US political lobbying & fundraising
company; 1981–1985: Managing Director of Brown
Direct, Divison of Earle Palmer Brown Inc. a US advertis-
ing agency; 1985–1991: Director of Ogilvy & Mather
Direct Plc, London; 1991–2002: President & COO of
Grey Direct Worldwide, a division of Grey Worldwide Inc.
New York.
Holding in the Company: 650 Ordinary Shares. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, 

SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITORS 

Mats Sundström

Johan Lindgren Anders Ström Henrik Tjärnström

Peter Boggs Peter Lindell
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Peter Lindell
Swedish citizen. Born 1954. Board member since 2002. 
MSc in Industrial Engineering and Management from the
Institute of Technology, Linköping University, Sweden.
Senior partner at ITP Investment Group.
Other significant board assignments: Dataeffektiv i
Sverige AB; I Teknisk Partner Invest AB; Media Workflow
Management AB; Room 328 AB, Swedish Private Equity
& Venture Capital Association.
Previous engagements include: Djurgården Fotboll AB;
Colorcraft AB; Springtime AB; Upsize Rental AB.
Holding in the Company: 615,816 Ordinary Shares directly
and through companies.

Johan Lindgren
Swedish citizen. Born 1957. Board member since 2003. 
MSc from the University of Stockholm, Sweden.
CFO and Executive Vice President of Bredbandsbolaget
AB.
Other significant board assignments: Trade Extensions
Tradeext AB. 
Previous engagements include: Chartered Accountant
with Ernst & Young; investment banking with Carnegie
and Banque Indosuez; CFO of Nethold Nordic; CFO and
Vice President of Modern Times Group MTG AB. 
Holding in the Company: 7,500 call options1. 

Anders Ström
Swedish citizen. Born 1970. Board member since incorpo-
ration. 
Business Development Director. 
Mr Ström founded the Company in 1997. He started his
career as a teacher 1989 and went on to study Mathe-
matics, Statistics and Economics between 1991 and
1993. After a period as a journalist, Mr Ström then
founded Trav- och Sporttjänst in 1993. By 1999, the com-
pany had revenues of GBP 1 million with good profita-
bility. Trav- och Sporttjänst AB was sold in order to found
Unibet. 
Holding in the Company: 2,128,839 Ordinary Shares.

Henrik Tjärnström
Swedish citizen. Born 1970. Board member since 2003. 
MSc in Industrial Engineering and Management from the
Institute of Technology, Linköping University, Sweden.
Business Analyst at Skanska BOT UK Ltd.
Holding in the Company: 2,000 Ordinary Shares.

1 See section Shareholder agreements, page 73.



79

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITORS 

SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Pontus Lesse
Swedish citizen. Born 1954. 
Chief Executive Officer. 
MSc in Industrial Engineering and Management from the
Institute of Technology, Linköping University, Sweden.
Mr Lesse joined the Group in 2000. Prior to that date, Mr
Lesse was Vice President European Operations of
Checkpoint Systems Inc. This business was built up by Mr
Lesse over a period of five years, resulting in revenues of
USD 110 million in 1999, with 12 subsidiaries, 500
employees and 20 distributors. Mr Lesse previously held
various senior positions in international sales and market-
ing over the last 15 years. Holding in the Company:
30,001 Ordinary Shares and 142,500 options (in respect
of option program 1).

Susan Ball
English citizen. Born 1961. 
Chief Financial Officer. 
Fellow of the Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales (FCA) and BA (Hons) Accounting, University of
Central England, UK.
Miss Ball joined the Group in 2003. She qualified as a
Chartered Accountant with Ernst & Young before spend-
ing seven years as the Finance Director of Mosaic Invest-
ments plc, a mini-conglomerate group listed on the Lon-
don Stock Exchange. This role culminated in the reverse
takeover of Bolton Wanderers Football Club. In addition,
she has over 15 years of corporate finance experience
including acquisitions; floatations; and overseas joint ven-
tures. Miss Ball also worked for five years as a corporate
finance consultant raising finance for private start-up
opportunities. 

Holding in the Company: 20,000 options (5,578 options in
respect of option program 2 and 14,422 in respect of
option program 6).

Anders Ström
Business Development Director.
For further information, see the section on the Board of
Directors above.

Martina Westin
Swedish citizen. Born 1967.
Director of Marketing.
BSc in Business Administration and Economics from
Uppsala University, Sweden.
Ms Westin joined the Group in 2003. She has previously
held positions conducting international marketing for
international companies such as Colgate-Palmolive; The
Danone Group; and The Absolut Company. Ms Westin is
multilingual and has extensive marketing experience in
most European markets. She recently spent six years as
Advertising and PR Director (Europe & Africa) for Absolut
Vodka.
Holding in the Company: 5,000 options (in respect of
option program 6).

Mats Sjöstedt
Swedish citizen. Born 1959. 
Director of IT.
Mr Sjöstedt joined the Group in 2000. During the past 20
years, Mr Sjöstedt has progressed from programmer, via
systems analyst and European IT manager, to his present
position as Director of IT. Prior to his appointment at the
Company, Mr Sjöstedt worked for four years as IT man-
ager for Lagena Distribution, Sweden’s largest handler of
wines and spirits.
Holding in the Company: 2,100 Ordinary Shares and 1,650
options (in respect of option program 1).

Kristian Nylén
Swedish citizen. Born 1970. 
Director of Gaming. 
BSc in Business Administration, Mathematics and Statis-
tics, University of Karlstad.
Mr. Nylén joined the Group in 2000.
Mr Nylén taught statistics at the University of Karlstad
before joining Catella as a consultant specialising in Real
Estate Valuation. He then moved on to a similar role in
Ernst & Young.  
Holding in the Company: 12,200 Ordinary Shares and
7,500 options (5,000 options in respect of option program
3 and 2,500 in respect of option program 4).

AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Auditors of the Company since incorporation in August
2000.

Back row from the left; Mats Sjöstedt, Kristian Nylén, Anders Ström 
and Pontus Lesse.
Front row from the left; Susan Ball and Martina Westin.
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SWEDISH DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS (SDRS)

No Ordinary Shares are being offered as part of the Offer-
ing. The Offering will comprise solely of SDRs. Only SDRs
(and not the Ordinary Shares) will be listed on Stock-
holmsbörsen.

The SDRs will be registered in VPC Account desig-
nated by the holder, in accordance with the Financial
Instruments Accounts Act (1998:1479). The information in
VPC’s register pertaining to depository receipts is not
public.

Holders of SDRs are not shareholders of the Group
and do not have any direct rights against the Group under
the Company’s Articles of Association. However, holders
of SDRs will be entitled to attend and vote at meetings of
shareholders of the Group and to receive information,
dividends and other distributions made by the Group as if
they were direct shareholders of the Company. The terms
and conditions applicable to the SDRs are contained in
the “General Terms and Conditions for Swedish Deposi-
tory Receipts in Unibet Group PLC” attached as Appendix
to this document and are available for inspection at the
Custodian Bank.

CUSTODIAN BANK
SEB will issue the SDRs and act as the Custodian Bank.
The Custodian Bank will on instructions from the Com-
pany provide the holders of SDRs with information pro-
vided by the Company on a number of subjects, including:
● Terms and conditions governing dividends and their

payment;
● Terms and conditions and instructions pertaining to

new issues and other offers directed to the share-
holders.

CONVERSIONS BETWEEN ORDINARY
SHARES AND SDRS
Exchanging Ordinary Shares for SDRs

All existing shareholders of the Group have been invited
to exchange their existing holdings of Ordinary Shares for
SDRs at the time of Listing.

Persons who wish to exchange Ordinary Shares
for SDRs at any time subsequent to the Listing may do so
by contacting the Company at the following address:
Unibet Group plc, 165 The Broadway, Wimbledon, London
SW19 1NE, phone number +44 20 8545 2300. Such
persons will need to have an VPC Account with VPC or a
Custody account with a bank or investment broker (nom-
inee) able to hold SDRs on their behalf in VPC. However,
such persons should be aware that (i) the Custodian
Bank will charge a fee for this exchange. The current fee
(which includes the fees charged by VPC for changing
the number of SDRs registered with VPC) is the GBP
equivalent of SEK 3,500; and (ii) UK stamp duty or
stamp duty reserve tax will be payable in GBP at the rate
of 1.5 per cent. of the value of the Ordinary Shares being
exchanged. 

Any persons who continue to hold Ordinary Shares
after the Listing and who elect to exchange those Ordi-
nary Shares for SDRs at any time may be asked to pay
some or all of the then applicable VPC transaction charge
(in addition to the normal fees payable to the Custodian
Bank and UK stamp duty reserve tax).

Exchanging SDRs for Ordinary Shares

There is no current intention to list or otherwise create a
public market for the Ordinary Shares. However, in the
event that a holder of SDRs elects to exchange those
SDRs for the underlying Ordinary Shares, this can be
done by contacting the Custodian Bank. The Custodian
Bank will charge a fee for this withdrawal together with a
fixed amount in respect of UK stamp duty if applicable
(currently GBP 5 per withdrawal transaction). The current
fee (which includes all fees charged by VPC for the trans-
action) is SEK 3,500. As the Ordinary Shares are only
issued in certificated form, there may be a delay of several
days between the application to exchange SDRs for
Ordinary Shares and the receipt of the resulting Ordinary
Share certificates from the Company.

SWEDISH DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS (SDRs)
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SUMMARY OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY
OF THE KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ENGLISH AND SWEDISH CORPORATE LAW

The Company was incorporated on 3 August 2000 under
the laws of England and Wales with company registration
number 04049409 and its activities are governed by
those laws, including the UK Companies Act 1985 (as
amended) and by its Articles of Association.

The Company, whose registered office is Alliots, 5th
Floor, 9 Kingsway, London WC2B 6XF, has an authorised
share capital of GBP 1,000,000, the nominal value of
each ordinary share being GBP 0.01. As at the date of the
latest audited accounts, the issued share capital of the
Company was GBP 111,181.96 consisting of 11,118,196
ordinary shares of GBP 0.01 each. At the time of Listing,
the Company will effect a consolidation of its share capi-
tal under which every two ordinary shares of GBP 0.01
each will be consolidated into one Ordinary Share with a
nominal value of GBP 0.02 each. 

In addition to the specific objects set out in its Memo-
randum of Association, the objects of the Company are to
carry on business as a general commercial company and
to carry on any trade or business whatsoever and to do all
such things as are incidental or conducive to the carrying
on of any trade or business by it.

Conditional upon the closing of the Offering, the
shareholders have resolved to adopt new Articles of
Association (the “New Articles”).

Although the Company will continue to be subject to
the laws of England and Wales following the Offering and
the Listing, the Directors propose that it will, wherever it is
reasonably practicable and where not prohibited by law,
conduct its affairs in a manner consistent with that of a
Swedish listed company. This will include compliance, to
the extent reasonably possible in practice, with the rules
issued by the Swedish Industry and Commerce Stock
Exchange Committee (Sw. Näringslivets Börskommitté)
from time to time (the “NBK Rules”) as if the Company
were registered in Sweden. The NBK Rules specify best
stock market practice in Sweden on a number of matters

including non pre-emptive share issues information about
benefits for senior executives; provision of information
prior to the election of Directors; preparation of Swedish
prospectuses; and public offers for a company’s shares or
acquisitions by a company of its own shares.

SDR HOLDERS
The New Articles set out the relationship between share-
holders and the Company. Persons who hold SDRs are
not shareholders of the Company and derive their rights
from the “General Terms for Swedish Depositary
Receipts” set out in Appendix 1 to this document. How-
ever, the Company has made provision in the New Articles
and elsewhere to ensure that SDR holders will be able to
attend and vote at general meetings of the Company and
to receive dividends, other distributions and information
from the Company as if they were holders of Ordinary
Shares.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
DIFFERENCES FROM SWEDISH LAW
The following is a summary of the rights of shareholders
in the Company (the “Shareholders”) based upon cur-
rent English legislation and the proposed New Articles.
It also sets out certain material differences between the
rights of Shareholders in the Company and the position
which would have applied had the Company been reg-
istered in Sweden. This summary is not, and does not
purport to be, a complete analysis of English and
Swedish law. It does not purport to identify all differ-
ences that may be material to the Shareholders. This
summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
laws of Sweden and of England (and other laws or rules
cited in the summary) A copy of the New Articles to be
adopted will be available on the Company’s web site. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARTICLES OF

ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY AND

SUMMARY OF THE KEY DIFFERENCES

BETWEEN ENGLISH AND SWEDISH

CORPORATE LAW
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
Position of the Company

The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held once
each year. The New Articles provide that general meetings
shall be held in Stockholm, Sweden or in London, United
Kingdom. Not more than 15 months shall elapse between
each annual general meeting. The Directors intend to hold
all general meetings in Stockholm.

An extraordinary general meeting of Shareholders
may be called either by the Company’s Directors or by
Shareholders holding not less than 10 per cent. of the
issued share capital carrying the right to vote at general
meetings. The members’ requisition must state the
objects of the extraordinary general meeting. An annual
general meeting or an extraordinary general meeting
called for the purpose of either passing a special resolu-
tion or passing a resolution of which special notice has
been given to the Company shall be called by at least 21
clear days’ notice in writing. All other extraordinary general
meetings of the Company shall be called by not less than
14 clear days’ notice in writing. The Directors intend to
comply with Swedish notice provisions for shareholders
meetings.

All Shareholders will have the right to receive notice of
general meetings and to attend general meetings unless
otherwise specified in the New Articles. The Company
may determine that only those persons entered on the
register of the Company at the close of business on a
specified day, being no more than 21 days before the day
that notice of the meeting is sent, shall be entitled to
receive such a notice. Under the New Articles, the Com-
pany is entitled to close its register for a period not
exceeding 30 days in any year. 

The New Articles will specify that two persons present
in person or by proxy and entitled to vote on the business
to be transacted shall constitute a quorum at a general
meeting of the Company. An ordinary resolution requires
a majority of the votes of those present and voting in order
to be valid. A special or an extraordinary resolution
requires a three-fourths majority of the votes of those
present and voting in order to be valid.

The notice of the Shareholders’ meeting (or an instru-
ment of proxy sent out by the Company in relation to the
meeting convened by that notice) will specify an address
at which the Shareholder must lodge any proxy that the
Shareholder wishes to give in respect of that meeting.

Such a proxy may be lodged at the address specified at
any time up to and including 48 hours before the time
fixed for the meeting in question.

Usual position under Swedish law

An annual general meeting must be held within six
months of the expiry of each financial year.

Notice of an annual general meeting is required to be
given no earlier than six weeks before and no later than
four weeks before the annual general meeting or when an
auditor of the Company or shareholders representing 10
per cent. of the shares in the company request it.

Under Swedish law, extraordinary general meetings
are held when the board considers such a meeting appro-
priate. Notice of an extraordinary general meeting is
required to be given no earlier than six weeks before and
no later than two weeks before the extraordinary general
meeting. Notice of an EGM at which an amendment to the
articles of association shall be resolved upon is, however,
required to be given no earlier than six weeks before and
no later than four weeks before the EGM.

Under Swedish law there are no quorum requirements
for a general meeting. Certain resolutions do, however,
require the attendance of a certain number of the share-
holders.

As a general rule, resolutions are passed by a major-
ity of the votes cast, though in certain circumstances the
number of shares represented or number of shares rep-
resented and votes cost at the meeting will also be taken
into account.

VOTING RIGHTS
Position of the Company

Each Ordinary Share will be entitled to one vote. In order
to exercise Shareholder rights, including voting rights, the
relevant holder of an Ordinary Share must be registered
as a shareholder in the register of shareholders of the
Company. 

The New Articles provide that in respect of any vote,
however conducted, every member of the Company who
is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for
every Ordinary Share of which he is the holder. The chair-
man may, in any manner he sees fit (including by a show
of hands either simultaneously or sequentially), ask those
members present in person or by proxy to vote in favour
of or against the proposed resolution. The chairman shall



83

SUMMARY OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY
OF THE KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ENGLISH AND SWEDISH CORPORATE LAW

declare the result of the vote when he has satisfied him-
self that a majority has been reached either in favour of or
against the proposed resolution and if he is not otherwise
able to determine the result, he shall call a poll.

For the purposes of determining which persons are
entitled to attend or vote at a meeting and how many
votes such person may cast, the Company is entitled to
specify a time by which a person must be entered on the
Company register. Such time must not be more than 48
hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

Any registered Shareholder entitled to attend and vote
at a general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more
persons as his/her proxy. A proxy will be entitled to speak
at the meeting. A proxy will also be entitled to vote on a
show of hands or on a poll. A proxy is normally only valid
for the meeting specified in the form of proxy, and for any
adjournment of that meeting. To be valid, the form of proxy
must be in writing and, in the case of an individual, must
be signed by the appointer or his attorney, or in the case
of a corporation, signed by a duly authorised officer or
given under common seal.

Shareholders and proxies have the right to demand a
poll (a vote by the number of shares held rather than by
the number of individual voters present). A poll may be
demanded by: (i) the chairman of the meeting; or (ii) any
Shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to
vote. The Company can issue a class of shares which
have no voting power. 

Usual position under Swedish law

All shares carries equal voting rights in the company
unless the Articles of Association provides otherwise. The
maximum prohibited difference in voting rights are 10 to
1. Shares without voting power cannot be issued. Shares
held by the Company or its subsidiaries may not be repre-
sented at the meeting.

A shareholder may exercise his/her rights at a general
meeting personally or by a representative who is in pos-
session of a written and dated proxy. A proxy is valid for a
maximum of one year from the date of issue.

To attend and vote at a general meeting, a shareholder
must be registered in his or her own name in the register
of shareholders 10 days before the shareholders’ meeting.
A shareholder must also give notice to the company of
his/her intention to attend the meeting no later than the
time set out in the notice of the meeting. Shareholders
having their shares registered in the name of a nominee

must register the shares in their own name no later than
the date set out in the notice of the meeting in order to
attend the general meeting. It should be noted that per-
sons holding SDRs in the Company will need to ensure
that they have their SDRs registered in their names and
give notice to the Company in order to attend and vote at
meetings.

Each shareholder or proxy has the right to be accom-
panied at the general meeting by not more than two
advisers. Such advisers are entitled to speak at the
general meeting.

TRANSFER OF SHARES
Position of the Company

Any Shareholder will be entitled to transfer all or any of
his/her Ordinary Shares in the Company by a signed, writ-
ten instrument of transfer in any usual or common form or
in any other form acceptable to the Board of Directors of
the Company. 

The Directors may, in their absolute discretion and
without providing any reason for their decision, decline to
register any transfer of any Ordinary Share which is not
fully paid, provided that such discretion will not be exer-
cised so as to prevent dealings in the Ordinary Shares
from taking place on an open and proper basis. 

The Directors may decline to register any instrument
of transfer relating to shares in certificated form unless: (i)
it is in respect of only one class of share; and (ii) it is
lodged with the Company’s Transfer Office, accompanied
by the relevant share certificate and such other evidence
of ownership as the Directors may reasonably require.

Usual position under Swedish law

As a general rule, under Swedish company law shares are
freely transferable, provided that the Articles of Associa-
tion do not contain any transfer restrictions.

CHANGES IN CAPITAL
Position of the Company

The Shareholders will be entitled by ordinary resolution to
do any of the following:
● Increase the Company’s share capital;
● Consolidate and divide all or any of the Company’s

share capital into shares of a larger nominal amount
than the existing shares;
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● Cancel any shares which, at the date of the ordinary
resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken
by any person and reduce the amount of the Com-
pany’s share capital by the amount of the shares so
cancelled; and

● Sub-divide all or part of the Company’s share capital
into shares of a smaller nominal amount than is fixed by
the Memorandum. This is subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act 1985 (the “UK Companies
Act”) and any other relevant UK legislation. The resolu-
tion may provide that, as between the shares resulting
from the sub-division, any of them may have any pref-
erence, deferred or other special rights, or be subject to
any restriction as compared with the other shares.

The Company will also be entitled to:
● Purchase its own shares (including any redeemable

shares) if the UK Companies Act and any other rele-
vant UK legislation allows this (see “Rights of
Redemption and Purchase” below); and

● By special resolution, and subject to the provisions of
the UK Companies Act and any other relevant UK leg-
islation, reduce its share capital, share premium
account, capital redemption reserve and any other dis-
tributable reserve.

Usual position under Swedish law

Changes in the share capital in a Swedish company
require a resolution or authorisation by the shareholders in
general meeting. A resolution to disapply shareholders’
pre-emption rights in connection with an issue; to change
the share capital in a way that requires an amendment of
the Articles of Association; or to redeem share capital or
restricted reserves, is valid only if shareholders represent-
ing two-thirds of the votes cast and the shares repre-
sented at the meeting vote in favour of the resolution. In
certain situations, such as when the relative rights of
issued shares are amended, such resolution is only valid
where supported by all of the shareholders present or
represented at the shareholders’ meeting and where such
shareholders hold nine-tenths of the outstanding shares
in the company. (See “Amendments to the Memorandum
and Articles, including Variation of Rights” below).

The Directors intend to seek shareholder consent for
any capital increase, issue of new Ordinary Shares or
share repurchase in accordance with the market practice
for Swedish listed companies.

AMENDMENTS TO THE MEMORANDUM
AND NEW ARTICLES, INCLUDING VARIA-
TION OF RIGHTS
Position of the Company

Under UK law, the shareholders have the authority to alter,
delete, substitute or add to provisions of the Company’s
Memorandum and all provisions of its New Articles, by a
special resolution. This is subject, in the case of certain
alterations, to the rights of dissenting shareholders to
apply to the courts to cancel the alteration. However, any
alteration of a company’s authorised share capital (except
for a reduction of capital, which requires confirmation by
the courts) only requires an ordinary resolution.

Amendments affecting the voting and other rights
attaching to a particular class of shares may be varied: (i)
with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than
three-fourths in nominal value of the issued shares of that
class; or (ii) with the sanction of an extraordinary resolu-
tion passed at a separate general meeting of the holders
of the shares of that class. The quorum will be members
holding or representing by proxy not less than one-third in
nominal amount of the issued shares of the class, whether
or not holders of such class of shares are otherwise enti-
tled to vote.

Usual position under Swedish law

Under Swedish law, amendments to the Articles of Asso-
ciation of a company are made through resolutions
passed at a general meeting. Most resolutions can be
passed by an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes
cast and the shares represented at the general meeting.

A resolution to amend the Articles of Association
which, in relation to the issued share capital: (i) reduces
the shareholders’ rights to the company’s profits or other
assets; (ii) restricts the transferability of shares in the
company; or (iii) alters the legal relationship between
shares, normally requires the unanimous consent of all
shareholders present at the meeting representing at least
nine-tenths of all issued shares.

A resolution to amend the Articles of Association in
any of the following ways is valid only if shareholders rep-
resenting two-thirds of the votes cast and nine-tenths of
the shares represented at the meeting are in favour: (i) a
resolution limiting the number of shares in relation to
which one shareholder can vote; (ii) a resolution requiring
an increase in the amount of profit which is to be allocated



85

SUMMARY OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY
OF THE KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ENGLISH AND SWEDISH CORPORATE LAW

to the statutory reserve; or (iii) a resolution providing for
distribution of profits or remaining assets in connection
with the winding up of the company other than as pre-
scribed by the Swedish Companies Act.

Amendments to the Articles of Association in respect
of these matters may, however, still be valid if they are
passed by a two-thirds majority of the votes cast and only
two-thirds of the shares represented at the general meet-
ing if: (i) the amendments are to the detriment of only
some shareholders and all such shareholders represented
at the general meeting give their consent, provided that
those shareholders represent at least nine-tenths of all
affected shares; or (ii) the amendment is to the detriment
of all shares of one class and owners of at least 50 per
cent. of all such shares, as well as at least nine-tenths of
such shares that are represented at the general meeting,
give their consent.

MINORITY RIGHTS
Position of the Company

UK law contains rules and provisions protecting minority
shareholders against oppression by the majority. These
provisions include:
(i) Provisions under the UK Companies Act:

• Entitling a shareholder to petition the courts for
relief if a company’s affairs have been, are being or
will be conducted in a manner unfairly prejudicial to
the interests of shareholders generally or to a group
of shareholders;

• Entitling shareholders holding at least 10 per cent.
of the voting rights of a company to call an extraor-
dinary general meeting; 

• Entitling shareholders holding 5 per cent. or more of
the voting rights in a company to requisition an item
to be placed on the agenda for an annual general
meeting of the company; and

(ii) Provisions under the Insolvency Act 1986 entitling a
shareholder to make an application to the courts to
have a company wound up on the basis that it is just
and equitable to do so.
These provisions and the rules of English common law

relating to the protection of minority shareholders only
relate to those Shareholders who are registered as such
in the Shareholders register of the Company. 

Usual position under Swedish law

Under the Swedish Companies Act, minority shareholders
have certain rights to protect them from detrimental acts
of the majority. The general principle is that all sharehold-
ers must be treated equally. Certain matters must be
settled by a qualified majority. A minority holding of 10 per
cent. of the shares, or in certain cases the votes, triggers
certain specific additional rights, such as the right to
appoint an auditor or a special examiner (to examine the
administration and accounts of the company and any
specific measures taken); to block a resolution for the
discharge of liability of the board of directors; to initiate an
action for damages in favour of the company against any
director, auditor or shareholder; to requisition an item to
be placed on the agenda for a general meeting; and to
force a resolution to declare a dividend equal to at least
half the sum of the net profit for the previous financial
year, after certain deductions. 

In addition, where a company is a subsidiary and is
owned by one or more companies in the same group,
which together own more than 90 per cent. of the shares
of such subsidiary, the owners of the remaining 10 per
cent. have a right to have their shares acquired by the
parent company and conversely, the 90 per cent. majority
may force the sale of the remaining 10 per cent..

As a general principle, neither the board of directors,
any other representatives of the company, nor a voting
majority at a shareholders’ meeting may enter into trans-
actions or undertake any other measures which are likely
to give an undue advantage to a shareholder or a third
party to the disadvantage of another shareholder.

ELECTION AND REMOVAL 
OF DIRECTORS
Position of the Company

The Directors will be elected by an ordinary resolution at
a general meeting of the Shareholders. There shall not be
less than three nor more than 12 Directors; the quorum for
any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be three; and
any Directors’ meeting shall only be quorate if a majority
of the Directors present are non-executive. Each Director
shall retire at each annual general meeting but he shall be
eligible for re-election unless he has expressly agreed to
retire at that meeting on a permanent basis. 
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If more than one Director is to be appointed at the
same time, each Director must be appointed separately.
Two or more Directors may only be appointed by a single
resolution if that resolution has first been approved unan-
imously by the general meeting. 

Notice must be given of an intention to propose a
Director for election, other than in the case of a Director
retiring at the meeting. Such notice must be given not less
than 7 and not more than 42 days (inclusive of the date
on which the notice is given) before the date of the meet-
ing. The notice must be signed by a member of the Com-
pany. The person proposed to be appointed must also pro-
vide a notice indicating his willingness to be appointed. 

Under the UK Companies Act, shareholders have the
right to remove a Director by ordinary resolution of which
special notice (28 days) has been given.

Under the New Articles, a Director may be removed
from office by notice in writing to that effect being served
on him, such notice signed by not less that three-quarters
of the Board of Directors for the time being. 

Under the New Articles, a Director must retire at the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting after his or
her 70th birthday.

Usual position under Swedish law

Members of the Board are elected by a majority vote at
the annual general meeting and remain in office until the
following annual general meeting. Re-election of a board
member is possible. There is no legal right of minority
shareholders to have a board representative other than
the right for holders of at least 10 per cent. of the shares
to have an auditor or a special examiner appointed.

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS
Position of the Company

Under the New Articles, subject to applicable law as
regards the funds from which dividends can be paid, the
Shareholders will be entitled, by ordinary resolution, to
declare dividends. No dividend may exceed the amount
recommended by the Directors. In addition, subject to
applicable law, if the profits of the Company available for
distribution appear to justify such payments, the Board
may from time to time pay interim dividends. 

The Directors may, if previously authorised by an ordi-
nary resolution of Shareholders, direct payment of a divi-
dend by the distribution of Ordinary Shares, credited as
fully paid, instead of cash.

All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise
made use of at the discretion of the Directors for the ben-
efit of the Company until claimed. Dividends not claimed
by the holders entitled to such dividend within 12 years of
the due date for payment will be forfeited and revert to the
Company.

The New Articles allow any dividend or other moneys
payable on or in respect of a share to be paid in such cur-
rency as the Directors may determine, using such
exchange rate for currency conversions as the Directors
may select.

The New Articles also allow the Directors to offer
holders of Ordinary Shares the right to receive, in lieu of a
dividend (or part thereof), an allotment of new Ordinary
Shares.

A waiver of a dividend shall only be effective if it is in
writing, signed by the shareholder, delivered to the Com-
pany and accepted or acted upon by the Company.

For a more detailed description of the proposed divi-
dend policy of the Company, please see section “Financial
objectives and currency exposure policy” of this docu-
ment. 

Usual position under Swedish law

Under the Swedish Companies Act, only a general meet-
ing of shareholders may authorise the payment of divi-
dends. Such dividend may exceed the amount recom-
mended by the Directors but only in the event of a
demand by holders of at least 10 per cent. of the total
number of shares in issue or, where stipulated in the arti-
cles of association and may only be paid from funds avail-
able for dividends. 

Under Swedish law, no interim dividends may be paid
for a financial period in respect of which audited financial
statements have not been adopted by the annual general
meeting of the relevant company. The normal practice in
Sweden is for dividends to be paid annually.

RIGHTS OF REDEMPTION AND
PURCHASE
Position of the Company

Under UK law, a company may issue redeemable shares
if it is authorised to do so by its Articles of Association and
subject to the conditions stated in those Articles of Asso-
ciation. Such shares may be redeemed only if fully paid
and, in the case of public companies, only out of distrib-
utable profits or the proceeds of a new issue of shares
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made for the purpose of the redemption. Any premium
payable on redemption must be paid out of distributable
profits. The New Articles will authorise the Company to
issue redeemable shares.

A company may purchase its own shares, including
any redeemable shares, if authorised by its Articles of
Association and provided that such purchase has been
approved by an ordinary resolution of its Shareholders in
the case of an on-market purchase, or by a special reso-
lution of its Shareholders in other cases. The New Articles
will permit the Company to purchase its own shares.

The New Articles reflect the UK law position that
companies may keep their own shares “in treasury” after
they have been bought back by the Company. The Com-
pany is also permitted to resell those shares. Alternatively,
the Company must cancel the shares it repurchases.

Usual position under Swedish law

The Swedish Companies Act allows stock market compa-
nies to repurchase their own shares. The company can
hold up to 10 per cent. of its share capital in treasury for
subsequent re-sale or cancellation with shareholders’
consent. A company’s own shares held in treasury can
benefit from bonus issues. 

The Buy-Back Rules (Sw. NBK:s regler om återköp av
egna aktier) apply to the purchase and sale of a com-
pany’s own shares. The Directors propose to follow these
rules for any buy-back of SDRs to the extent reasonably
practicable. If the disposal is made on the stock exchange
or on an authorised market place, the Buy-Back Rules are
applicable.

The shareholders in general meeting can delegate
authority to the board of directors to elect to repurchase
or dispose of shares within stated limits. Such shareholder
resolutions require a two-thirds majority of the shares
voted as well as two-thirds of all shares represented at
the meeting. If the shareholders have a preferential right
to purchase the shares being sold, the resolution may be
taken by a simple majority vote.

Swedish law requires: (i) that purchases of a com-
pany’s own shares be financed out of distributable profits
calculated according to the last adopted balance sheet;
(ii) that the shareholders approve the repurchase by a
qualified majority; and (iii) that the maximum number of its
own shares a company may hold is 10 per cent.. In addi-
tion, the NBK Rules set out detailed limitations and
requirements for share repurchases.

A redemption may also be effected through a statu-
tory redemption procedure pursuant to the Swedish Com-

panies Act, which will normally require court approval if
such redemption would result in the repayment of paid up
capital to shareholders.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
Position of the Company

Under English law, only an ordinary resolution (requiring a
simple majority vote) of the shareholders is required for an
increase in the authorised share capital of a company and
for the Board of Directors to be given authority to allot
shares. Any issue for cash of equity securities (securities
which, with respect to dividends or capital, carry a right to
participate beyond a specified amount) or rights to sub-
scribe for or convert into equity securities must be offered
in the first instance to the existing equity shareholders in
proportion to the respective nominal value of their hold-
ings, unless a special resolution (three-fourths majority)
has been passed in a general meeting of shareholders to
the contrary. Contrary to what is customary for many Eng-
lish public companies, it is not intended that a resolution
will be proposed at each Annual General Meeting of the
Company to authorise the Directors to allot equity securi-
ties for cash up to a certain aggregate nominal value at
any time prior to the next Annual General Meeting, other-
wise than to its existing equity shareholders in proportion
to the respective nominal value of their holdings. Instead,
the Directors intend that issues of shares made by the
Company after listing will first be approved by Sharehold-
ers, in line with common practice in Sweden.

Usual position under Swedish law

In the absence of a resolution disapplying such rights,
shareholders have preferential rights to subscribe in cash
for issues of shares of the same class as they currently
hold in proportion to their holdings. If only one class of
shares is issued for cash, all shareholders, regardless of
which class of shares they hold, have a preferential right
to subscribe for the shares in such share issue, in propor-
tion to their previous holding. 

A resolution to disapply the shareholders’ preferential
rights in connection with an issue requires a majority of at
least two-third of the votes cast as well as at least two-
thirds of all shares present or represented at the meeting
and, even if the required majority is reached, the resolu-
tion must not give a shareholder or a third party any undue
advantage to the disadvantage of another shareholder. 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ VOTES ON CERTAIN
REORGANISATIONS
Position of the Company

The UK Companies Act provides for certain reconstruc-
tions and amalgamations between a company and any
class of its shareholders or creditors, to be subject to the
approval, in a special meeting, of a majority in number of
the holders of shares of the relevant class who hold
shares representing at least 75 per cent. of the relevant
class of shares present and voting, either in person or by
proxy. Such reconstructions and amalgamations are also
subject to the sanction of the courts. Once a scheme has
been approved and sanctioned by a court, all sharehold-
ers of the relevant class are bound by the scheme.

The UK Companies Act also provides that where a
take-over offer is made for all the shares of any class of
a UK company, and, within four months of the date of the
offer, the offeror has, by virtue of acceptance of the offer,
acquired or contracted to acquire not less than nine-
tenths in value of the shares to which the offer relates
(excluding shares held on the date of the offer by the
offeror and its associates), the offeror may, by giving
notice, require the dissenting shareholders to transfer
their shares on the terms of the offer. A minority share-
holder is also entitled in these circumstances to require
the offeror to acquire his shares on the terms of the offer.
A dissenting shareholder may apply to the court within six
weeks of the date on which a notice requiring him to
transfer his shares was given objecting to the transfer or
its proposed terms.

As a public company incorporated in England and
Wales, the Company is subject to the rules regulating
takeovers of public companies in the UK. These rules are
contained in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers
(the “Code” ). The Code contains non-statutory rules
which are not enforceable at law. The Code is adminis-
tered by the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers in the
United Kingdom (the “Panel”), a body comprising repre-
sentatives of financial and professional institutions, which
oversees the conduct of takeovers for UK public compa-
nies.

Although the Company is subject to the jurisdiction of
the Code, it will, once it completes its Listing, also become
subject to many of the Swedish rules contained in the
Stock Exchange Committee’s Rules concerning Public
Offers for the Acquisition of Shares (the “Swedish
Takeover Rules”). The Swedish Takeover Rules are

administered by the Swedish Securities Council, a non-
statutory private body. The requirements of the Swedish
Takeover Rules relating to mandatory cash offers and to
prospectuses are not, however, applicable to a non-
Swedish company listed in Sweden (such as the Com-
pany).

The fact that a takeover offer for the Company may be
subject to different sets of regulations creates uncertainty
as to the exact requirements which would be imposed on
any potential bidder. The Panel will normally grant appro-
priate derogations from the Code for companies which
are incorporated in the UK but listed elsewhere, with the
aim of ensuring that the takeover can be conducted in an
orderly way. In the event of a takeover offer, the Panel and
the Swedish Securities Council would liaise in order to
ensure that the takeover offer was properly regulated. For
the most part, the Code and the Swedish Takeover Rules
are not in conflict. Potential investors should be aware
however, that where the Code lays down more rigorous
standards than the Swedish Takeover Rules, or vice versa,
the more rigorous standard may well be applied to any
particular takeover offer.

The situation has been further complicated by the
Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council
on Takeover Bids (the “Directive”). The Directive has now
been approved by the European Parliament and will, once
enacted into the domestic laws of the relevant Member
States, mean that the Member State with primary author-
ity for supervising takeover offers for a company will be
the Member State in which that company’s shares are
admitted to trading (eg Sweden in the case of the Com-
pany). The Directive states that the Swedish Takeover
Rules will apply to matters relating to the consideration
offered, the price, matters relating to the bid procedure (in
particular the information on the offeror’s decision to
make a bid), the contents of the offer document and the
disclosure of the bid. However, matters relating to infor-
mation to be provided to employees of the offeree com-
pany, matters relating to company law (in particular the
percentage of voting rights which confer control and any
derogations from the obligation to launch a bid) as well as
the conditions under which the board of the offeree com-
pany may undertake action designed to frustrate a bid, will
be determined by the rules and competent authority in the
Member State where the company has its registered
office (in the case of the Company, England and Wales).
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There is, currently, a lack of clarity as to exactly how
these divisions of responsibility will work in practice. The
regulatory rules applicable to any future takeover offer for
the Company which is subject to the Directive will remain
unclear until the exact division of regulatory authority and
responsibilities between the Swedish and UK regulators
has been clarified.

In view of the fact that the Company, even after its
listing, will not be subject to the mandatory offer and
prospectus provisions contained in the Swedish Takeover
Rules, the Panel is likely to require the application of the
rules governing the contents of offer documents con-
tained in the Code as well as applying the mandatory offer
rules in the Code.

The Code requires that when a person acquires,
whether by a series of transactions over a period of time
or not, shares which (taken together with shares held or
acquired by persons acting in concert with him) carry 30
per cent. or more of the voting rights of a public company,
or when a person together with persons acting in concert
with him, holds not less than 30 per cent. but not more
than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of a public company
and such person, or any person acting in concert with him,
acquires any further shares in that public company, such
person must generally make an offer for all the equity
shares of that public company (whether voting or non-vot-
ing), for cash, or accompanied by a cash alternative, at not
less than the highest price paid by him or any person act-
ing in concert with him for the relevant shares during the
12 months preceding the date of the offer. Bids for a UK
company which include a cash element are only permitted
if there is a committed financing in place before the bid is
launched. 

Usual position under Swedish law

Under the Swedish Companies Act, when a Swedish
company alone or together with one or more subsidiaries
owns more than 90 per cent. of the share capital in a
company and these shares represent more than 90 per
cent. of the shares and the votes entitled to be cast at a
meeting of shareholders, that person is entitled to pur-
chase the remaining shares of such company (known as
“squeeze-out” proceedings). Minority shareholders have a
corresponding right to compel such shareholders to buy
them out. A person whose shares are subject to a right of
purchase may require the 90 per cent. owner to purchase
its shares. In the absence of an agreement regarding the

price, an arbitration tribunal will determine the price which,
in the case of a compulsory acquisition initiated promptly
or within a reasonable period of time following a public
offer to a substantial number of persons pursuant to
which the offeror (or its affiliates) acquired a majority of
the shares held by the offeror, will normally be the same
as the price paid in such offer. However, in certain cir-
cumstances, such as when there is an extensive delay
between the public offering and the compulsory acquisi-
tion, or if the information given at the time of the offering
was unsatisfactory, the purchase price may be adjusted.

A legal merger of a public Swedish limited liability
company with another Swedish limited liability company
pursuant to chapter 14 of the Swedish Companies Act
requires the approval of the company’s shareholders by a
majority of at least two-thirds of the votes cast as well as
at least two-third of the shares represented at a meeting
of such shareholders. Certain majority requirements apply
where the merger adversely affects certain shares or
classes of shares or, where a public company is absorbed
by a private company.

LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS
Position of the Company

UK law does not permit a company to exempt any Direc-
tor or other officer of the company, or any person
employed by the company as auditor, from any liability
which by virtue of any rule of law would otherwise attach
to him in respect of any negligence, default, breach of
duty or breach of trust of which he may be guilty in
respect of the company.

An exception is made in respect of liability incurred by
such Director, officer or auditor in defending any legal pro-
ceedings (whether civil or criminal) in which (i) judgment
is given in his favour; (ii) he is acquitted; or (iii) in certain
instances where, although he is liable, a court finds that
such Director, officer or auditor acted honestly and rea-
sonably, that having regard to all the circumstances he
ought fairly to be excused and relief is granted by the
court. Section 310 of the UK Companies Act enables
companies to purchase and maintain insurance for Direc-
tors, officers and auditors against any liability which would
otherwise attach to them in respect of any negligence,
default, breach or duty or breach of trust in relation to the
company.
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Usual position under Swedish law

Swedish law provides that the annual shareholders’ meet-
ing of a limited company shall consider whether to exempt
the board of directors or the Managing Director from the
liability that each director would otherwise have in respect
of the business of the company for the previous financial
year. Such a decision may be overturned by a simple
majority of the votes of a shareholders’ meeting if the
decision to exempt a director from liability was based on
information which was incorrect in material respects. If
shareholders representing at least 10 per cent. of the
share capital vote against granting a director exemption
from liability, such shareholders are entitled to lodge a
claim against that director with the relevant Swedish court.
Such a claim is lodged on behalf of, and in the name of, the
company. The cost of such litigation is not the responsibil-
ity of the company, but shareholders initiating such legal
action are entitled to be reimbursed by the company for
legal expenses to the extent that the company would
recover those expenses in any award of damages.

In addition, shareholders may claim damages directly
against directors if they have violated the Articles of Asso-
ciation or the Swedish Companies Act. 

Swedish law contains no provision concerning the pro-
vision by a company of an indemnity to members of the
board of directors and the enforceability of any such indem-
nity is questionable, at least to the extent that the indemnity
is not covered by the company’s unrestricted equity. How-
ever, it is not unusual for a listed company to take out insur-
ance policies in favour of its directors and officers covering
liability that they might otherwise have occurred.

DIRECTORS’ FEES
Position of the Company

The New Articles state that the aggregate level of direc-
tors’ fees must not exceed an aggregate amount per
annum set by ordinary resolution of the Company. The
payment of such Directors’ fees is then determined by the
Directors as they may agree. 

Usual position under Swedish law

The general meeting establishes the principles and the
maximum amount for the directors’ fees in a Swedish
limited liability company. The remuneration are then dis-
tributed individually between the directors by the board.
Further the NBK Rules set out provisions concerning dis-

closure of the benefits of senior executives for all compa-
nies listed on the Stockholmsbörsen. The Directors intend
to follow the NBK Rules in relation to Directors’ fees.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Position of the Company

Section 198 of the UK Companies Act provides that a
person (including a company and other legal entities) who
acquires or ceases to hold a material interest in three per
cent. or more of any class of shares in a public company’s
issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all circum-
stances at general meetings of the company is obliged to
notify that company of his interest within two business
days after becoming so interested or aware. A “material
interest” is defined as any interest other than the interests
specified in Section 199(2A) of the UK Companies Act.
Non-material interests include interests of: (i) certain
investment managers; and (ii) operators of authorised unit
trusts. Disclosure is also required of any non-material
interests but at a level of 10 per cent. or more of the
relevant share capital (taking into account any material
interests held by that person). After the relevant threshold
is exceeded, similar notification must be made in respect
of whole per cent. figure increases or decreases. Particu-
lar interests specified in Section 209 of the UK Compa-
nies Act may be disregarded for reporting purposes.

For the purposes of the notification obligation, the
interests of an individual in shares include any interests of
his spouse or children, and the interests of a corporate
body include certain related corporate bodies or “concert
parties” within the meaning of Section 204 of the UK
Companies Act.

Section 212 of the UK Companies Act provides that a
public company may, by notice in writing, require a person
whom the company knows, or has reasonable cause to
believe, to have been at any time during the three years
immediately preceding the date on which the notice is
issued, interested in shares comprised in the company’s
“relevant share capital” to confirm that fact or (as the case
may be) to indicate whether or not that is the case, and
where he holds or has during the relevant time held an
interest in such shares, to give such further information as
may be required relating to his interest and any other
interest in the shares of which he is aware. Although the
Company may serve a section 212 notice on any such per-
son, the New Articles do not provide any sanctions for fail-
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ing to provide the requisite information because the Board
of Directors consider that any such sanctions would not
be appropriate once the Company has listed securities in
Sweden. 

Usual position under Swedish law

Pursuant to the NBK Rules, any seller or purchaser of a
public limited company’s shares, convertible debt instru-
ments, options, futures and certain other instruments of a
company listed on the Stockholmsbörsen is required to
report to the company and to the Stockholmsbörsen any
transactions as a result of which either (i) the purchaser
becomes the owner of 5 per cent. or more of either the
voting rights or the number of shares in the company or
(ii) the seller’s holding falls below the threshold. The same
applies for each multiple of 5 per cent. of the shares that
either the purchaser or seller reaches, exceeds or falls
below, ie 10, 15, 20 per cent. etc. up to and including 90
per cent.. In addition, such changes in ownership are to be
reported to a recognised news agency and to a nationally
published newspaper. Such notifications are to be made
at the latest by 09.00 am the day after the transaction
was made. The acquirer’s and transferor’s transactions as
described above include, for the purpose of the NBK
Rules, transactions in shares and other relevant instru-
ments owned by certain related individuals, enterprises or
certain parties acting in concert.

The Financial Instruments Trading Act (Sw. Lagen om
handel med finansiella instrument) provides that any per-
son who has acquired or transferred shares in a Swedish
limited liability company that has issued shares which are
listed on an exchange situated or operating in a country
within the European Union or which, although not listed,
are quoted on an exchange or an authorised market place
in Sweden, has certain reporting requirements. That per-
son shall, within seven days of an acquisition or transfer,
report it in writing to the company and to the Swedish
exchange(s) or authorised market place(s) where shares in
the company are quoted (or to the Swedish Financial
Supervisory Authority (“FSA”) if the shares are listed on an
exchange outside Sweden) if the acquisition results in the
acquirer’s holding reaching or exceeding any of the thresh-
olds (10, 20, 33, 50 and 66 per cent.) or if the transfer
results in the transferor’s holding falling below any of those
thresholds. The acquirer’s and transferor’s transactions as
described above include transactions in shares and other
relevant instruments owned by certain related individuals,

enterprises or certain parties acting in concert. This does
not apply to the Company.

Insider dealing is regulated by two acts, the Insider
Penal Act (Sw. Insiderstrafflag (2000:1086)) and the Act
on Reporting (Sw. Lag (2000:1087) om anmälnings-
skyldighet för vissa innehav av finansiella instrument).
The reporting obligations and the insider dealing restric-
tions apply in relation to shares as well as to subscription
rights; interim certificates; warrants; convertible deben-
tures; debt instruments carrying options to subscribe for
new shares; convertibles; stock options and/or stock
futures.

Prohibited insider dealing relates to trading on the
securities market, ie trading on an exchange, an autho-
rised market place or through an investment firm. Further,
the prohibition extends to any other person who receives
insider information, the direct or indirect source of which
was an unauthorised disclosure by an insider or otherwise. 

The Act on Reporting requires natural persons with
insider status in a stock market company to report their
holdings or changes in their holdings in a stock market
company to the FSA. The FSA then makes the informa-
tion available to the stock market. The Act on Reporting
also covers the shareholdings of certain closely related
legal entities and natural persons.

An insider in a stock market company is required to
report his or her shareholdings in the company (and any
changes in those shareholdings) in writing to the FSA no
later than five days after: (i) the shares of the company
were listed on an exchange or an authorised market
place; (ii) the insider status arose; (iii) an acquisition or
transfer of the shares was made; or (iv) the insider
became aware that the related party had acquired or
transferred the shares. The stock market company is also
required to inform the FSA of the identity of insiders no
later than 14 days after the insider status arose. The stock
market company must also give written notice of this
report to the person with insider status. The obligation to
report does not apply if the shareholding, or the change in
the shareholding since the date of any previous report,
comprises less than 200 shares or if the change in hold-
ing comprises financial instruments that are deamed to be
equivalent to shares with a market value of less than SEK
50,000. Any person who infringes the prohibition in the
Insider Penal Act can be fined or imprisoned. In the case
of an infringement of the Act on Reporting, the FSA may
impose a fine amounting to 10 per cent. of the purchase
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price of the shares on any person who does not comply
with the notification requirement. It should also be noted
that a stock market company can be fined for violations of
its obligation to report persons with insider status. The
minimum fine is SEK 15,000 and the maximum is SEK
350,000.

DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS 
ON LIQUIDATION
Position of the Company

On a winding-up, the liquidator may, with the approval of a
special resolution of the Company, and subject to and in
accordance with the UK Companies Act, divide among
the Shareholders the whole or any part of the net assets
of the Company after the payment of all debts. A winding-
up may also be commenced by a creditor with the Courts. 

Usual position under Swedish law

Similarly, on the winding-up of a Swedish company, the liq-
uidator distributes the net assets equally among the
shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings
unless otherwise stated in the Articles of Association. If
there is no surplus after payment of the company’s debts,
the liquidator files for bankruptcy.

UNTRACED SHAREHOLDERS
Position of the Company

Subject to various notice requirements, the Company will
under certain circumstances be entitled to sell, at the best
price obtainable, any shares of a member or person enti-
tled those shares who is untraceable. Shares may be sold
if, during a period of 12 years, at least three dividends in
respect of the shares in question have become payable
and no dividend in respect of those shares has been
claimed; notices have been placed in a national and local
newspaper after the twelve year period indicating the
Company’s intention to sell the shares; and the Company
has received no indication of the existence of such
member or person. The net proceeds of sale shall belong
to the Company, but the member or person who had been
entitled to the shares shall become a creditor of the
Company in respect of those proceeds.

Usual position under Swedish law

In the event that there are any untraceable shareholders,
a Swedish company would also be entitled to sell the
shares belonging to those shareholders one year after
certain notice requirements have been fulfilled. Notice
can be given no earlier than 5 years after any listing. The
notice must be published in the Swedish Gazette and at
least one local newspaper. The shareholder would then
have a claim against the company amounting to the sale
price after deductions for any costs related to the sale.
The claim is subject to applicable statutory limits. 
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
Customer Contracts

The Company is not dependent on any single customer
contract or on a small number of customer contracts for the
running of its business. The Company’s customer base
consists of a large number of customers placing relatively
small bets. Although the Company’s customer contracts
are therefore central to its business and some customers
spend more than others, the Company is not heavily reliant
on any particular customer continuing to contract with it. 

Supply Contracts

All payments by customers to the Group are routed
through Firstclear, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Com-
pany. Firstclear has a credit card merchant agreement
with Royal Bank of Scotland for processing all credit card
payments. This agreement enables the Group to access
Streamline, Royal Bank of Scotland’s global payment pro-
cessing system. Due to the Group’s reliance on the ability
of customers to use credit and debit cards in order to
place bets on line and the material adverse impact which
even a short disruption to this service would have, this
contract is of material importance to the Group.

Unibet (London) Limited and Unibet (International)
Limited both have contracts with Net Entertainment con-
cerning the provision by Net Entertainment of a complete
computer hardware and software package for casino
services. Pursuant to the agreements, rights and interests
in client data and intellectual property remain the sole
property of the party that rightfully holds it or introduces it
into the arrangements covered by the agreements. The
Group operates all its casino services through Net Enter-
tainment and Net Entertainment’s subsidiary in Costa
Rica. This contract is of material importance to the Group
as the Group is dependent on Net Entertainment for the
operation of casino services. In the event that this contract
is terminated or that casino services ceased to be pro-
vided, Unibet’s business could be materially adversely
affected. 

There is an agreement between Unibet Software R&D
AB and Tempogon Svenska AB (“Tempogon”) concerning
software development relating to new products. Unibet
Software R&D AB has written confirmation from Tempo-
gon that any intellectual property developed under the
agreement shall belong to Unibet Software R&D AB. 

There is a service agreement between Unibet Soft-
ware R&D AB and Brainpool Consulting R&D AB (“Brain-
pool”) concerning software development relating to new
products and applications on Unibet’s web site. Unibet

Software R&D AB receives all rights to intellectual prop-
erty developed under the agreement but the agreement
also stipulates that these rights will belong to Brainpool
where the intellectual property is not of a business secret
nature. Unibet Software R&D AB has written confirmation
from Brainpool that any intellectual property developed
under the agreement shall belong to Unibet Software
R&D AB.

There is an agreement between Unibet Software R&D
AB and Real M AB. Any intellectual property created by
Real M AB will in principle belong to Real M AB. The
nature of the services provided imply that no intellectual
property will be created under the agreement. 

DESCRIPTION OF UK/MALTA LICENCE
Unibet (London) Limited has been granted a UK Book-
maker’s Permit by the North Westminster Betting Licence
Committee, which authorises it to act as a bookmaker on
its own account and which is valid until 31 May 2006.
Unibet (International) Limited has been granted a Gaming
Licence to Operate a Betting Office in Malta by the
Maltese Director of Public Lotto which is being renewed
on a monthly basis. The Group shortly expects to replace
this with a new licence under the Maltese gambling
regulations which came into force on 20 April 2004. For
further details on the licensing of the betting activities of
the Group, please refer to section “Business of Unibet” of
this document.

PLACING AGREEMENT 
Pursuant to a Placing Agreement between the Company,
the Selling Shareholders and H&Q, H&Q have agreed to
use all reasonable endeavours to procure purchasers for
the New Shares and the Sale Shares and the Company
and the Selling Shareholders have agreed to give certain
indemnities in connection with liabilities which may arise
under the Offering. 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS
The Company holds a number of trademarks based on the
word Unibet which are used in the business. The Com-
pany has sought registration in a number of other juris-
dictions for the trademark Unibet. Furthermore, the Com-
pany holds a number of domain names derived from the
trademark Unibet of which the most important is
www.unibet.com

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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INSURANCE 
The Board of Directors takes the view that it has satisfac-
tory insurance coverage in view of the risks arising from
its operations. Currently, the Group’s insurance policy
covers loss due to property damage, business interruption,
theft, public/products liability, employer’s liability and
terrorism. 

DISPUTES AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Except for the legal proceedings filed against the
Swedish Government, the investigation of an employee in
Finland and the suspended action against a consultant in
Denmark, each of which are described on page 53, there
are no current or pending disputes or legal proceedings
which have resulted in or can be expected to result in any
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial posi-
tion or results.

The Company’s Maltese subsidiary, Unibet
(International) Ltd, has initiated legal proceedings in Malta
against 24hBET International Ltd and Global Events On-
line Ltd alleging a breach of its intellectual property rights,
in particular, the use of the domain name www.united-
bet.com. This action accords with the Company’s policy of
pursuing any alleged infringement of its intellectual prop-
erty rights where reasonably justified. In the event that the
Company were not successful in these legal proceedings,
the Directors do not consider that such an outcome would
have a material adverse effect on the financial position of
the Company. 

COMPENSATION, REMUNERATION ETC.
In the financial year 2003, compensation and remunera-
tion due to senior executives other than the Chief Execu-
tive Officer, of which there were 5 people, amounted to
GBP 390,582, which included a fixed salary element of
GBP 364,980. Compensation and remuneration due to
the Chief Executive Officer for 2003 amounted to GBP
131,685, which included a fixed salary element of GBP
109,213. In 2003, the Chief Executive Officer was entitled
to a variable salary of a maximum of GBP 75,000, 40 per
cent. of which was determined by Gross Winnings and 60
per cent. by Profit Before Tax. Senior executives other
than the Chief Executive Officer are entitled to variable
salaries based on the achievement of pre-determined
business targets. The payment of the variable salary,
which is calculated after the accounts have been audited,
has been paid in respect of 2003. In 2003, the variable

salaries were GBP 21,883, subject to a maximum of
79,000 GPB. The compensation and remuneration for the
senior executives must be approved by the Compensation
Committee.

In 2003, the audit and consultancy fees charged by
the Company’s auditors totalled GBP 280,952.

The Chief Executive Officer is entitled to a notice
period of six months upon resignation and six months
upon termination by the Company. Other senior execu-
tives have notice periods of up to six months. None of the
senior executives, including the Chief Executive Officer, is
entitled to any redundancy payment. 

In 2003, remuneration paid to members of the Board
amounted to GBP 68,633, of which GBP 11,250 was paid
to the Chairman and GBP 35,230 represent fees for
consultancy services carried out by board members. For
further details of consultancy services provided by certain
board members, please refer to Transactions with related
parties in this section.

None of the Company’s senior executives or other
management has any pension arrangements with the
Company. 

For further details of options and Ordinary Shares
held by the Board and senior executives of the Company,
please refer to the description provided under the head-
ings Options in this section and Board of Directors, senior
executives and auditors.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
No member of the Board of Directors, management or
any auditor has participated in any business transaction
with the Group which is of an unusual nature or is on
unusual terms. Any transaction between the Company
and any such person has been on an arm’s length basis
and on normal commercial terms. 

Mats Sundström has an agreement with the Company
for supervising the listing process. For this task he is to be
paid GBP 20,000 for consultancy services. The payment
is conditional on Unibet obtaining a listing on the O-list of
Stockholmsbörsen. Peter Lindell has an agreement with
the Company to act as the project leader for the Company
in connection to the listing process. For this task he is
paid GBP 500 per full working day for consultancy serv-
ices.

The Company has not granted any loans to or security
for the benefit of any member of the Board of Directors,
management or any auditor.
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Fees and compensation to the Board and Executive management, 2003
Others Number of

Directors’ Variable (consultancy Ordinary Number of
(All numbers in GBP) Salary remuneration salary fees etc.) Shares1 options1

The board
Mats Sundstöm (Chairman) – 11,250 – – 10,750 –

Other Directors2 – 22,153 – 35,230 3               2,747,305 7,5004

Executive management
Pontus Lesse (CEO) 109,213 – 21,500 972 30,001 142,500

Other Executive management5 364,980 – 21,833 3,769 14,300 34,150

Total 474,193 33,403 43,383 39,971 2,802,356 176,6506

1 As of 15 April 2004.

2 Peter Boggs, Peter Lindell, Johan Lindgren, Henrik Tjärnström and Andreas Versteegh (no longer member of the Board). Anders Ströms remuneration is included in the section ”

Executive management”

3 See section ”Transactions with related parties”, page 94.

4 Refer to call options. For further information, see section ”Shareholders Agreements”, page 73.

5 Susan Ball, Martina Westin, Mats Sjöstedt, Kristian Nylén and Anders Ström.

6 Excluding 7,500 call options according to note 4 above.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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● Turnover for the first quarter amounted to GBP 43.9
(33.9) million.

● Gross Winnings amounted to GBP 5.2 (3.7) million
and Gross Winnings Margin was 12 (11) per cent..

● Profit after tax for the first quarter increased by 72 per
cent. to GBP 2.1 (1.2) million. 

● Earnings per share were GBP 0.185 (0.107), repre-
senting more than 72 per cent. increase.

“The strong performance of the Group last year contin-
ued into the first quarter 2004 with encouraging gross
winnings on sports betting and continued good levels of
income from casino.

It should be noted however, that the gross winnings
margin in the first quarter is unlikely to be sustained
throughout 2004. The gross winnings margins are
volatile and it is inadvisable to annualise the first quarter
result,” comments Pontus Lesse, CEO of Unibet.

UNIBET
Unibet is one of the largest privately owned gambling
operators in the Nordic market. The Company offers a
comprehensive range of online gambling products, such
as sports betting, live betting and online casino products.
Unibet focuses on the Nordic region, which holds about
75 per cent. of its customer base, as well as a few state-
regulated markets in Europe.

Unibet provides services in 12 languages to more than
275,000 registered users in over 100 countries.

On average Unibet handles over 100,000 customer
transactions (including bets, deposits and withdrawals)
every day. In addition, more than 500 odds on major inter-
national, as well as local sports events, are offered daily.
The majority of transactions are conducted via the Inter-
net, while only a small number of bets are placed over the
telephone.

Unibet’s targets are to grow organically by entering
new markets and with new products being added to the
operations.

Unless otherwise stated, the following information is
for the Group as a whole.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
FIRST QUARTER 2004
In February 2004, Unibet initiated, together with several
European colleagues, the European Betting Association,
EBA. The objective of this venture is to ensure a cross

border, competitive market with the same regulations for
all betting companies across Europe, state or privately run.

On 3 March, Unibet held an Extraordinary General
Meeting, at which all resolutions were approved to adopt
new Articles of Association, consolidate the nominal
share capital and other issues, conditional upon, and in
order to facilitate a potential IPO.

POST FIRST QUARTER EVENTS
Following changes in the VAT regime in Malta from 1 May
2004, on the occasion of its accession to the EU, certain
costs which are incurred by the Group in the UK and
recharged to Malta under transfer pricing arrangements
will bear irrecoverable Maltese VAT at 18 per cent. Had
these VAT provisions applied during the first quarter of
2004, the cost for the Group would have increased by
approximately GBP 328,000. Any Maltese VAT payments
made by the Group will be deductible for Maltese corpo-
ration tax. The Directors have taken steps which they
believe will materially reduce the impact of this VAT cost
in the short term and are examining ways of mitigating its
longer term impact. The Directors believe that the materi-
ality of this VAT cost to the Group will diminish over time.

MARKET
The worldwide gambling market can be divided into online
and offline gambling. Online is primarily Internet, but also
mobile phones, PDA’s and Digital TV, and offline means
gambling in a physical location, e.g. a betting shop or
casino. Gambling can also be divided into games of skill
(Sports betting, Horse racing, Poker, etc.) and games of
chance (Roulette, Black Jack, Slot machines, Lotto, etc.)
Recent changes in the market environment – i.e. techno-
logical change, deregulation, growth in internet penetra-
tion, etc – have fuelled exceptional growth in online gam-
bling. Online gambling is now billed as the second most
important Internet business.

Sports betting has enjoyed first mover advantage in
the online arena and been the driver of online gambling,
still holding over 50 per cent. of the online gambling mar-
ket. However, other areas such as casino games and lot-
teries are expanding into this area.

Using an average of industry estimates, the global
online market size in terms of gross winnings was GBP
2.1 billion for 2002 reaching GBP 4.1 billion in 2005. 

Unibet’s most important markets are the Nordic coun-
tries. The main reasons for selecting the priority markets

INTERIM REPORT, JANUARY- MARCH 2004
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have been a strong “betting culture” in the country created
by a successful and strong monopoly coupled with high
internet penetration. The estimates of the turnover for the
total Nordic online market for 2002 vary within a range
from GBP 550 million to GBP 600million.

Historically companies have been reluctant to venture
outside their home jurisdictions due to prejudicial tax rules
and difficulties in finding local partners. However, the
globalisation of the industry will open up a number of new
markets to companies able to operate across borders.

CURRENT PRODUCTS
Sports betting

Unibet’s sports betting service offers a comprehensive
range of odds on a variety of international and local
sports events, to a worldwide customer base 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week. Bets are placed via Unibet’s site,
www.unibet.com. 

The major part of this business is largely determined
by the seasons for key sports such as the major soccer
leagues in Europe, major golf and tennis tournaments as
well as ice hockey leagues in the Nordic countries and
North America. The seasonality of these events results in
fluctuations in the Group’s quarterly performance, espe-
cially in terms of turnover. However, quarterly results can
also vary widely, due to the volatility of gross margins.

Non-sports betting 

At present, non-sports betting comprises only casino
products. Unibet’s non-sports betting consists of 17 dif-
ferent online products including table games such as
Roulette, Black Jack Caribbean Stud and Baccarat as well
as video poker and slot machines.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
The financial statements have been presented in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
the accounting policies remain unchanged from last year. 

The core sports betting business of Unibet has grown
continually over the past three financial years. The growth
is largely experienced across all Unibet’s geographical
markets, and the Group has continued to concentrate on
the Nordic region.

The recent introduction of non-sports betting products
has strongly contributed to Unibet’s results and has
helped to smooth out the seasonal effect and volatility of
sports betting.

JANUARY–MARCH 2004

TURNOVER
Turnover from Unibet’s core sports betting business has
continued to grow in the first quarter 2004 and amounted
to GBP 42.1 (33.9) million. The non-sports betting, intro-
duced in November 2003, saw a strong result amounting
to GBP 1.8 million for the quarter. Total turnover increased
by 29 per cent. compared with the same period last year,
to GBP 43.9 (33.9) million. In Sweden, turnover grew by
7 per cent., and there was a particularly strong improve-
ment in the rest of the Nordic countries of 26 per cent.. 

Unibet has seen increased customer registrations
during the quarter. The total number of registered cus-
tomers exceeded 275,000 at 31 March 2004, when at 31
December 2003, 256,000 customers were registered.
The number of active customers amounted to 62,315 at
31 March 2004, to be compared with 64,199 active
customers at 31 December 2003.

Turnover by market and business segment 

(based on country of residence of customer)
Q1 2004 Q1 2003 Full year 2003

Sports Non-Sports Sports Non-Sports 
GBP thousand Betting Betting Total Total*           Betting Betting Total

Sweden 17,002 1,123 18,125 16,948 66,192 760 66,952

Rest of Nordic 8,971 477 9,448 7,476 35,392 313 35,705 

Other 16,123 179 16,302 9,471 40,752 133 40,885

Total 42,096 1,779 43,875 33,895 142,336 1,206 143,542

* All turnover relates wholly to Sports Betting.
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GROSS WINNINGS
Gross winnings represent the net receipt of bets and pay-
outs within the consolidated entity for the financial period.
The gross winnings are shown per market and business
segments as described above. The business segments
are sports betting and non-sports betting. For the non-
sports betting segment, gross winnings equate to turnover
less transaction costs and commissions payable to the
operator.

To focus on skills and maximise gross winnings the
Gaming department consist of odds compiler and a trad-
ing team. The odds compilers’ task is to assess probabili-
ties and to set prices (odds) for different outcomes on a
wide range of events. The task for the trading team is to
manage the overall risk of the sports book.

The gross winnings margin for the first quarter 2004 was
12 (11) per cent.. Gross winnings margins can vary quite
significantly from one quarter to the next, depending the
outcome of sporting events, i.e. not always as predicted.
However, over time these margins will even out, as a

rolling average margin calculated from January 2000 to
March 2004 demonstrates, at 8 per cent.. This can be
seen in the table below. The bars show gross winnings
margin by month.

Gross Winnings by market and business segment
Q1 2004 Q1 2003 Full year 2003

Sports Non-Sports Sports Non-Sports 
GBP thousand Betting Betting Total Total*           Betting Betting Total

Sweden 2,348 997 3,345 2,233 7,315 683 7,998

Rest of Nordic 951 424 1,375 892 3,170 282 3,452 

Other 358 159 517 591 1,155 120 1,554

Total 3,657 1,580 5,237 3,716 11,640 1,085 13,004

* All gross winnings relates wholly to Sports Betting.

Rolling average Gross Winnings Margin on Sports Betting
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GROSS PROFIT 
Gross profit increased by 40 per cent. from GBP 3.6 mil-
lion in the first quarter 2003 to GBP 5.0 million in the
same period 2004.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Administrative expenses include all indirect costs of
running the business and are a combination of activity
related costs and fixed costs such as marketing, salaries
etc.

During the first quarter 2004, administrative expenses
were slighty higher at GBP 2.1 (2.0) million compared with
the same period last year. As a percentage of turnover,
these costs have decreased from 6 per cent. to 5 per
cent.. Of the administrative expenses GBP 0.7 (0.7) were
marketing costs and GBP 0.1 (0.1) were salaries.

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
Q1 2004 resulted in a profit from operations of GBP 2.9
(1.6) million.

CAPITALISED DEVELOPMENT EXPENDI-
TURE
These results have been prepared under International
Financial Reporting Standards, which require the capitali-
sation of certain development costs. In the first quarter
2004, expenditure of GBP 0.2 (0.1) million, has been
capitalised. 

FINANCIAL POSITION AND CASH FLOW
The cash in hand position at the end of the first quarter
stood at GBP 12.2 (6.5) million while at the beginning of
the period it was GBP 8.6 million. The Group is completely
free of debt. The cash inflow for the first quarter was GBP
3.6 (1.6) million, which arose mainly from profit from
operations.

EMPLOYEES
Unibet had 88 employees at the end of the first quarter
2004.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
The Annual General Meeting was held on 16 April 2004,
in London where Mats Sundström, Peter Boggs,
Peter Lindell, Johan Lindgren, Anders Ström and Henrik
Tjärnström were re-elected as Directors. Mats Sundström
was re-elected Chairman of the Board of Directors at the
constitutional Board meeting immediately after the AGM.

FORTHCOMING FINANCIAL REPORTING
TIMETABLE
Interim Report January – 
June 2004 20 August 2004
Interim Report January – 
September 2004 2 November 2004
Year End Report 16 February 2005

London, 23 April 2004

Pontus Lesse
CEO

For further information please contact:

Pontus Lesse, CEO +44 (0)208 545 2310
Sue Ball, CFO +44 (0)208 545 2312 

This report has been reviewed by Unibet’s auditors. The
review has been carried out in accordance with the
United Kingdom Auditing Practices Board Bulletin
1999/4 “Review of interim financial information”. 

Unibet Group plc
Company number 04049409 
A company registered in England and Wales 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Full year

GBP 000 Q1 2004 Q1 2003 2003

Revenue 43,875 33,895 143,542 

Cost of sales (38,884) (30,324) (131,554) 

Gross profit 4,991 3,571 11,988 

Administrative expenses (2,125) (1,976) (8,214) 

Profit from operations 2,866 1,595 3,774 

Finance costs – (25) (25) 

Income from investments 67 31 113 

Profit before tax 2,933 1,601 3,862 

Income tax expense (880) (408) (982) 

Profit after tax 2,053 1,193 2,880 

Earnings per share, GBP 0.185 0.107 0.259

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 

the purposes of basic earnings per share 11,118,196 11,118,196 11,118,196 

Fully diluted earnings per share, GBP 0.177 0.103 0.243

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 

the purposes of diluted earnings per share 11,601,196 11,732,774 11,952,072 

KEY RATIOS
Full year

Q1 2004 Q1 2003 2003

Operating margin, % 6.53% 4.71% 2.63%

(Profit from operations/revenue for the period)

Return on equity, % 35.0% 43.0% 82.1%

(Profit after tax/average of opening and closing equity for the period)

Return on total assets, % 16.8% 15.9% 34.2%

(Profit after tax/average of opening and closing assets for the period)

Equity/assets ratio, % 49% 39% 47%

Employees at period end 88 76 80

Earnings per share, GBP 0.185 0.107 0.259

Fully diluted earnings per share, GBP 0.177 0.103 0.243

No. of shares at period end 11,118,196 11,118,196 11,118,196 

Fully diluted no. of shares at period end 11,601,196 12,127,511 11,601,196 

Average number of shares 11,118,196 11,118,196 11,118,196 

Average number of fully diluted shares 11,601,196 11,732,774 11,952,072

The basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share has been calculated based upon the number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary

shares in issue prior to the Listing. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
31 Mar 31 Mar 31 Dec

GBP 000 2004 2003 2003

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 793 955 834 

Intangible assets 758 512 657 

Deferred tax assets – – 9 

1,551 1,467 1,500 

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 293 636 330 

Cash and cash equivalents 12,201 6,452 8,555 

12,494 7,088 8,885

TOTAL ASSETS 14,045 8,555 10,385 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 111 111 111 

Share premium 1,421 1,650 1,421 

Translation reserve 3 4 9 

Merger reserve 1,533 1,533 1,533 

Accumulated profits 3,815 75 1,762 

6,883 3,373 4,836 

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 1,638 438 872 

1,638 438 872 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables1 5,218 4,594 4,443 

Tax liabilities 306 150 234 

5,524 4,744 4,677 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 14,045 8,555 10,385 

1 Included in Trade and other payables at 31 March 2004 are customer balances of GBP 3.4 million (31 December 2003: GBP 2,8 million).

Reconciliation of movements in equity
Full year

Q1 2004 Q1 2003 2003

Opening balance 4,836 2,178 2,178 

Costs incurred on potential Initial Public Offering – – (228) 

Translation differences (6) 2 6 

Profit and loss account 2,053 1,193 2,880 

Closing balance 6,883 3,373 4,836 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Full year

GBP 000 Q1 2004 Q1 2003 2003

Operating activities
Profit from operations 2,866 1,595 3,774 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 141 135 616 

Amortisation of intangible assets 105 70 340 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – – 1 

Operating cashflows before movements in working capital 3,112 1,800 4,731 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 92 (386) (87) 

Increase/(decrease) in payables 735 1,533 1,308 

Cash generated by operations 3,939 2,947 5,952 

Income taxes paid – – (18) 

Interest paid – (25) (25) 

Net cash from operating activities 3,939 2,922 5,909 

Investing activities
Interest received 67 31 113 

Sale of trade investment – – 41 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (100) (248) (582) 

Costs of intangible assets (206) (138) (553) 

Net cash used in investing activities (239) (355) (981) 

Financing activities
Repayment of borrowings including equity element – (1,000) (1,000) 

Costs incurred on potential Initial Public Offering (55) – (228) 

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (55) (1,000) (1,228) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,645 1,567 3,700 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,555 4,917 4,917 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1 (32) (62) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 12,201 6,452 8,555 
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This section contains the Group’s consolidated financial
statements according to IFRS for the three years ended
31 December 2001, 2002 and 2003, along with the
accompanying notes to the financial statements in rela-
tion to those years. 

As described in the section entitled “Financial
Overview”, in this document, Unibet’s statutory financial
statements have historically been prepared under UK
GAAP, and subsequently converted to IFRS. Furthermore,
as also described in that section, the Group’s first set of
statutory financial statements were prepared for the 17-

month period to 31 December 2001. Therefore, in addition
to the IFRS financial statements and accompanying notes
for the three years ended 31 December 2003, Unibet has,
in accordance with NBK guidelines, also presented the
following in this section:
● financial statements according to IFRS for the 17-

month period ended 31 December 2001; and
● profit/(loss) after tax and shareholders’ equity recon-

ciliations between original UK GAAP financial state-
ments and restated IFRS financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December

GBP Note 2003 2002 2001

Revenue 3 143,541,949 102,133,886 52,655,013

Cost of sales (131,554,375) (93,131,130) (50,072,520)

Gross profit 11,987,574 9,002,756 2,582,493

Other operating income – – 8,834

Administrative expenses (8,213,525) (7,814,091) (4,118,859)

Profit/(Loss) from operations 3,4 3,774,049 1,188,665 (1,527,532)

Finance costs 5 (25,000) (100,000) (28,112)

Income from investments 6 112,979 43,020 37,066

Profit/(Loss) before tax 3,862,028 1,131,685 (1,518,578)

Income tax expense 7 (981,802) (55,634) (55,209)

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX 2,880,226 1,076,051 (1,573,787)

Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic 9 0.259 0.102 (0.150)

Diluted 9 0.243 0.102 (0.150)

All profits and losses are attributable to equity holders of Unibet Group plc. There is no minority interest holding. All other group 

companies are subsidiaries whose results have been included in full. All transactions are derived from continuing activities.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
31 December

GBP Note 2003 2002 2001

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 834,539 842,253 977,095

Intangible assets 10 657,200 443,539 319,508

Deferred tax assets 17 8,641 – –

1,500,380 1,285,792 1,296,603
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 329,840 242,448 178,005

Cash and cash equivalents 8,554,632 4,917,411 2,263,129

Tax assets – 8,455 –

8,884,472 5,168,314 2,441,134

TOTAL ASSETS 10,384,852 6,454,106 3,737,737

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 14,15 111,182 111,182 104,732

Share premium 15 1,421,350 1,649,645 656,345

Translation reserve 15 8,436 2,495 (1,818)

Merger reserve 15 1,533,283 1,533,283 1,533,283

Accumulated profits 15 1,761,727 (1,118,499) (2,194,550)

4,835,978 2,178,106 97,992
Non-current liabilities
Convertible loan notes 16 – – 1,000,000

Deferred tax liabilities 17 871,706 130,948 89,462

871,706 130,948 1,089,462
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 4,442,892 3,134,374 2,533,175
Convertible loan notes 16 – 1,000,000 –

Tax liabilities 234,276 10,678 17,108

4,677,168 4,145,052 2,550,283

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 10,384,852 6,454,106 3,737,737

There is no minority interest holding.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Exchange differences arising on translation of overseas operations 5,941 4,313 (1,283)

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in the income statement 5,941 4,313 (1,283)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 2,880,226 1,076,051 (1,573,787)

Total recognised gains and losses 2,886,167 1,080,364 (1,575,070)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the three years ended 31 December 2003

31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Operating activities
Profit/(loss) from operations 3,774,049 1,188,665 (1,527,532)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 616,570 449,914 312,616

Amortisation of intangible assets 339,691 200,621 96,061

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 510 4,983 8,441

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 4,730,820 1,844,183 (1,110,414)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (87,392) (64,443) 72,703

Increase in payables 1,308,518 601,199 1,554,443

Cash generated by operations 5,951,946 2,385,733 521,687

Income taxes paid (17,632) (29,033) 2,094

Interest paid (25,000) (100,000) (28,112)

Net cash from operating activities 5,909,314 2,251,906 490,714

Investing activities
Interest received 112,979 43,020 37,066

Sale of trade investment 41,082 – –

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (581,613) (289,009) (684,772)

Costs of intangible assets (553,352) (324,652) (300,713)

Net cash used in investing activities (980,904) (570,641) (948,419)

Financing activities
Repayments of borrowings including equity element (1,000,000) – –

Proceeds on issue of ordinary share capital – 999,750 659,035

Increase in debt – – 1,000,000

Costs incurred on potential Initial Public Offering (228,295) – –

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (1,228,295) 999,750 1,659,035

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,700,115 2,681,015 1,201,330

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,917,411 2,263,129 1,049,995

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (62,894) (26,733) 11,804

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 8,554,632 4,917,411 2,263,129
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the three years ended 31 December 2003
1. General
UNIBET Group PLC (the Company) is a public limited company

incorporated in the UK. The principal activities of the Company

and its subsidiaries (the Group) are described in note 12.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), previously

referred to as International Accounting Standards (IAS).

The financial statements have been prepared on the histori-

cal cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial

instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are set

out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and enterprises controlled by the

Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year.

Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern

the financial and operating policies of an investee enterprise so

as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of Strategie Dynamique NV (a subsidiary dis-

posed of during the year to 31 December 2003) are included in

the consolidated income statement from the effective date of

acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal.

Where necessary adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used

into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances

between Group and enterprises are eliminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition
Revenue represents amounts receivable in respect of bets

placed on events which occurred by the year end.

Leasing
All leases are classified as operating leases. Rentals payable

under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line

basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Foreign currencies
The Company operates both in and outside of the UK. These

financial statements are presented in GBP since that is the cur-

rency of the country in which the Group is registered. Transac-

tions in currencies other than GBP are initially recorded at the

rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of transactions. Mone-

tary assets and liabilities denominated in such currencies are

retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.

Profits and losses arising on exchange are included in the net

profit or loss for the period.

The Company does not enter into forward contracts nor

options to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risks. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s

overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing

on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are trans-

lated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange

differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred

to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences

are recognised as income or as expenses in the same period in

which the operation is disposed of.

Retirement benefit costs and Pensions
The Group does not operate any pension scheme for employees

or directors and therefore incurs no costs operating such

schemes. 

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the

year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income

statement because it excludes items of income or expense that

are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes

items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for

current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable

on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabil-

ities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis

used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for

using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities

are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences

and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is

probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets

and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference

arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax

profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary

differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates

and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to

control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at

each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected

to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset

realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income state-

ment, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly

to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in

equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate

to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the

Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a

net basis.

Internally generated intangible assets – research and develop-
ment expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from the

Group is recognised only if all of the following are met:

• An asset is created that can be identified (such as a database

or software).

• It is probable that the asset created will generate future 

economic benefits; and

• The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recog-

nised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred. Internally generated intangible

assets are amortised on a straight line basis over three years. 

Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valua-

tion of the assets over their estimated useful lives, using the

straight line method, on the following bases:

Plant and machinery 3 years

Office equipment 3 years

Fixtures and fittings 3 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their

expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,

where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an

asset is determined as the difference between the sales pro-

ceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

income.

Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by

appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges,

including premiums payable on settlement or redemption, are

accounted for on an accruals basis and are added to the carrying

amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled

in the period in which they arise.

Convertible debenture notes
Convertible debenture notes are regarded as compound instru-

ments, consisting of a liability and an equity component. At the

date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated

using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convert-

ible debt. The difference between the net proceeds of the issue

of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the

liability component, representing the embedded option to convert

the liability of the Group, is included in equity (capital reserves). 

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity

components of the convertible loan notes based on their relative

carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the

equity component is charged directly against equity.

The interest expense on the liability is calculated by applying

the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt

to the liability component of the instrument. The difference

between this amount and the interest paid is added to the carry-

ing amount of the convertible loan note.

Trade payables
Trade payables are stated at their nominal value.

Equity compensation schemes
No charge is recognised in the income statement in respect of

equity settled compensation schemes.

3. Business and geographical segments
For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into

two operating divisions – sports betting and non-sports betting.

These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its

primary segment information. 

The principal activities are as follows:

Sports – Bets taken on sporting events

Non-sports betting – Bets taken on non sporting events

The work of all employees relates principally to sports betting. 

31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
2003 2002 2001

Finance, administration 

and management 39 35 27

Marketing 11 9 7

Gaming 17 12 9

Research and development 8 8 2

75 64 45
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Note 3 cont.
Segmental information about these businesses is presented

below.
Sports Non-Sports

GBP Betting Betting Total

2003
Revenue
External Sales 142,336,430 1,205,519 143,541,949

Total Revenue 142,336,430 1,205,519 143,541,949

Result
Segment result 2,689,082 1,084,967 3,774,049

Profit from operations 2,689,082 1,084,967 3,774,049

Finance costs – (25,000)

Income from investments – 112,979

Profit before tax – 3,862,028

Income tax expense (981,802)

Profit after tax 2,880,226

Other information
Capital additions 1,134,965 – 1,134,965

Depreciation and 

amortisation 956,260 – 956,260

Balance sheet
Assets 

– Segment Assets 10,384,852 – 10,384,852

Liabilities 

– Segment Liabilities 5,548,874 – 5,548,874

2002
Revenue
External Sales 102,133,886 – 102,133,886

Total Revenue 102,133,886 – 102,133,886

Result
Segment result 1,188,665 – 1,188,665

Profit from operations 1,188,665 – 1,188,665

Finance costs – (100,000)

Income from investments – 43,020

Profit before tax 1,131,685

Income tax expense (55,634)

Profit after tax 1,076,051

Other information
Capital additions 613,661 – 613,661

Depreciation and 

amortisation 650,535 – 650,535

Balance sheet
Assets

– Segment Assets 6,454,106 – 6,454,106

Liabilities

– Segment Liabilities 4,276,000 – 4,276,000

Sports Non-Sports
GBP Betting Betting Total

2001
Revenue
External Sales 52,655,013 – 52,655,013

Total Revenue 52,655,013 – 52,655,013

Result
Segment result (1,527,532) – (1,527,532)

Loss from operations (1,527,532) – (1,527,532)

Finance costs (28,112)

Income from investments 37,066

Loss before tax (1,518,578)

Income tax expense (55,209)

Loss after tax (1,573,787)

Other information
Capital additions 977,044 – 977,044

Depreciation and 

amortisation 408,676 – 408,676

Balance sheet
Assets 

– Segment Assets 3,737,737 – 3,737,737

Liabilities 

– Segment Liabilities 3,639,745 – 3,639,745

Geographical segments
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Sales revenue by geographical market

Sweden 66,952,407 57,497,280 36,720,014

Rest of Nordic 35,705,172 20,964,337 4,494,023

Other 40,884,370 23,672,269 11,440,976

143,541,949 102,133,886 52,655,013

Carrying amount of segment assets

Sweden 185,955 390,996 477,086

Other 1,644,265 1,145,699 997,522

Cash 8,554, 632 4,917,411 2,263,129

10,384,852 6,454,106 3,737,737

Additions to Fixed Assets

Sweden 28,398 65,551 500,953

Other 1,106,558 548,110 484,532

1,134,965 613,661 985,485
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4. Profit from operations
Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging:

Year ended 31 December
GBP 2003 2002 2001

Foreign exchange loss on 

transactions 277,736 122,769 5,476

Total staff costs incurred during the period amounted to GBP

2,527,933 (2002: GBP 1,664,665 2001: GBP 1,169,000) and

total amortisation of intangible assets included in administrative

expenses amounted to £339,691 (2002: GBP 200,621, 2001:

GBP 96,061). Total depreciation included in administrative

expenses amounted to GBP 616,570) (2002: GBP 449,914,

2001: GBP 312,616).

5. Finance costs
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Interest on convertible 

loan notes (note 16) 25,000 100,000 28,112

6. Income from investments
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Interest on bank deposits 112,979 43,020 37,066

7. Income tax expense
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Current tax:

Domestic (4,416) 2,664 (7,738)

Foreign (245,269) (16,812) (23,489)

(249,685) (14,148) (31,227)

Deferred tax (note 17):

Current year (732,117) (41,486) (23,982)

(732,117) (41,486) (23,982)

Total tax charge (981,802) (55,634) (55,209)

Domestic income tax is calculated at 30 per cent. (2002: 30 per

cent., 2001: 30 per cent.) of the estimated assessable profit for

the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. The charge for the year

can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as fol-

lows: 

Note 7 cont.
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Profit/(Loss) before tax 3,862,028 1,131,685 (1,518,578)

Tax at the domestic 

income tax rate of 30% 

(2002: 30%, 

2001: 30%) (1,158,608) (339,506) 455,573

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible 

for tax purposes (31,446) (28,319) (75,495)

Capital allowances in 

excess of depreciation (16,561) 796 43,212

Utilisation/(Addition) 

of tax losses 250,078 308,469 (608,782)

Overseas tax rates 649,160 (664) 125,223

Other 3,900 (1,570) 5,060

Provision for tax on 

future remittance of 

overseas earnings (676,902) – –

Prior period adjustments (1,423) 5,160 –

Tax charge (981,802) (55,634) (55,209)

8. Dividends
For the three years ended 31 December 2003 there have been

no dividends paid or received.

9. Earnings/(Loss) per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

based on the following data:

Year ended 31 December
GBP 2003 2002 2001

Earnings
Earnings for the purposes 

of basic earnings per 

share (net profit/(loss) 

for the year) 2,880,226 1,076,051 (1,573,787)

Effect of dilutive potential 

ordinary shares:

Interest on convertible 

loan notes (net of tax) 18,645 95,084 8,333

Earnings for the purposes 

of diluted earnings 

per share 2,898,871 1,171,135 (1,565,454)
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Note 9 cont.
Year ended 31 December

2003 2002 2001

Number of shares
Weighted average number 

of ordinary shares for the 

purposes of basic earnings 

per share 11,118,196 10,531,511 10,473,196

Effect of dilutive potential 

ordinary shares

Convertible loan notes 350,876 526,315 –

Share options 483,000 455,000 –

Weighted average number 

of ordinary shares for the 

purposes of diluted 

earnings per share 11,952,072 11,512,826 10,473,196

The denominators for the purposes of calculating both basic and

diluted earnings per share have been adjusted to reflect the issue

of capital in November 2002.

The basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share has been cal-

culated based upon the number of ordinary shares and potential

ordinary shares in issue prior to the Listing.

10. Intangible assets
Development

GBP costs Total

Cost 
At 1 January 2001 125,297 125,297

Additions 300,713 300,713

At 31 December 2001 426,010 426,010

Additions 324,652 324,652

At 31 December 2002 750,662 750,662

Additions 553,352 553,352

At 31 December 2003 1,304,014 1,304,014

Amortisation
At 1 January 2001 10,441 10,441

Charge for the year 96,061 96,061

At 31 December 2001 106,502 106,502

Charge for the year 200,621 200,621

At 31 December 2002 307,123 307,123

Charge for the year 339,691 339,691

At 31 December 2003 646,814 646,814

Carrying Amount
At 31 December 2003 657,200 657,200

At 31 December 2002 443,539 443,539

At 31 December 2001 319,508 319,508

The amortisation period for development costs incurred on the

Group’s e-business development is three years.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
Group Plant and Fixtures and Office
GBP machinery fittings equipment Total

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2001 29,559 147,433 502,738 679,730

Additions 29,254 146,853 508,665 684,772

Disposals – – (8,441) (8,441)

At 31 December 2001 58,813 294,286 1,002,962 1,356,061

Additions – 6,135 282,874 289,009

Disposals (5,668) (5,345) (16,870) (27,883)

Foreign exchange translation difference – – 46,395 46,395

At 31 December 2002 53,145 295,076 1,315,361 1,663,582

Additions 25,849 2,635 553,129 581,613

Disposals – – (2,532) (2,532)

Foreign exchange translation difference – – 62,854 62,854

At 31 December 2003 78,994 297,711 1,928,812 2,305,517

Depreciation
At 1 January 2001 3,152 10,895 52,303 66,350

Charge for the year 14,853 51,333 246,430 312,616

At 31 December 2001 18,005 62,228 298,733 378,966

Disposals (4,251) (3,665) (14,984) (22,900)

Charge for the year 13,039 64,318 372,557 449,914

Foreign exchange translation difference – – 15,349 15,349

At 31 December 2002 26,793 122,881 671,655 821,329

Charge for the year 11,409 59,248 545,913 616,570

Foreign exchange translation difference – – 33,718 33,718

Disposals – – (639) (639)

At 31 December 2003 38,202 182,129 1,250,647 1,470,978

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2003 40,792 115,582 678,165 834,539

At 31 December 2002 26,352 172,195 643,706 842,253

At 31 December 2001 40,808 232,058 704,229 977,095

12. Subsidiaries
Details of the company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2003 are as follows:

Proportion of ownership
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation and voting power Activity

Unibet (London) Limited Great Britain 100 Service Centre

Unibet (Holding) Limited Malta 100 Non-trading

Unibet (International) Limited Malta 100 Call Centre 

Firstclear Limited Great Britain 100 Cash Management

Unibet Software R&D AB Sweden 100 Research and development

During the year Strategie Dynamique NV was disposed of to Bart Vermassen and a close family member for a consideration of euro

20,000. Mr Vermassen was a director of certain Unibet Group plc subsidiaries. The transaction created a loss on disposal of GBP 38,217.

This does not have a material impact on the consolidated income or balance sheet statements. 
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15. Capital and translation reserves
On 28 November 2002 645,000 1p shares were issued for GBP 999,750 consideration. The premium arising on these shares was GBP

993,300. The brought forward merger reserve at 1 January 2001 relates to the acquisition of Unibet (London) Limited on 1 August 2000. 

During the year ended 31 December 2003 GBP 228,295 of share issue costs relating to the proposed Initial Public Offering on the

Stockholm stock exchange were incurred. These have been offset against share premium and will be offset against share capital when

the offering is complete. 

Share premium Translation Mergeer Accumulated
GBP Share capital account reserve reserve profits Total

Reserves brought forward at 1 January 2001 102,042 – – 1,533,283 (620,763) 1,014,562

Shares issued 2,690 656,345 – – – 659,035

Net loss for the year – – – – (1,573,787) (1,573,787)

Foreign exchange differences on the translation 

of net equity investments in foreign enterprises – – (1,818) – – (1,818)

At 31 December 2001 104,732 656,345 (1,818) 1,533,283 (2,194,550) 97,992

Shares issued 6,450 993,300 – – – 999,750

Net profit for the year – – – – 1,076,051 1,076,051

Foreign exchange differences on the translation 

of net equity investments in foreign enterprises – – 4,313 – – 4,313

At 31 December 2002 111,182 1,649,645 2,495 1,533,283 (1,118,499) 2,178,106

Share issue costs incurred during potential 

Initial Public Offering Costs – (228,295) – – – (228,295)

Net loss for the year – – – – 2,880,226 2,880,226

Foreign exchange differences on the translation 

of net equity investments in foreign enterprises – – 5,941 – – 5,941

At 31 December 2003 111,182 1,421,350 8,436 1,533,283 1,761,727 4,835,978

13. Other financial assets
There were no trade receivables arising from the sale of goods at

the balance sheet date (2002: GBP nil, 2001: GBP nil). No

allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts

from the sale of goods (2002: GBP nil, 2001: GBP nil). No credit

period is allowed. The directors consider that the carrying amount

of the trade and other receivables approximates their fair values.

The group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with

exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and cus-

tomers. 

14. Share capital
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Authorised:

100,000,000 ordinary shares

of GBP 0.01 each 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares 

of GBP 0.01 each 111,182 111,182 104,732

The issue of 10,204,200 ordinary shares of GBP 0.01 each for

the acquisition of Unibet (London) Limited occurred on 1 Novem-

ber 2000. The shares were issued at par value in exchange for

the entire share capital of Unibet (London) Limited.

On 6 February 2001, 268,994 ordinary shares of GBP 0.01

were issued GBP 2.45 each. On 28 November 2002, a further

645,000 ordinary shares were issued at GBP 1.55.
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16. Convertible loan notes
Group 31 December
GBP 2003 2002 2001

Convertible debenture 10% – 1,000,000 1,000,000

The convertible debenture was issued during September 2001

and was secured by way of a floating charge against all assets.

The notes were convertible into ordinary shares of the Company

at specified dates between the issue of the notes and their set-

tlement date, 1 September 2003. On issue, the loan notes were

convertible at 1 share per GBP 1.90 loan note. On 31 March

2003 the debenture loan issued in connection with the Conver-

tible Debenture 10 per cent. was redeemed in full at par. All other

rights, including the warrants element, remained in place until

1 September 2003. This option to convert the debenture into

warrants was not exercised. 

The financial cost charged in the profit and loss account con-

tains the coupon on the debenture.

17. Deferred tax
The Group’s deferred tax position is analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 December
GBP 2003 2002 2001

Deferred tax liabilities (871,706) (130,948) (89,462)

Deferred tax assets 8,641 – –

Net position (863,065) (130,948) (89,462)

Note 17 cont.
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior

reporting periods:

Deferred tax liabilities
Capitalised Tax allocation Unremitted Accelerated tax Unrealised 

GBP expenditure reserves earnings depreciation exchange loss Total

At 1 January 2001 (32,159) – – (33,321) – (65,480)

(Charge)/credit to income 

for the year (57,303) – – 33,321 – (23,982)

At 31 December 2001 (89,462) – – – – (89,462)

(Charge) to income for the year (34,729) (6,757) – – – (41,486)

At 31 December 2002 (124,191) (6,757) – – – (130,948)

(Charge)/credit to income for the year (59,825) (4,031) (676,902) 1,428 7,213 (732,117)

At 31 December 2003 (184,016) (10,788) (676,902) 1,428 7,213 (863,065)

At 31 December 2003, the Group had unused tax trading losses

of GBP 580,784 (2002: GBP 1,357,172, 2001: GBP 2,437,030)

available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset in

respect of GBP 5,093 (2002: GBP 59,910, 2001: GBP 58,715)

of the losses has been recognised in offsetting a deferred tax

liability of the same amount. No deferred tax asset has been

recognised in respect of the remaining losses. 
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18. Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstand-

ing for trade purchases and ongoing costs. It is the Group policy

to pay in accordance with suppliers’ terms.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade

payables approximates their fair value.

19. Capital commitments
The Group has not entered into any contracted fixed asset

expenditure as at 31 December 2001, 2002 or 2003.

20. Operating lease commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commit-

ments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as

follows:
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Expiry date:

Within one year 1,200 – –

In the second to fifth 

years inclusive 118,903 145,322 115,345

After five years 27,609 28,000 –

Operating lease payments represent rent paid by the group on

properties in the UK, Sweden and Malta. 

21. Subsequent events
The group is currently seeking a listing on Stockholmsbörsen. 

22. Related party transactions
Year ended 31 December 2001
During 1999 Unibet (London) Limited received a loan from

Fivefold & More (Stockholm), a Swedish company in which

Anders Strom has a beneficial interest, of 1,000,000 SEK at an

interest rate of 6 per cent. compounded annually. By August

2001, only GBP 2,928 of capital remained, and this was consoli-

dated into Unibet Group Plc. The balance was repaid by

31 December 2001. During the 17-month month period to

31 December 2001, management charges of GBP 15,000 were

paid to Growth Partner Limited, a company in which A. Versteegh

has an interest. 

Year ended 31 December 2002
During the year ended 31 December 2002, consulting fees of

GBP 17,872 were paid to Living Capital Limited, a company in

which A. Versteegh has an interest.

Year ended 31 December 2003
On 31 August 2003, the entire share capital of Strategie

Dynamique N.V. was sold to Bart Vermassen and a close family

member. Bart Vermassen was a director of certain Unibet Group

plc subsidiary companies until his resignation on 1 April 2003.

The consideration for these ordinary shares was EUR 20,000,

which was paid in full during the year.

During 2001 Pontus Lesse received GBP 11,740 of loans in

respect of advanced residence payments of which GBP 1,422

remained outstanding as at 31 December 2001. This amount was

repaid on 8 October 2002.

During 2001 Anders Strom received GBP 22,351 of loans in

respect of advanced residence payments of which GBP 1,422

remained outstanding as at 31 December 2001. This amount was

repaid on 26 July 2002.

Directors’ remuneration
Year ended 31 December

GBP 2003 2002 2001

Aggregate emoluments 278,739 234,709 160,239

The highest paid director was Anders Strom, who received emol-

uments of GBP 121,776 during the year (2002: GBP 112,997,

2001: GBP 83,705).
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23. Equity compensation schemes
Options 

Options Options Options Options Options granted/  Outstanding 
as at granted as at granted as at (lapsed) options as at  

Option 1 January during 31 December during 31 December during 31 December
price 2001 the year 2001 the year 2002 the year 20031

GBP Number Number Number Number Number Number Number 

Exercise Window

1–15 February 2004 1.76 300,000 – 300,000 – 300,000 300,000

1–15 February 2004 3.53 60,000 – 60,000 – 60,000 (20,000) 40,000

1–15 May 2004 3.53 45,000 45,000 – 45,000 45,000

1–15 November 2004 2.74 28,000 28,000 – 28,000 28,000

1–15 November 2004 3.53 5,000 5,000 – 5,000 5,000

1–15 February 2006 2.01 – – 5,000 5,000 5,000

1–15 May 2005 2.74 – – 12,000 12,000 (10,000) 2,000

1–15 May 2006 2.01 58,000 58,000

360,000 478,000 438,000 17,000 455,000 28,000 483,000

1 These option terms have all been re-negotiated since the disclosure at 31 December 2003, shown on page 76.

No share options were exercised during the three years to 31 December 2003.

All options can only be exercised during the windows shown above. No amounts relating to share options have been recognised in

these financial statements.

24. Contingent liabilities
Currently the Group has not provided for potential or actual

claims arising from the marketing of gaming activities in certain

jurisdictions as set out on page 52 and 53 “Risk Factors”.

Based on current legal advice the Directors do not anticipate

that the outcome of proceedings and potential claims, if any, set

out above will have a material adverse effect upon the Group’s

financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the 17 months ended 31 December 2001

17 months ended
GBP 31 December 2001

Revenue 67,123,759

Cost of sales (63,222,278)

Gross profit 3,901,481

Other operating income 5,373

Administrative expenses (5,047,974)

Loss from operations (1,141,120)

Finance costs (32,522)

Income from investments 56,780

Loss before tax (1,116,862)

Income tax expense (129,464)

LOSS AFTER TAX (1,246,326)

Loss per share
Basic (0.145)

Diluted (0.145)

All profits and losses are attributable to equity holders of Unibet

Group plc. There is no minority interest holding. All other group

companies are subsidiaries whose results have been included in

full.

All transactions are derived from continuing activities.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
31 December 2001
GBP 31 December 2001

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 977,095

Intangible assets 319,508

1,296,603

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 178,005

Cash and cash equivalents 2,263,129

2,441,134

TOTAL ASSETS 3,737,737

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 104,732

Share premium 656,345

Translation reserve (1,818)

Merger reserve 1,533,283

Accumulated profits (2,194,550)

97,992

Non-current liabilities
Convertible loan notes 1,000,000

Deferred tax liabilities 89,462

1,089,462

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 2,533,175

Tax liabilities 17,108

2,550,283

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,737,737

There is no minority interest holding.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
For the 17 months ended 31 December 2001

17 months ended
GBP 31 December 2001

Exchange differences arising on 

translation of overseas operations (1,818)

Net losses not recognised in 

the income statement (1,818)

Net loss for the year (1,246,326)

TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES (1,248,144)

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT
For the 17 months ended 31 December 2001

17 months ended
GBP 31 December 2001

Operating activities
Loss from operations (1,141,120)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 371,228

Amortisation of intangible assets 106,502

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,181

Operating cash flows before 

movements in working capital (658,209)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 6,422

Increase in payables 2,055,583

Cash generated by operations 1,403,796

Income taxes paid (22,894)

Interest paid (32,522)

Net cash from operating activities 1,348,380

Investing activities
Interest received 56,780

Proceeds on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 3,364

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,245,212)

Costs of intangible assets (426,009)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,611,077)

Financing activities
Proceeds on issue of ordinary share capital 659,035

Increase in debt 926,794

Net cash from financing activities 1,585,829

Net increase in cash 1,323,132

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 939,997

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT END OF PERIOD 2,263,129

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS 
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Year ended 31 December 2003
GBP

Profit after tax
Profit after tax per UK GAAP for 
year ended 31 December 2003 3,403,293

Adjustments
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 213,662
Subsequent impact on tax charge (59,825)
Provision for tax on future remittance
of overseas earnings (676,904)

Profit after tax per IFRS for 
year ended 31 December 2003 2,880,226

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity per UK GAAP as 
at 31 December 2003 5,039,696

Adjustments
2002 equity adjustments brought forward 319,349
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 213,662
Subsequent impact on tax charge (59,825)
Provision for tax on future remittance
of overseas earnings (676,904)

Shareholders’ equity per IFRS as 
at 31 December 2003 4,835,978

Year ended 31 December 2002
GBP

Profit after tax
Profit after tax per UK GAAP for 
year ended 31 December 2002 986,747

Adjustments 
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 124,033
Subsequent impact on tax charge (34,729)

Profit after tax per IFRS for 
year ended 31 December 2002 1,076,051

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity per UK GAAP as 
at 31 December 2002 1,858,757

Adjustments
2001 equity adjustments brought forward 230,045
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 124,033
Subsequent impact on tax charge (34,729)

Shareholders’ equity per IFRS as 
at 31 December 2002 2,178,106

Year ended 31 December 2001 (12 months)
GBP

Loss after tax
Loss after tax per UK GAAP for 
17 months ended 31 December 2001 (1,476,371)

Adjustments
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 319,507
Subsequent impact on tax charge (89,462)
Elimination of profit after tax for the 5 months 
ended 31 December 2000 (327,461)

Loss after tax per IFRS for 
12 months ended 31 December 2001 (1,573,787)

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity per UK GAAP as 
at 31 December 2001 (132,053)

Adjustments
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 319,507
Subsequent impact on tax charge (89,462)

Shareholders’ equity per IFRS as 
at 31 December 2001 97,992

17 months ended 31 December 2001
GBP

Loss after tax
Loss after tax per UK GAAP for 
17 months ended 31 December 2001 (1,476,371)

Adjustments
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 319,507
Subsequent impact on tax charge (89,462)

Loss after tax per IFRS for 
17 months ended 31 December 2001 (1,246,326)

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity per UK GAAP as 
at 31 December 2001 (132,053)

Adjustments
Capitalisation of costs expensed as
development expenditure under UK GAAP 319,507
Subsequent impact on tax charge (89,462)

Shareholders’ equity per IFRS as 
at 31 December 2001 97,992
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AUDITOR’S STATEMENT 

We have been appointed by Unibet Group plc to review this document. We have conducted our review
in accordance with the recommendations issued by FAR (the Swedish Institute of Authorised Public
Accountants). We have not reviewed the forward-looking information included in this document. The
information in this document derived from the accounting records has been accurately reproduced. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP and its predecessor Deloitte & Touche, have audited the annual reports for
2000/2001 (17 months), 2002 and 2003 issued under UK GAAP for which unqualified audit opinions
were issued. Furthermore Deloitte & Touche LLP has audited the adjustments made in order to arrive at
the IFRS statements for the years 2001, 2002 and 2003 included in this document. The information
derived from the above-mentioned statements has been accurately reproduced in this document. 

The interim report for the three-month period ended 31 March, 2004 has been reviewed by Deloitte &
Touche LLP. The review has been carried out in accordance with the United Kingdom Accounting Practices
Board Bulletin 1999/4 “Review of interim financial information”.

During our review of this document nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that
the information contained herein does not comply in all material respects with requirements in the Finan-
cial Instruments Trading Act. 

This statement is provided solely in accordance with practices established in Sweden in order to satisfy
the requirements of the Stockholm Stock Exchange and should not be quoted or relied upon for any other
purposes.

Stockholm 5 May 2004

Deloitte & Touche AB

Bo Magnusson
Authorised Public Accountant

AUDITOR’S STATEMENT 
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Unibet Group PLC (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company”) has commissioned Skandinaviska Enskilda
Banken AB (publ) (hereinafter referred to as “SEB”), on
behalf of depository receipt holders, to hold shares (here-
inafter referred to as the “Shares”) in the Company in a
custody account and to issue one Swedish Depository
Receipt (hereinafter referred to as the “SDR”) for each
deposited Share in accordance with these General Terms
and Conditions. The SDRs shall be registered at VPC AB,
(hereinafter referred to as “VPC”) and listed on the Stock-
holmsbörsen AB (hereinafter referred to as “Stockholms-
börsen”).

1. Deposit of Shares and registration, etc.
1.1 The Shares, represented by one or more share

certificates, are deposited on behalf of depository
receipt holders, as defined below, in a custody
account with a bank appointed by SEB which
conducts business in the U.K. (the “Sub-Custodian”).
The Sub-Custodian is the registered owner of the
Shares in its custody as evidenced by the entry of
the Sub-Custodian’s name in the Company’s register
of shareholders. These General Terms and Condi-
tions shall govern the deposit of Shares and the
issuance of SDRs. “Depository Receipt Holder” as
set forth in these General Terms and Conditions
means an owner of SDRs or his nominee. 

1.2 For each deposited Share, SEB shall issue one SDR.
SEB will not accept deposits of fractions of Shares
or of any other fractional rights.

1.3 SEB and the Sub-Custodian may refuse to accept
Shares for deposit under these general Terms and
Conditions whenever notified that the Company has
restricted transfer of such Shares to comply with any
ownership or transfer restrictions under Swedish,
English or any applicable law.

1.4 The SDRs shall be registered in a Swedish CSD
register maintained by VPC AB (hereinafter referred
to as the “VPC Register”) in accordance with the
Financial Instruments Accounts Act (SFS
1998:1479). Thus, physical securities representing
the SDRs will not be issued. 

2. Deposit and withdrawal of Shares
2.1 Upon payment of all taxes, fees and costs payable in

connection with a deposit of Shares, Shares may be
deposited under these General Terms and Condi-
tions by delivery to SEB or the Sub-Custodian
together with appropriate instructions to SEB as to
the shareholder’s name, address and VPC Account
number in which the SDRs are to be registered as
well as any other information and documentation
required under Swedish, English or any other appli-
cable law. 

Applicable stamp duty will be paid in sterling on the
value of Shares being deposited at the applicable
time.

2.2 Upon payment of all taxes, fees and costs payable in
connection with a withdrawal of Shares, Shares may
be withdrawn from the safe custody only if such
withdrawal is not prohibited under Swedish, English
or any other applicable law or by a decision of a
governmental authority. Shares will be delivered to a
custody account designated by the Depository
Receipt Holder or as agreed between the Depository
Receipt Holder and SEB provided the corresponding
SDRs have been surrendered to and cancelled by
SEB in the VPC Register.

2.3 Deposit and withdrawal of Shares pursuant to this
Section 2 may only be made via SEB in Sweden.

2.4 Deposit and withdrawal of Shares pursuant to this
Section 2, is not allowed during a ten day period
from the Record Date of a shareholders’ meeting to
the date of the shareholders’ meeting. 

2.5 SEB is entitled to compensation from a Depository
Receipt Holder for all fees and costs in connection
with deposit and withdrawal pursuant to this Section
2, in accordance with the price list applied by SEB
from time to time.

3. Transfer and pledging, etc.
3.1 Deposited Shares may only be transferred or

pledged through a transfer or pledge of SDRs. With
respect to transfers and pledges of SDRs, the provi-
sions set forth in Chapter 6 of the Financial Instru-
ments Accounts Act shall apply. 

APPENDIX: GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS SWEDISH
DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS IN UNIBET GROUP PLC
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4. Listing of SDRs on exchanges
4.1 The SDRs are listed on the O-list of the Stock-

holmsbörsen. In case the SDRs are de-listed from
the Stockholmsbörsen, the Company shall as soon
as possible inform SEB and the Depository Receipt
Holders in accordance with the provisions of Section
12 below. 

5. Record Date
5.1 SEB shall, in consultation with the Company, decide

upon the date (“Record Date”) which shall be applied
by SEB for the determination of those Depository
Receipt Holders who are entitled to receive cash
dividends or other property, to participate and vote at
shareholders meetings, to receive Shares in connec-
tion with bonus issues, and to otherwise exercise
those rights which normally accrue to shareholders
in the Company. It is the Company’s and SEB’s
intention, where practically feasible, that the Record
Date in Sweden for dividends and other rights in
accordance with the above shall correspond to the
record date in the U.K. 

6. Dividends and taxes, etc.
6.1 The payment of dividends shall take place in

Swedish kronor (“SEK”) to those persons who, on
the Record Date, are registered in theVPC Register
as Depository Receipt Holders or rights holders in
respect of dividends. 

6.2 In conjunction with every distribution, SEB shall, in
consultation with the Company, determine the date
of the payment of dividends (“Payment Date”). Pay-
ment of dividends to Depository Receipt Holders or
holders of other rights to the dividend, shall take
place on the Payment Date through VPC and in
accordance with the rules and regulations applied by
VPC from time to time. 

6.3 SEB shall convert dividends in foreign currency into
SEK in accordance with the exchange rates applied
by SEB from time to time, which shall be set in
accordance with public market rates, prior to
payment taking place. The conversion of foreign
currency into SEK shall take place 3 banking days
before the Payment Date. The dividend amount
distributed per SDR will be rounded down to the
nearest whole öre. 

6.4 The payment of dividends to Depository Receipt
Holders shall be made without any deduction of any
costs, fees, or equivalents thereto which are related
to the Company, SEB, the Sub-Custodian or any of
their respective agents. However, deductions shall
be made for Swedish preliminary income tax, with-
holding tax or other taxes which are to be withheld
pursuant to Swedish law or agreements with foreign
tax authorities as well as for any taxes which may be
imposed pursuant to Swedish, English or applicable
provisions of another country.

6.5 In conjunction with payment of dividends to Deposi-
tory Receipt Holders, the Company, SEB, VPC, the
Sub-Custodian or any other party shall withhold and
pay to the tax authorities in the U.K. any required tax
amount, should there be any such taxes imposed.
In the event the Company, SEB, VPC or the Sub-
Custodian or representatives or agents of the fore-
going determine that dividends in cash, shares,
rights, or other property are subject to taxation or
other public fees which must be withheld, the Com-
pany, SEB or representatives or agents of any of the
foregoing shall be entitled to withhold cash amounts
or sell all or part of the property as is financially and
practically necessary to sell in order to be able to pay
those taxes and fees. The remaining proceeds,
following deduction of taxes and fees, shall be paid
by SEB to the Depository Receipt Holders who are
entitled thereto. Depository Receipt Holders shall be
liable for deficiencies which may arise in conjunction
with sale pursuant to the above.

6.6 SEB shall attempt to provide the Depository Receipt
Holders with any information SEB has in its posses-
sion and which the Depository Receipt Holders
might reasonably request in order to enjoy such
benefits as are granted pursuant to the applicable
double taxation treaty. SEB shall upon request
inform any recipient resident in Sweden of any U.K.
tax credit to which the recipient may be entitled and
of any U.K. withholding tax. 

According to present U.K. law and the Tax Treaty
between Sweden and the U.K., a Swedish recipient
of the dividend is entitled to U.K. tax credit with an
amount equal to one ninth of the dividend. U.K. with-
holding tax is however usually levied with the same
amount and no actual payments of the tax credit are
made. For a Swedish recipient is the tax credit to be
considered a taxable dividend. The dividend will be

APPENDIX: GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS SWEDISH
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reported to the Depositary Receipt Holder and the
Swedish tax authorities with a sum including the tax
credit and stating the U.K. withholding tax.

6.7 SEB shall, in consultation with the Company, deter-
mine the manner in which dividends in property other
than cash shall be provided to the Depository
Receipt Holders. This may entail that the property is
sold and that funds from the sale following deduc-
tion for sales costs and taxes shall be paid to the
Depository Receipt Holders, as described in 6.5
above. 

6.8 SEB and the Company shall be deemed to have
fulfilled their respective obligations notwithstanding
that a person who is paid dividends to was not an
authorised recipient. The aforementioned shall not,
however, apply where SEB or the Company was
aware that the dividend was paid to a person who
was not authorised to receive the dividend or where
SEB or the Company failed to exercise normal or
reasonable care which, in consideration of the cir-
cumstances, should have been exercised, or where
payment cannot be claimed as a result of the recipi-
ent being a minor or due to the fact that a guardian
had been appointed for the recipient pursuant to the
Code on Parents, Guardians and Children and such
guardianship included the receipt of dividends. 

7. Bonus issues, splits, or reverse splits of Shares
7.1 SEB shall, as soon as possible, accept receipt of

Shares through its registered Sub-Custodian in con-
junction with bonus issues and issue corresponding
number of SDRs to Depository Receipts Holders so
entitled and shall carry out any adjustments to the
SDRs to reflect, pro rata, any splits or reverse splits
of Shares through taking necessary registration
measures on VPC Accounts belonging to the
Depository Receipt Holders to ensure that they
receive the benefit of all such entitlements. 

7.2 Persons who, on the Record Date, are registered in
the VPC Register as Depository Receipt Holders or
rights holders with respect to the measure in ques-
tion shall be entitled to participate in the bonus
issue, split, and reverse split. Where such persons
are not authorised recipients, the provisions set forth
in section 6.8 shall apply in a corresponding manner. 

7.3 Applicable taxes shall be addressed in the manner
set forth in section 6. 

8. New issues, etc.
8.1 Where the Company resolves to issue new Shares,

debentures, or other rights to which the Company’s
shareholders generally have pre-emptive rights, SEB
shall in accordance with section 12 based on the
information received from the Company provide
notice to the Depository Receipt Holders of the
material terms and conditions governing the new
issue. The Company is to prepare such documenta-
tion and shall send it to SEB who shall in turn
despatch all such documentation to the Depository
Receipts Holders. The aforementioned shall apply to
other offers, which the Company directs to the
shareholders. Application forms shall be appended
to the information whereon the Depository Receipt
Holders can instruct SEB to subscribe for Shares,
debentures, or other rights on behalf of the Deposi-
tory Receipt Holder. Where, in accordance with the
instructions of the Depository Receipt Holder, SEB
subscribes for and allocates such Shares, deben-
tures, or rights, equivalent registration on the respec-
tive Depository Receipt Holder’s VPC Account shall
take place as soon as possible following the issue. 

8.2 Where a Depository Receipt Holder does not
instruct SEB to exercise any of the rights set forth
above and such rights are possible to sell, SEB shall
be entitled to sell such rights on behalf of the
Depository Receipt Holder and to pay the proceeds
to the Depository Receipt Holder following deduc-
tion for costs and any fees and taxes. 

9. Fractional rights
9.1 Where, in accordance with sections 6–8, a Deposi-

tory Receipt Holder is entitled to a fraction of a
Share or any other fractional rights which do not
entitle the Depository Receipt Holder to a whole
number of Shares, SEB and the Company may enter
into an agreement to the effect that SEB shall sell
such excess Shares or fractional rights, etc., and pay
the proceeds of such sale to the Depository Receipt
Holder following deduction for costs and any fees
and taxes. 

10. Participation at shareholders’ meetings, etc.
10.1 The Company shall at the latest four (4) weeks

before and not earlier than six (6) weeks prior to the
shareholders’ meeting inform SEB of the sharehold-
ers’ meeting. As soon as practicable thereafter the
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Company shall notify the Depository Receipts Hold-
ers of the shareholders’ meeting. Such notification
shall be issued through a press release published in
at least one Swedish national daily newspaper. The
notification shall include i) the contents set forth in
the notice from the Company of the shareholders’
meeting as prescribed by applicable law, ii) the
Record Date for the Depository Receipts Holders
determined in accordance with section 5, and iii)
instructions regarding any measures to be taken by
the Depository Receipt Holder in order to be able to
vote at the shareholders meeting by attending the
meeting in person or to authorise a person to attend
and vote for him. Only Depository Receipt Holders
registered in the VPC Register ten (10) calendar
days before the shareholders’ meeting and who
have, no later than 5 calendar days before the meet-
ing, notified SEB or its representative that they shall
attend and vote at the meeting, are entitled to attend
the meeting either in person or by an authorised
attorney. The Sub-Custodian, as registered owner of
the Shares, shall appoint as proxies, all those Depos-
itory Receipt Holders who have notified SEB or its
representative of their intention to attend and partic-
ipate at the shareholders’ meeting. Such proxies
shall be presented to the Company together with a
list of the Depository Receipt Holders for whom
proxies have been issued. 

10.2 SEB undertakes not to represent Shares for which
the Depository Receipt Holder has not notified its
intention to participate at the shareholders’ meeting
either in person or by proxy.

11. Information
11.1 SEB shall, on the instructions of the Company send

the information which SEB has obtained from the
Company to the Depository Receipt Holders in the
manner set forth in section 12, or a summary of the
information if the Company deems it sufficient or
appropriate in each individual case. As a general rule,
the information shall be presented in English unless
the Company deems that, in each individual case, a
translation of a document into Swedish to be appro-
priate with regard to the contents or the purpose of
the document. The English version of the information
shall govern. 

11.2 The Company shall, on request from a Depository
Receipt Holder, ensure that the Company’s annual
report is sent to the Depository Receipt Holders. The
Company shall also publish stock market information
in accordance with the requirements for listing on
the Stockholmsbörsen.

11.3 Information regarding the Company is available on
the Company’s website, www.unibet.com

12. Notices
12.1 SEB shall ensure that notices to Depository Receipt

Holders pursuant to these General Terms and Con-
ditions are provided to the Depository Receipt Hold-
ers and other rights holders who are registered in
the VPC Register as entitled to receive notices in
accordance with the Financial Instruments Accounts
Act. 

12.2 Written notices shall be sent by mail to authorised
persons in accordance with section 12.1 to the
address listed in the VPC Register. SEB may, in lieu
of mailing notices, publish the notice in at least one
national Swedish daily newspaper.

13. Fees and costs
13.1 SEB’s costs and fees for administration of the

Shares shall be borne by the Company unless other-
wise set forth in these General Terms and Condi-
tions. 

14. Replacement of custodian bank
14.1 In the event the Company decides to retain another

securities institution as custodian bank in lieu of
SEB, SEB shall transfer all of SEB’s rights and obli-
gations vis-à-vis the Depository Receipt Holders
pursuant to these General Terms and Conditions and
deliver the Shares to the new custodian bank. The
identity of any replacement of a custodian bank
must be submitted by the Company to VPC for
approval and such replacement shall be carried out
not earlier than three (3) months following the time
at which notification regarding the replacement
of the custodian bank is sent in accordance with
section 12. 
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15. Amendments to these General Terms and Condi-
tions

15.1 SEB shall be entitled to amend these General Terms
and Conditions where such amendment is necessary
in order for the General Terms and Conditions to
comply with Swedish, English or other applicable law,
decisions by governmental authorities or amend-
ments to VPC’s or Stockholmsbörsen’s rules and
regulations. SEB and the Company are entitled to
jointly agree to amend these General Terms and
Conditions where, for other reasons, it is deemed
appropriate or necessary, provided in all cases that
the Depository Receipt Holders’ rights are in no way
materially prejudiced. SEB shall notify the Deposi-
tory Receipt Holders regarding decisions to amend
in the manner set forth in section 12. 

16. Information regarding Depository Receipt Holders
16.1 SEB retains the right to request information from

VPC regarding the Depository Receipt Holders and
to submit such information to the Company. 

16.2 SEB and the Company are entitled to provide infor-
mation regarding the Depository Receipt Holders
and their holdings to such parties who perform
share registration duties or to governmental author-
ities, provided that the obligation to submit such
information is prescribed by Swedish or foreign law
or agreement with governmental authorities. The
Depository Receipt Holders are obligated, following
demand, to submit such information to SEB. 

16.3 SEB and the Company shall be entitled to provide
information regarding the Depository Receipt Hold-
ers and their holdings to governmental authorities in
connection with repayment or refunding of paid
taxes or when subject to any tax audit to the extent
such is necessary.

16.4 SEB and the Company are entitled to provide and
publish information regarding the Depository
Receipt Holders to the extent required by the Stock-
holmsbörsen. 

17. Limitation of liability
17.1 Neither SEB, the Sub-Custodian nor the Company

shall be liable for damage which is due to Swedish
or foreign legislation, the actions of Swedish or
foreign public authorities, acts of war, strikes, block-
ades, boycotts, lockouts, or other similar circum-
stances. The reservation with respect to strikes,

blockades, boycotts, and lockouts shall apply
notwithstanding that SEB, the Sub-Custodian or
the Company itself adopts, or is an object of, such
measures. 

17.2 In other cases than as set forth in section 17.1, SEB,
the Sub-Custodian or the Company shall not be
liable to compensate damage where SEB, the Sub-
Custodian or the Company has acted with normal
care. SEB, the Sub-Custodian or the Company shall
not be liable for indirect damage. 

17.3 Where SEB, the Sub-Custodian or the Company is
prevented from effecting payment or other meas-
ures due to circumstances as set forth in section
17.1, such measure may be postponed until the
impediment ceases. 

18. Termination, etc.
18.1 SEB is entitled to terminate the deposit of Shares by

notice to a Depository Receipt Holder pursuant to
section 12 where:
i) the Company adopts a resolution according to

which the Shares in the Company shall no longer
be represented by SDRs governed by these Gen-
eral Terms and Conditions;

ii) the Company adopts a resolution to de-list SDRs
from the Stockholmsbörsen;

iii) VPC terminates the Agreement regarding regis-
tration of Swedish depository receipts;

iv) the Company applies for reorganisation, bank-
ruptcy, liquidation, or other similar procedure, or
where such a procedure commences upon appli-
cation by third parties; or

v) the Company materially breaches its obligations
vis-à-vis SEB.

18.2 In a case of termination according to section 18.1 i)
or ii), the listing of the SDRs on Stockholmsbörsen
shall cease at the earliest three (3) months after the
day of the notice of termination was sent, provided
the SDRs have not been delisted prior thereto on the
initiative by the Stockholmsbörsen.

18.3 In the event that SEB terminates the deposits in
accordance with section 18.1, these General Terms
and Conditions shall continue to apply to the date
decided by SEB, in consultation with the Company if
practically possible. Such notice of termination shall
be sent by mail to the Depository Receipt Holders
entitled to receive notices in accordance with sec-
tion 12.1 to the addresses listed in the VPC Register.
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18.4 In cases other than those set forth in section 18.1,
SEB is entitled to terminate the deposits of Shares
through notification to the Depository Receipt Hold-
ers, which notice shall take effect on the date
agreed between SEB and the Company and which is
informed in the notice of termination.

18.5 In the notice of termination, SEB shall set forth the
Record Date upon which SEB shall de-register all
the SDRs in the VPC Register and transfer the
Shares to a custodian account as instructed by the
Depository Receipt Holder or as otherwise agreed
with the Depository Receipt Holder. In the event the
Depository Receipt Holder has not designated a
custodian account or where an agreement has
otherwise not been reached, SEB is entitled to sell
the underlying Shares. The Depository Receipt

Holder shall be entitled to the proceeds of the sale
following deduction for fees, taxes and reasonable
costs. The amount shall be paid to the cash account
linked to respective VPC Account of the Depository
Receipt Holder concerned or in the absence of such
cash account, in the form of a payment notice. No
interest shall accrue on the amount.

19. Applicable law, etc.
19.1 These General Terms and Conditions shall be inter-

preted and applied in accordance with Swedish law. 
19.2 Disputes regarding these General Terms and Condi-

tions or related to the legal relationships shall be
adjudicated by a court of general jurisdiction and the
action shall be brought before the Stockholm District
Court (Stockholms tingsrätt), Sweden.
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ADDRESSES

UNIBET GROUP PLC 
165 The Broadway, 5th floor 
Wimbledon
London SW19 1NE
UK
Phone: +44 20 8545 2300
Fax: +44 20 8545 2399

UNIBET (INTERNATIONAL) LTD
The Plaza Complex 
Bisazza Street
Sliema SLM 15
Malta
Phone: +356 2133 3532
Fax: +356 2133 3577

UNIBET SOFTWARE R&D AB
Barnhusgatan 20, 5tr
111 23 Stockholm
Sweden
Phone: +46 8 544 164 90
Fax: +46 8 545 164 99
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